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PART 1

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Interest income:

LLOAINS ettt et et ettt et e et e st eae et e eae e e eaean $ 539 $§ 483 $ 1,555 §$ 1,418
SECUTTLIES ...ttt et ettt ettt et e e testesae st e beseensenseseeneeseeseeseeseesessessesesesenean 234 182 657 583
TTAAING SECUTTEICS . ..euveeueieieeieeiesee ettt e et ete et e e te et e s st eneesneenaesneenseeneeeeas 75 63 261 176
Short-term INVESLMENLS ....c.ceviuiiiriiriiriertinenertet ettt ettt st 30 22 78 58
OtRCT . ettt ettt sttt 15 9 44 31
TOotal INTEFeSt INCOME. .........................ccceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et saaee e 893 759 2,595 2,266
Interest expense:
DIEPOSIES ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et h et ettt ettt et e et sae et eneenbeeneenean 77 37 177 108
Short-term DOTTOWINES .....c.eeveiiiriiriirieitinene sttt s 13 11 35 27
LoNg-term deDt.....cccveeeieiieiieiieiee e et 184 165 524 487
(07311 RSSO SUPRS 2 3 10 91)
TOtal INLEFeSt EXPENSe. .................ccveeeeereeeeeerereeeeseeeesseetesseesseseessesseessesseessesseesaeses 276 216 746 531
INEE INLETEST INCOIMNE ...vvveeeiieiieieee ettt eeeet e e eete e e e e e aaaeeeeeesaaeeeeeesenaaaeeessennsereeeeeanns 617 543 1,849 1,735
Provision fOr Credit IoSSES ... ..covuieiirieiiiee e 47 23 94 124
Net interest income after provision for credit [0SSes...................ccccovveeeeecvevieeecnnann. 570 520 1,755 1,611
Other revenues:
Credit Card fEES .....euveuieieiieiieieeeet ettt 11 13 32 40
Trust and investment management fEeS ........ceccvervirieriiecieneeieeeee e 46 35 127 98
Other fees and COMMUISSIONS .....cccueeieririierieiertieieetiee ettt 188 186 560 541
Trading reVenUE (EXPEINSE) ... .eeueerueeueereeeierueereesieeteeteenteeneesteeeesseeneesneesaesneesseseensens 34 9 23 139
Net other-than-temporary impairment 10sses"...............cocoviiveereeeeeeeereeeeeseen — @) — 1D
Other SCCUTItIES ZAINS, NEL ...c..ieueeereierieeieeteieeieeie et et eee e e e seeeee st esaesneessesnaesens 11 27 69 42
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates..........cccccevireierincienieceeieeeiene 53 53 162 151
Residential mortgage banking reVenue .........c.eccvevveeeeriieienieeieeeeeeeeesieseesreeeeneas 16 17 50 87
Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives..................... 165 36 306 20
OthET INCOMIE ...ttt ettt et et ee et e saeeae e e sbeeneeneeas 75 32 69 40
TOtal OtREr FEVERUES......................c..ooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et 531 386 1,398 1,147
Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee DENEfits ........cccveveriieciieieriieieie e 254 226 767 664
Support services from HSBC affiliates ........c.cceevvieieriiicieniiieniecieseeieeeeeeeenens 361 388 1,098 1,127
OCCUPANCY EXPEINSE, NET...ueeeutiiieniieiientieienteetesttete et et euee bt eate et eneesaeesaesaeenaesaeenseas 57 59 172 168
OLhET EXPEIISES -..veeeenrieuiietieieette st ete st ete et e e st et ete et e ese e teemtesseeneesaeenaesneensesneeneeas 114 261 376 601
Total OPErating eXPENSES................c..occeeeceeecieeacrieeieeieeseeecteesaeesaeesteesaeesseessseensaesanas 786 934 2,413 2,560
Income (10sS) befOre INCOME tAX.....cciervereieieriieieeieie ettt esaeseeessessaeneas 315 (28) 740 198
Income tax expense (DENETit)........ccvvieriiiieriiiieiiiiee e 111 (29) 285 (86)
INEEIHCOME...............oeeeeeeeieeeeeee ettt e s s s b seebeneeee $ 204 § 1 $§ 455 $§ 284

™ During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, there were no other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") losses on securities recognized in

other revenues and no OTTI losses in the non-credit component of securities recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI"), net
oftax. During the three and nine months ended September 30,2014, OTTI losses on securities held-to-maturity totaling $4 million and $11 million, respectively,
were recognized in other revenues. There were no OTTI losses in the non-credit component of such impaired securities recognized in AOCI, net of tax.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
INEEIICOME.................ocoeeeveeereeeeieeeeeeeeeee ettt a ettt reane $ 204 § 1 $§ 455 § 284
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax:

INVESTMENT SECUITEIES ..uveevvirieeriereeieeeteeie et ete et e ste e steeteesteessesteessesreessesreesseeseennas 5 (87) (236) 218

Other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity....................... — 6 — 9

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges.........coccevieiiieiiiieiieee 32) 5) (20) (40)

Pension and post-retirement benefit plans...........ccoecevveeierieneiienesieeeee — — 1 —
Total other comprehensive income (10Ss)..................coceeeeeeeeeeceeniecieieieeeense e 27 (86) (255) 187
Comprehensive iNCOME (10SS) ................c..ccooeueeeeeieceiiieieieeeee e $§ 177 § (85 200 $§ 471

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

September 30, December 31,
15 2014

(in millions, except share data)

Assets™
Cash and due frOM DANKS .........ciiuiiiiiiieie ettt ettt ettt s et be st s et e enenas $ 914 $ 891
Interest bearing deposits With DANKS ..........cc.coiiiiiiiriiiiiee ettt 22,300 30,807
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell ... 20,423 1,413
TTAINZ ASSELS ...ttt ettt sttt b bt b e sttt e b e b e s b e s b e e bt eb e e bt es b e st et et et e be e bt e bt ebeestentenbenbenaentenae et 15,652 21,092
Securities aVAIlabIE-TOI-SALE .........ccouiiiiiiiiiie ettt et e e et e e e e e e saaeesraeesaeeesnaeesnaeesnnes 35,937 30,140
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $14.8 billion and $13.7 billion at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, 1€SPECLIVELY ) ...eviruieiieieieiestertecteet ettt ettt st st eb ettt et e besbesaeenes 14,479 13,469
| oz 4 TSR PRRTN 84,942 77,741
Less — allowance fOr Credit LOSSES .........eouiuirieiriiiinieirieieiente sttt ettt sttt ettt st st ebe e 678 680
| oz 4 T s =1 SRRSO 84,264 77,061
Loans held for sale (includes $175 million and $384 million designated under fair value option at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, 1€SPECIVELY) ..c.vervirieriiriiriieiieieieieietceieet et 368 612
Properties and eqUIPIMENE, NET ........ccceiriiiriiiierieieteteeet ettt ettt ettt ettt se et sttt sa et eaenee 232 247
INLANGIDIE ASSELS, TICT.....euiuietietieiieiietetete ettt ettt et e e et e st e st e e te e bt eseestestestensensesbeebeeseeseeneansensensensensessessenn 172 206
GOOAWIIL....eiieeeceee ettt ettt ettt e et e bt e e te e be e beeabeesseeabeesseeaseaseesssesseesssenseenseenseensesssassnesseans 1,612 1,612
Other assets 8,013 7,989
Total assets $ 204,366 $ 185,539
Liabilities"”
Debt:
Domestic deposits:
INONINEETESE DEATINEG. .....vievieiieiieieiesie ettt ettt et et et et e s testesseeseeseesaessessensessesseeseeseeseassensensensansensessesseen $ 33,956 $ 29,715
Interest bearing (includes $6.5 billion and $7.3 billion designated under fair value option at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, reSPECtiVELY) ......vveverveveieeeereeceeieceeecee e 79,503 71,191
Foreign deposits:
NONINEETEST DEATINE. ...c..eeutentinieteiteeteettet ettt ettt ettt ettt e ettt s bt bt bt e st et e be st e s beebeebeeaeeasessensententeneeee 747 850
INEETEST DEATINE ..ottt bbb bbbt e st et et sb e e b e e bt ebe et e st et enbenbenbeenes 17,244 14,362
TOLAL AEPOSIES .ttt h bttt ettt sttt e s bt beebe e st e st et et e e b e e b e e bt e bt ent et et e benbenbe e 131,450 116,118
Short-term borrowings (includes $2.1 billion designated under fair value option at September 30, 2015). 8,948 12,795
Long-term debt (includes $8.6 billion and $8.8 billion designated under fair value option at September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, TESPECIVELY) .......curvvrereereieeecereeeeeeeeeeetesseeeesesressesese s sese s sesenenens 33,018 27,524
TOAL AEDL ..ot 173,416 156,437
TTAdING HADIIIEIES. .....veveveetietieiieietetet ettt e et et e et e e teeseeseesaestensensensesseeseeseeseeseessensensansensensessennn 6,336 8,164
Interest, taxes and Other HHADIIILIES .........c..cooviiiiiiiee ettt eae e e eeaeeeeraeeeteeenaeeeeneee e 3,794 3,971
TOtal LADIIILIES....................c.ococeiiiiiiiiciie ettt 183,546 168,572
Shareholders' equity
PIEfEITEA STOCK . .....cuvviieeieceeee ettt e e et e et e e et e et e eeae e eesaeeeaaeeeaeeeeaeeeensesenaeeseseeeensesenaeeeeneeeens 1,265 1,565

Common shareholders' equity:
Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 714 and 713 shares issued and outstanding at

September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, reSPECIVELY)..c..evuiruiririiieiiierenereneeeeeee e — —
Additional Paid-in CAPILAL.......eeiiiiiiiiieer ettt bbbttt 18,173 14,170
REtAINEA CATTINES ..c..eveieeiieiieietetete ettt ettt sttt b e bt e s et e b et e s b e e bt e bt ebe e st et et enbesbenbenee 1,638 1,233
Accumulated other COMPIENENSIVE 10SS....c..eiuiriiiiiiiiiieieieeee et (256) (1)

Total common SharehOlders' EQUILY.......co.erireririririeiee ettt ettt ettt st 19,555 15,402

Total Shareholders’ EqUILY....................ccooouecueeieeciieieeieete et et e st e st e s e et e steesseesaeesseassesssesseesssesseesseeseesseesaanes 20,820 16,967

Total liabilities and Shareholders’ eqUIty.....................c.ccoevueeceeeieeeeeseeiieseeee e eee e saestesaesraessaesseesseenseanes $ 204,366 $ 185,539
m

The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs") as of September 30,2015 and December 31,
2014 which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consolidation. See Note 16, "Variable
Interest Entities," for additional information.
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September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)

Assets

OHET @SSELS ...veuvieteeuieiteetiete et ett et et et et e s te et e sseeseesbeeseeseessesseessasesseessasseessensasseessansesseessensanssensesseessensesseesnan $ 338§ 380

TOAL @SSEES ...ttt $ 338 $ 380
Liabilities

LONEACITI AEDE.... ettt ettt $ 92 3 92

Interest, taxes and Other LHADIIHES .......c.coveueiiirieiiirieie ettt 69 75

Total liabilities $ 161 § 167

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

(in millions)

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning of period $ 1,565 § 1,565
Preferred StOCK TEACMPLION. ......c.eciiieieieieiee ettt ettt et st e e e te e et esaessesessesseeseeseensensensensansansensenes (300) —
Balance at end OF PETIOQ .......ocuieieeieieieieieteste ettt et stesteetaeteesa e s e s e sesessesseeseeseessessessensansansensenes 1,265 1,565
Common stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PETIOd ........coveiiiiriiiriiieeeeese et — —
Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning Of PETIOU.......ceueeuieieieieiiieseeteet ettt ettt ettt e et et s b e s bt eaeeseeneensenbenaensensens 14,170 14,106
Capital cONtribUtION fTOM PATEINL .......ceeieieieierieiteeeeteteie ettt ete e e e e e et eaessessessesseeseeseeneessensensensansensenes 4,000 —
EMPIOYEE DENCTIL PLANS .....ovvitieeieiieiieieiei ettt ettt et e b e teetesseesaessessensessessesseeseeseeseessessensansansensanen 3 3
Balance at €nd Of PETIO .......coueuiiuiieiiiee ettt ettt n et 18,173 14,109
Retained earnings

Balance at beginning Of PETIOA.......evueeuirieiiieieieeeet ettt ettt ettt b e s b bt st e bt e st e e e ntenaenbenbens 1,233 952
INEE IIICOIMIC. ...ttt ettt h bbbttt et etk s st ettt e bt sa et et et ebese et et e e enenaene 455 284
Cash dividends declared on preferred stock ... (50) (55)
Balance at end Of PETIOQ .......ecuivieiieieieieieeest ettt ettt ettt teeteesa et esse s e sessesseeseeseeseessessensensansensaen 1,638 1,181
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)

Balance at beginning of period..............c.c...c.... 1) (159)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (255) 187
Balance at €nd OF PEIIOQ .....c..ovuiiiiiiiiieieie ettt sttt ettt et et et et e b e b e bttt ne e st e st etenaenbennens (256) 28
Total common ShareROIAers’ eqUILY ......................ccoceveveeeeieieieieeese ettt ettt et saessesaesse et eneensensesesseeaes 19,555 15,318
Total Shareholders’ eqUILy......................c.ccoccueeecieriesiesieieeetete et e stesteete e e teesa et ess et essessesseeseeseessensensensensensas $ 20,820 $ 16,883

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

(in millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
INCE ITICOIMIC. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e bt e bt ekt e st e st eatesten s et esseebeeseeseeneentensensensanbeebeebeeseereentensentensensensesseeneanean $ 455 $ 284
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and aMOTTIZALION ..........ceeeeeeieierterieriesteseeeeeetetestessessesseesessassaessessessessessessessesssessessessessessessensessenses 122 87

ProVISION fOI CTEAIE LOSSES ......vviuietiieiieteieteet ettt ettt et s bt s et e et et s et e st et e e eb e st ene et e e esesteneeteneeneanan 94 124

Other-than-temporary impairment related to securities held-to-maturity..........c.cccevevenenineninieneeecccee, — 11

Net realized gains on securities available-for-sale...........ccoviririiiiiiiiieeeeeee e (69) (42)

Net change in other assets and HADIIITIES .......ccevueririeieieieiee ettt ettt e sbesbesbeseeseeene (463) 338

Net change in loans held for sale:

Originations and purchases of 10ans held fOr SAlE .........c.couiviiriiriniiiiieeeeeeee e (1,823) (1,040)
Sales and collections 0f 10aNS NEld FOI SALE .........ooiuiiiiiiiieii et e eesaaeesnaeeens 1,974 1,004

Net change in trading assets and HADIIHES ..........ooueririririnieieeeeeeee ettt 3,612 5,097

Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for sale...........ccceoerineninenininieeece 15 2)

Loss (gain) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives..............ccoooviiiiiiiiiiiine, 306) (20)
Net cash provided by OPErating aCtIVITIES ........eververererieieieriesiestestesteeeeeeeesaesessessessessesseeseeseeseessassessessessessessessassenns 3,611 5,841
Cash flows from investing activities
Net change in interest bearing deposits With DanKS.........coceeiiviiiiiiiiininicee e 8,507 (6,765)
Net change in federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell..........ceceevievierienenenenencncenen. (19,010) 1,023
Securities available-for-sale:

Purchases of securities available-fOr-SAlE ..........c...ooviiiiiiiiieiciee ettt ete e et e e e eaeeeeaeeeennens (17,435) (11,775)

Proceeds from sales of securities available-fOr-Sale ..........ccoivuiiiiiiiiiiicie et 9,882 23,600

Proceeds from maturities of securities available-fOr-Sale ...........coouiiviiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee e 1,596 3,037
Securities held-to-maturity:

Purchases of securities held-t0-MATUIILY ........ccceoueriiriiririeieeeeeeee ettt eb ettt ettt stesaesaeseeene (2,890) —

Proceeds from maturities of securities held-to-maturity 1,856 305
Change in loans:

Originations, NEt OF COLIECLIONS .....cc.ivieiieieiieieieieresie sttt ettt e e teete e e e b ebessesaessesseeseeseessessensansensenseesenses (7,229) (6,707)

L0ans SOIA t0 thilrd PATTIES ......coueueeueieeiiteieteet ettt ettt ettt s et et e b be st et et e b e st ene e s e e esesteneseeneeneanan — 790
Net cash used for acquisitions of properties and EqUIPMENL ........c..ccereririririeierieierereese ettt sieene 29) (23)
OBRET, N ...ttt e e e et e e e et e e e teeeeteeeeateeeeteeeeaseeeaseeeseeeeaseeenteeeteeeanaeeenteeeteeeatteeeteeentaeeennens (384) 34
Net cash provided by (used in) INVEStING ACTIVITIES ......eveuerueieuirieiriiieienietrte sttt ettt sttt st enene (25,136) 3,519
Cash flows from financing activities
NEt CHANGE TN AEPOSIES ...vevveeritietietieietetetetet et e st ettt et estestesteste b e seesesseesessaessessessesseseseseeseassaseassassensensesensessessansanns 15,358 (4,048)
Debt:

Net change in ShOTt-TETM DOTTOWINZS ...c..coueeuteuieieietit ettt ettt sttt et ettt s besb e e bt e bt et e st esbesbesbesbesbene 3,851) (7,271)

IsSUANCe OF LONG-LEITN AEDL.......c..iiiiiiiiiiieiieee ettt ettt ettt be ettt e e e b e besbeebeens 15,775 4,984

Repayment of 10NG-term deDt.........ocuiiuiiiiiiieieeee ettt sttt ettt ettt st st sreene e (9,387) (2,921)
Preferred stock redemption............ (300) —
Capital contribution from parent 4,000 —
Other increases (decreases) in Capital SUIPIUS ....c.ovveieuiiieiieetite ettt ettt ne e ae s nean 3 3
DIVIAENAS PAIA......eententetetet et b bt a e h e ea et e st e st s bt s bt e bt e bt e st et et e e b e e bt e bt eb e ebees b et et e ntesbenbenaeene (50) (55)
Net cash provided by (used in) fINANCING ACIVILIES ....cveeuieuiiuieieieierieste sttt ettt ettt ettt sae b bbb s 21,548 (9,308)
Net change in cash and due from DanKS ............ccoouiriiiiiiiieeeee ettt ettt ettt be e eaeenean 23 52
Cash and due from banks at beginning Of PETIOQ.........cceeiruieieiiriieieieere ettt ettt seessesresresseens 891 961
Cash and due from banks at end of PEFiod..........................coceeeeeuecieriisiieieieeeteeee ettt sessessesseeseens $ 914 $§ 1,013

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, is a New York State based bank holding company and
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America"), which is an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements of HSBC USA and its subsidiaries (collectively "HUSI") have been prepared
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial
information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, as well as in accordance with predominant
practices within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring
adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim
periods have been made. HUSI may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financial statements as "we", "us" or
"our". These unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31,2014 (the "2014 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts
to conform to the current period presentation.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered
indicative of results in future periods.
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2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

September 30,
2015

December 31,

2014

Trading assets:

LS. TT@ASUIY .uvveeutieeiteeiteeiteeitee ettt eteesteeateeseteeteestteesseenseesaseenseesnseessesnseensaeansaenseesnseenseeseseenseesnsenn
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed .............ceevereerieieniieienieieeeeeeeiee e enees

()

U.S. Government SpONSOTed ENLETPIISES' .....ccveeverreeruereieruerrersesressessaessessesseesesseessesseensesssessesees
Obligations of U.S. states and political SUDAIVISIONS.........cccevvieieriieienrieienieeee e ereseeaeseeseeeeens
ASSEt DACKE SECUITLIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e e e e s eneeeneas
Corporate and fOreign DONAS...........covieieriiecierieeciees ettt sreeae e ensesseensenneens
OhET SECUITHIES ..euvveuvieiietieeiieteeteeteeteetesteestesteeaesteessesteessesseesseeseesseaseassesssasseeseesseassesseessesssessensanns
PrECious METALS .....eotieiiiitieieete ettt et ettt et e et ettt et sae et e bt et bt eneens
LD 1C A7 A< TN 1 <] AR
TOtAl trAQING ASSELS....vevieerietieiietiettetesteete e et e ste et e steesbeettesseeseesseeseesseessesseessesseessesssessesssensenssenseeses

Trading liabilities:

Securities s0ld, N0t Yet PUIChASE.........ccueeieriieieiieiere e ens
Payables for precious MEAlS.........c.cviiiieriicieiicieceeteste ettt sbe e sreesae e essesseessessnens
DETIVALIVES, TIET ...vvvieiiiiiiiiiee ettt eecte e e e ettt e e e eateeeeeeeeaaeeeessessasaeesessessaaseessesnaaseeessannneseeesssnnnes
Total trading HaDIIITICS. .. ...ecveeiieieii ettt et sa e tesaeeaesseeseesaeseesaenseennenseenes

1)
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

(in millions)

$ 2809 $ 2,675
10 3

156 45

572 591

440 481

5,559 9,681

18 22

1,893 1,992
4,135 5,602

$ 15652 $ 21,092
$ 77 S 683
— 22

5,619 7,459

$ 6336 $ 3,164

Consists of mortgage backed securities of $156 million and $45 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association ("FNMA") at

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets is net of $5,714 million
and $4,811 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master

netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities is net of $1,681 million
and $1,724 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting

agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments," for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral.
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3. Securities

Our securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios consisted of the following:

Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
September 30, 2015 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
ULS. TTCASUIY .ttt ettt ettt sttt sttt ettt et eeeebeseeebeebesaeseenean $ 12,656 190 $ a77) $ 12,669
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:""
Mortgage-backed SECUIILIES .......cevueruirverierieieieieieieeeeeeee e 677 3 “@ 676
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........cccecveveereeieenenenienenenenenenes 159 — 1 158
Direct agency obligations..........ccccveruirierienienienieieieieeeeeeeese e 4,145 159 a7 4,287
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUTITHIES .......ccuerueriirieerieniieie ettt 12,785 67 (112) 12,740
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........cccecveveeeeieeneneniencnenereneenes 736 12 1 747
Obligations of U.S. states and political SUbdiviSions...........cceceeververenuennene 763 9 “@ 768
Asset backed securities collateralized by:
Commercial MOTTZAZES .....c.ceervirririiriinienierieieieieeeree ettt 22 — — 22
HOME EQUILY ..ottt 87 — ®) 79
OBRET ...ttt ettt ettt 111 — (18) 93
Foreign debt SCCUTTHIES ..o e s 3,551 5 (24) 3,532
EQUILY SCCUITEIES ....eeviieiiiieiiietieeieeieet ettt ettt ettt et sae e b ete e beeanereens 164 3 €)) 166
Total available-for-sale SECUIILIES . .......cevveririeirieirieirieceieeeeeteteeete e $ 35,856 448 $  (367) $ 35,937
Securities held-to-maturity: - -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:"’
Mortgage-backed SECUTTLIES .......eevveeirieeirieieieieieieiee et $ 4,871 146 $ (5) $ 5,012
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUTITHIES ......cecverviriereeieriieie et 3,404 33 3) 3,434
Collateralized mortgage obligations ...........ccceeveveereeieenenienieneneneneneenes 6,177 116 1 6,292
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions...........ccccecerererrenuennennee 19 1 — 20
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 8 1 — 9
Total held-to-maturity SECUTTLIES. .......eoueruereireeieieieieieceeeeee et $ 14,479 297§ ) $ 14,767
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Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2014 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
ULS. TICASUIY vttt sttt sttt ettt ettt st sa bbb $ 11,793 $ 276 $ (58) $ 12,011
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:""
Mortgage-backed SECUIILIES .......oervervirrereieieiieieieerere et 520 5 (1 524
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveveeeeeereniineneneneneereenes 35 — — 35
Direct agency obligations .........ccceeererierienieieiiieieinereseee e 3,995 217 (6) 4,206
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUITLIES .......c.evververreieieieieieieere et 7,985 101 27 8,059
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccveveeeeeereniineneneneneereenes 329 3 2) 330
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions .........c..ceceeveeerenenrennene 661 10 4 667
Asset backed securities collateralized by:
Commercial MOTTZAZES .......cvuervierereriiieieieeeretetee et 43 — — 43
HOME EQUILY....cueeiiiiieiieiiitietee et 97 — ®) 89
ONCT .ttt ettt r et neenean 110 — (16) 94
Foreign debt SECUITHES™............o.ovieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 3,921 6 (12) 3,915
EQUILY SECUTTEIES ..veiuvieieiieiieieiieieeeiee ettt ettt et ebe e eeveesaaeebeeseaeearaeas 165 3 @) 167
Total available-for-sale SECUTILIES. ........ccververieieieieieiieercec e $ 29654 $ 621 § (135) $ 30,140
Securities held-to-maturity: - -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:”
Mortgage-backed SECUITLIES .......oevverrereieieieiieieieerere st $ 4868 $ 120 $ (1) $ 4987
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUITLIES .......o.evververreieieieieieieeeese et 3,700 53 (1 3,752
Collateralized mortgage obligations 4,867 54 €)) 4,920
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions .........c..ceceevererenenrenens 23 1 — 24
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 11 1 — 12
Total held-to-maturity SECUTILIES .......covevvererveieiieieieiinerceeceere e $ 13,469 $ 229 $ (3) $ 13,695
M Includes securities at amortized cost of $803 million and $521 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, and $33 million and $34 million issued or guaranteed by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC") at September 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014, respectively.
@

by foreign governments. The remainder of foreign debt securities represents public sector entity, bank or corporate debt.

©®  Includes securities at amortized cost of $3,289 million and $3,185 million issued or guaranteed by FNMA at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, and $1,582 million and $1,683 million issued and guaranteed by FHLMC at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, foreign debt securities consisted of $559 million and $689 million, respectively, of securities fully backed

Net unrealized gains decreased within the available-for-sale portfolio in the nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily
to rising yields on longer-term U.S. Treasury and U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities coupled with increased
investments in these securities as well as sales of U.S. Treasury securities that were in a net unrealized gain position at December

31,2014.
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The following table summarizes gross unrealized losses and related fair values as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014
classified as to the length of time the losses have existed:

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
September 30, 2015 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TI€ASUTY ..ovvvieiieiieeeeceeee e 33 8§ (162 $ 5,187 4 3 as) s 358
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 149 19) 1,137 18 3 192
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed ... 41 (106) 8,061 3 @) 106
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ..c.venviiieierieerieeeeceeeeieeae 17 ?2) 173 17 2) 156
Asset backed SeCUrities ..........ccvveereennennnn — — — 9 (26) 185
Foreign debt securities ...........ccooceeveereenennen. 7 (24) 2,412 1 — 192
Equity SECUTties.........cccoeviviiviriiiriiiiiie, 1 @ 158 — — —
Securities available-for-sale................c.....c..... 248 § (3149 $ 17,128 52§ 53) $ 1,189
Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 138 $ 3 s 564 47 $ — 5 —
U.S. Government agency issued or
uaranteed ........cocovevveneeieininne 93 “@ 1,051 676 — 4
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ...covenveneciieiceciiececececsc e — — — 3 —
Securities held-to-maturity ............cceceeeveevennns 231 $ O S 1,615 726 $ — 3 5
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
December 31, 2014 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)

Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. Treasury ..c.cccoveeeeeennrereennrenerecnnnnenene 6 $ 47 $ 3,459 4 8% (11) $ 1,546
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 2 (1) 128 24 (6) 391
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed ..o 30 (20) 2,046 10 ) 213
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS .....veviiiciiicieiceeceeeeeene 34 2) 146 23 2) 194
Asset backed SeCurities .........cocveerreennennn 1 — 3 9 (24) 199
Foreign debt securities ...........cccoceevevevveuennenn. 5 ) 1,805 3 3) 898
Equity SECUTTHIES......cocvvviiiiiiiiiiiiic, 1 (1) 158 — — —
Securities available-for-sale............ccccoevuvveeeenne. 79 $ (80) $ 7,745 73 $ 55 $ 3,441
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 144 $ 1 $ 394 47 $ — 3 —
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed ... 103 ) 985 800 — 2
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ..o — — — 3 — 1
Securities held-to-maturity ..............cccocceeeenenn. 247 $ 3) $ 1,379 850 $ — 3 3

Although the fair value of a particular security is below its amortized cost, it does not necessarily result in a credit loss and hence
an other-than-temporary impairment. The decline in fair value may be caused by, among other things, the illiquidity of the market.
We have reviewed the securities for which there is an unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance with our

13
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accounting policies, discussed further below. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we do not consider any of our debt
securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired as we expect to recover their amortized cost basis and we neither intend nor expect
to be required to sell these securities prior to recovery, even if that equates to holding securities until their individual maturities.
However, other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future periods if the credit quality of the securities deteriorates.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On a quarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether there have been any
events or economic circumstances to indicate that a security with an unrealized loss has suffered other-than-temporary impairment.
A debt security is considered impaired if its fair value is less than its amortized cost at the reporting date. If impaired, we assess
whether the impairment is other-than-temporary.

If we intend to sell the debt security or if it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the debt security before the
recovery of its amortized cost basis, the impairment is considered other-than-temporary and the unrealized loss is recorded in
earnings. An impairment is also considered other-than-temporary if a credit loss exists (i.e., the present value of the expected future
cash flows is less than the amortized cost basis of the debt security). In the event a credit loss exists, the credit loss component of
an other-than-temporary impairment is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss attributable to
factors other than credit loss is recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income (loss).

For all securities held in the available-for-sale or held-to-maturity portfolios for which unrealized losses attributed to factors other
than credit existed, we do not have the intention to sell and believe we will not be required to sell the securities for contractual,
regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. For a complete description of the factors considered when analyzing debt
securities for impairments, see Note 5, "Securities," in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no material changes in our process
for assessing impairment during 2015.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, none of our debt securities were determined to have either initial
other-than-temporary impairment or changes to previous other-than-temporary impairment estimates relating to the credit
component, as such, there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized related to credit loss.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, none of our debt securities were determined to have initial other-
than-temporary impairment while two held-to-maturity asset-backed debt securities, which were previously determined to be other-
than-temporarily impaired, had changes to their other-than-temporary impairment estimates related to the credit component. The
additional credit loss associated with the impaired debt securities, which reflects the excess of amortized cost over the present
value of expected future cash flows, was $4 million and $11 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014,
respectively, and was recorded as a component of net other-than-temporary impairment losses in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income.

The following table summarizes the rollforward of credit losses which have been recognized in income on other-than-temporary
impaired securities that we do not intend to sell nor will likely be required to sell:

Three Months Ended  Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2014 September 30, 2014

(in millions)

Beginning balance of credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities for which a
portion of an other-than-temporary impairment was recognized in other
comprehensive iNCOME (10SS).....cueviiiririiiiiiietiiieeieiei ettt ere et ereereereeveeae b sbessessens $ 68 $ 61

Increase in credit losses for which an other-than-temporary impairment was
PIEVIOUSLY TECOZMIZEM ... .eevvevieniieiieieciieie ettt ettt ettt ettt e st ebesteebessaeseesaeseesaenseens 4 11

Ending balance of credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities for which a
portion of an other-than-temporary impairment was recognized in other
comprehensive iNCOME (10SS).....ccueiiirririiiriirtisiesieiet ettt ettt ereete et esesseesesbessesens $ 72§ 72

Certain asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio have an embedded financial guarantee provided by monoline
insurers. Because the financial guarantee is not a separate and distinct contract from the asset-backed security, they are considered
a single unit of account for fair value measurement and impairment assessment purposes. In evaluating the degree of reliance to
be placed on the financial guarantee of a monoline insurer when estimating the cash flows to be collected for the purpose of
recognizing and measuring impairment loss, consideration is given to our assessment of the creditworthiness of the monoline and
other market factors. Based on the information available, including any actions undertaken by the regulatory agencies over the
monoline insurers and their published financial results, we perform both a credit as well as a liquidity analysis on the monoline
insurers each quarter. Our analysis also includes a review of market-based credit default spreads, when available, to assess the
appropriateness of our assessment of the monoline insurer’s creditworthiness. A credit downgrade to non-investment grade is key
but not the only factor in determining the monoline insurer’s ability to fulfill its contractual obligation under the financial guarantee.
Although a monoline may have been downgraded by the credit rating agencies or ordered to commute its operations by the insurance
commissioners, it may retain the ability and the obligation to continue to pay claims in the near term.
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At September 30, 2015, we held 13 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $173 million of
the total aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $194 million at September 30, 2015. The gross unrealized losses on
these monoline wrapped securities were $26 million at September 30, 2015. We did not take into consideration the value of the
monoline wrap of any non-investment grade monoline insurers as of September 30, 2015 and, therefore, we only considered the
financial guarantee of monoline insurers on securities for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary impairment on securities
with a fair value of $79 million.

At December 31, 2014, we held 15 individual asset-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio, of which 5 were also
wrapped by a monoline insurance company. The asset-backed securities backed by a monoline wrap comprised $183 million of
the total aggregate fair value of asset-backed securities of $226 million at December 31, 2014. The gross unrealized losses on these
monoline wrapped securities were $23 million at December 31, 2014. We did not take into consideration the value of the monoline
wrap of any non-investment grade monoline insurers as of December 31, 2014 and, therefore, we only considered the financial
guarantee of monoline insurers on securities with a fair value of $89 million for purposes of evaluating other-than-temporary
Impairment.

Other securities gains (losses), net The following table summarizes realized gains and losses on investment securities transactions
attributable to available-for-sale securities:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Gross r€alIZEA GAINS .....voviviievieieiietceiece ettt ettt s e $ 13 $ 45 S 8 $ 113
GT0SS TEAIIZEA 10SSES ....nvenienienieiieiieeeieet sttt st ?2) (18) a7 71
Net 1ealIZEA GAINS....veuveviieiiietiieiieietete ettt ettt s e ebeseeseneene $ 11 $ 27 $ 69 $ 42
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Contractual Maturities and Yields The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair values of securities available-for-
sale and securities held-to-maturity at September 30, 2015 by contractual maturity. Expected maturities differ from contractual
maturities because borrowers have the right to prepay obligations without prepayment penalties in certain cases. Securities available-
for-sale amounts exclude equity securities as they do not have stated maturities. The table below also reflects the distribution of
maturities of debt securities held at September 30, 2015, together with the approximate taxable equivalent yield of the portfolio.
The yields shown are calculated by dividing annualized interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the amortization
of premiums, by the amortized cost of securities outstanding at September 30, 2015. Yields on tax-exempt obligations have been
computed on a taxable equivalent basis using applicable statutory tax rates.

After One After Five
Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years
Taxable Equivalent Basis Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield

(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. TIeasury.....cocecereererereereneererieennene $ 1,321 83% $§ 4,540 1.14% $ 3,539 227% $ 3256 3.01%
U.S. Government sponsored
133111533 0) 0 1< S — — 2,753  2.98 1,201 2.42 1,027  2.96
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed........coceveveeeienieieinenceene, — — 6 4.20 35 3.88 13,480 2.62
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ..ovvenvenienieiieieiciinceiceee, — — 72 421 249  2.62 442  3.36
Asset backed securities........c.cccoerenee — — — — — — 220  3.26
Foreign debt securities.........cc.ceceeerenene 378  1.78 3,173 1.33 — — — —
Total amortized COSt...ovevveereereeeeeeeeeennn. $ 1,699 1.04% $ 10,544 1.70% $ 5,024 2.34% $ 18,425 2.73%
Total fair value.........ccooveveeveveecreeeeeeeeeeneen, $ 1,704 $ 10,663 $ 5117 $ 18,287

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

ENLEIPLISES ...vovvieiererereeeeeereveeee e, $ — —% $ 92 1.40% $ 618 2.62% $ 4,161 2.95%
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed........ocovveveerienieieineneeene, — — 1 775 43 3.02 9,537 2.38
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS ...cvvenveevenieeeieieeeieee e 2 4.04 7  4.09 5 341 5 532
Asset backed securities...........ceeeveennennn. — — — — — — 8 6.50
Total amortized COSt....eovvevveeeeeeeeeeeeeennn $ 2 4.04% $ 100 1.67% $ 666 2.66% $ 13,711 2.55%
Total fair value..........cooeoveovieeieieeeeee. $ 2 $ 102 $ 685 $ 13,978

Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock of $323 million and $632 million, respectively,
were included in other assets at September 30, 2015. Investments in Federal Home Loan Bank stock and Federal Reserve Bank
stock of $108 million and $483 million, respectively, were included in other assets at December 31, 2014.
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4. Loans

Loans consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and Other TEAL ESTALE ........eevii i e e e eeeeeaeeas $ 12,096 $ 10,300
Business and corporate banking 19,514 17,819
GIODAL BANKING™ ...ttt e e 29,808 26,387
Other commercial 3,334 3,581
TOtal COMMETCIAL.......eeiiiieiieiiete ettt ettt et ettt s et et e eaeebesseenaesseenseennens 64,752 58,087
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTEGAZES .....coevueruirririerieieteteeceetet ettt st sr ettt sae b 17,460 16,661
HOME EqUILY MOTEZAZES ..c.vevieiiiierieieietet ettt ettt sttt sttt ettt et et be et ebe b b 1,639 1,784
CTEAIL CATAS ..veevvieieiietie ettt ettt e e te et e st e e et e et e e beeesbeesteesssaesseessseesseasseensaeanseeseesssaeseenssens 682 720
OthET COMSUIMIET ....vvivieiieiietieeieteeteeteeste st etesetesaesteessesssesseessesseessesseessenssessesseessesseensesssensesssesenssens 409 489
TOtAL COMSUIMIET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et e st et e e st e bt esee et emeeeaeeneeeseensesseeneeneenseeneens 20,190 19,654
TOtAL LOANS .....evieieeiieieeieieet ettt ettt ettt e e s te e besse e bessa et e esaenseessenseessesseenseaseessesseensesssensesssessenssans $ 84942 § 77,741
m

Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on a global basis. Also includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $5,447 million and $4,821 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See Note 13, "Related Party Transactions," for additional information regarding loans to HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination fees totaled $61 million and $34 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. At
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we had a net unamortized premium on our loans of $13 million and $10 million,
respectively.
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Aging Analysis of Past Due Loans The following table summarizes the past due status of our loans, excluding loans held for sale,
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The aging of past due amounts is determined based on the contractual delinquency
status of payments under the loan. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been
made in accordance with the loan terms. Delinquency status is affected by customer account management policies and practices
such as re-age, which results in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency status to current.

Past Due Total Past Due
At September 30, 2015 30-89days 90+days 30 Daysor More Current”  Total Loans
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real estate.............cccoeveeeveeeveenennne. $ 15 3 58 20 $ 12,076 $ 12,096
Business and corporate banking ..............cceeveeverieiieneennnns 10 24 34 19,480 19,514
Global banking............ccceeverieiinieniienceereeeeeeee e — — — 29,808 29,308
Other commErcial ..........oocvvvieriieieieiee e 3 6 9 3,325 3,334
Total commercial...........cceeeveeviieiiienieeieeeeee e 28 35 63 64,689 64,752
Consumer loans:
Residential mortgages........coceevveveieniinieninieneeieneeeeseeene 373 800 1,173 16,287 17,460
Home equity mortgages. ........cccceeverenenienenienieieneeeeennenne 14 49 63 1,576 1,639
Credit Cards.....ocvvecieeiieiieeieeee e 10 9 19 663 682
Other CONSUIMET .......eeveriieieeiieieeeieie et eee e eee e eeeseeeneens 7 8 15 394 409
Total CONSUMET.........eevvieiieeieeiieeie et eve e ae e e 404 866 1,270 18,920 20,190
TOtal 1OANS ..c.veeeeeiieiecieeieeiee et $ 432§ 901 § 1,333 $ 83,609 $ 84,942
Past Due Total Past Due
At December 31, 2014 30 - 89 days 90+ days 30 Days or More  Current” Total Loans
(in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real estate...............ccceceevveeeeneenne. $ 25 % 22 % 47 $ 10,253 $ 10,300
Business and corporate banking ..............cccoevveeeerieriereennnns 32 9 41 17,778 17,819
Global banking............ccceeeirierinienieere et — — — 26,387 26,387
Other coOmMMETCial .......cceeevieiieiieieiieiee e 15 6 21 3,560 3,581
Total commercial.............coooveiiiiiieieiiiceeee e 72 37 109 57,978 58,087
Consumer loans:
Residential mOrtgages........coovevveeeeenieieneeiereeereee e 390 931 1,321 15,340 16,661
Home equity mortgages. ........coceeereruervenienenienieieceeeennenne 21 56 77 1,707 1,784
Credit Cards.......cuvevieeieeiieeieeee et 11 10 21 699 720
Other CONSUMET .......cccveriieieetieiieeiereeeenteeee e eee e eeesseeneens 9 9 18 471 489
Total CONSUMET........eeriieiieeieeiierie et ere e ve e 431 1,006 1,437 18,217 19,654
TOtal IOANS ...c.veevviiieiieciieieeee ettt $ 503 $ 1,043 $ 1,546 $ 76,195 $§ 77,741
m

Loans less than 30 days past due are presented as current.
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Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans, including nonaccrual loans held for sale, and accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent
consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
15 2014

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Construction and Other r€al ESTALE ..........c.cvvverueiieriieietieiete ettt ettt e et ae b e ssesreesseesaenns $ 49 3 65
Business and corporate DanKing ...........ccooeeriiieriiieieeeeeeee e 74 74
GlODAL DANKING ......vevieieeiieiieieie ettt ettt e et e et e ess e seensesseensesseensesseensesssensennnens 21 —
Commercial nonaccrual loans held for sale ...........occuivieiiiieciinicii e 58 43
Total COMMETCIAL....c.uiiiiiiiiieeie ettt e e e et e st e e bt e s st e essaeesse e saeenseesaesnsaeseenasens 202 182
Consumer:
Residential MOrt@ages " @@ ... .ot 790 847
Home equity MOrt@ages' ™ ... ..o 67 68
Consumer nonaccrual 1oans held for Sale..........covviiriiiieiieiieieeee e 3 4
TOtAL CONSUIMET ......viviiiieiietieiteete ettt et et ete st esbesteesbeetaebeessesbeessasseessasseessesseessesseessesssessesssesenssens 860 919
Total NONACCIUING LIOANS...........cocuiiiiiiiiiiiicece et ae et re e saeesbe e seeeaseenees 1,062 1,101
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate Danking ..........cccooeeriiieriiiiniieeeeeee e 1 1
Total COMMEICIAL.......eiiiiiiiieeii et ettt e s e et e st e e taeeabeesaessbeenseeesbeasaesasens 1 1
Consumer:
CTEAIL CATAS ..veevvieieieeiie ettt ettt e sttt e st e st e et e esteeesbeestaessbaeseessseesseesseensaeanseenseesnsaenseesnsens 9 10
OtNET COMSUITIET .. vieuviiitieiieeiteetteetteeteeeteeteeetbe e teesebeesteeesseesseesssaesseessseessseasssesseasseeseeessaaseesnsens 10 10
TOtAL CONSUIMET ......vivieiieiieiieiieste ettt et e b e st eaeste e bestseseessesseessesseassenssensesseessesseensesssessesssensensnens 19 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more................ccccooceeiininiieninenene 20 21
Total NonPerforming LOANS.................ccocciiiiiiiiiiicececeee ettt ettt e aeeaeeaaens $ 1,082 § 1,122

M At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include $740 million and $817 million, respectively, of loans that are
carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter

7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association
("GNMA"). Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk
characteristics from the rest of our consumer loan portfolio.

The following table provides additional information on our nonaccrual loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual loans had been
current in accordance with contractual terms during the period............ccooovvvereenenen. $ 21 $ 23 $ 65 $ 77

Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual loans and included in interest
income during the Period .........c.ccoceriiiiiiiiiiee et e 5 6 17 20
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Impaired Loans A loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are also considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings TDR Loans represent loans for which the original contractual terms have been modified to provide
for terms that are less than what we would be willing to accept for new loans with comparable risk because of deterioration in the
borrower’s financial condition.

Modifications for consumer or commercial loans may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited
to, a change in interest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal or accrued interest . A substantial amount of our modifications involve interest rate reductions which lower the amount
of interest income we are contractually entitled to receive in future periods. Through lowering the interest rate and other loan term
changes, we believe we are able to increase the amount of cash flow that will ultimately be collected from the loan, given the
borrower’s financial condition. TDR Loans are reserved for either based on the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loans’ original effective interest rates which generally results in a higher reserve requirement for these loans or
in the case of certain secured loans, the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. Once a consumer loan is classified as a
TDR Loan, it continues to be reported as such until it is paid off or charged-off. For commercial loans, if subsequent performance
is in accordance with the new terms and such terms reflect current market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be
reported as a TDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014 there were no commercial loans that met this criteria and were removed from TDR Loan classification.

The following table presents information about loans which were modified during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015 and 2014 and as a result of this action became classified as TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other 1€al €STALE .........ceevviereeriieeeeieeree et e e seve e e saeeeane $ — 3 — 8 4 3 —
Business and corporate banking...........c.ccooeeverieniiiieniieieeeeee e 87 5 137 16
G1ODAl DANKING ... ccuviivieiiietieiieiesie ettt et sre et e reessesaeeaesesesseesneseas — — 13 —
Other commercial... — — — 10
Total COMMETICIAL.....cc.eeiieeieiieiieie ettt ettt e e e naesneessesnneneas 87 5 154 26
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTEZAZES ... .coueevieeierieeiesie ettt 47 38 117 117
HOome eqUity MOTtZAZES .....eevieeieeieieeiieieciteie et eie et eee e enee e eseesneensesneessesnaesens 1 1 2 3
Credit cards 1 3 4
Total consumer 49 40 122 124

TOTAL ...ttt $ 136 § 45 $ 276 $ 150

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer loans which became classified as TDR Loans during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015 was 1.62 percent and 1.76 percent, respectively, compared with 1.64 percent and 1.55
percent during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. The weighted-average contractual rate reduction
for commercial loans was not significant in either the number of loans or rate.
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The following table presents information about our TDR Loans and the related allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Unpaid Unpaid
Carrying  Principal Carrying Principal
Value Balance Value Balance

(in millions)

TDR Loans"®:
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real €State.........ccvevvevierieieerieiieieeeeeee e $ 104 $§ 115 § 186 $ 201
Business and corporate banking ...........c.ccoeeevveveeneeieinienineniencneseneneeneeennen 145 160 24 51
G1ODAL DANKING. ....coveeiiiiieiietiitieteetee ettt ettt 21 22 — —
Total COMMEICIAL......c.eiiiiiiiiieiiecieeeece ettt sa e eve e aeearee s 270 297 210 252
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages™ ..............covuivurveeeieeeceeeee e 1,055 1,226 972 1,139
Home equity MOItZAZEs™ ...........cooviveeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eseee s 22 49 20 44
CTEAit CATAS ...veeeiieiieeiie ettt ettt et e s e e e beesebeebeesaseebeesaseesbaessaaenseens 5 5 6 6
TOtAl COMSUIMET......ueiiiiiiiiietiitiiteetete ettt st 1,082 1,280 998 1,189
Total TDR LOANS™........ooooiriiiii s $ 1,352 $ 1,577 $ 1,208 $ 1441

Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans®:
Commercial loans:

Construction and other real €STate............covvvvviieviiieieeeeee et $ — $ 4
Business and corporate banking ............cceccevieiiiieiinieneeeeeeeee e 3 5
G1ODAl DANKING.......ueevieiieiieiieiieteie ettt b et e sbeeseesseesaesseesaeneas — —
Total COMMETICIAL........eevieiieeieiieiee ettt et eeee 3 9
Consumer loans:

Residential MOTtZageS. ... .c.eeuieruiriereieiereee ettt 38 43
HOme eqUity MOTTZAZES ....veevvevieeierieieiieeieseete st ete et be e reessesseesaesaeenseneas 1
(3 (T LT o2 (o RS 1 2
TOtAl COMSUIMET......ueiiiiiiiiietiitiiteetete ettt st 40 47

Total allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans ............ccccooeeveeeeiiceeiieeeeeeecee e $ 43 $ 56

" TDR Loans are considered to be impaired loans. For consumer loans, all such loans are considered impaired loans regardless of accrual status. For commercial
loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDR Loans which totaled $62 million and $85 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.

@ The carrying value of TDR Loans includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as unearned income, unamortized deferred fees and costs on originated
loans, partial charge-offs and premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

® At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the carrying value reflected above includes $858 million and $763 million, respectively, of loans that are
recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the carrying value reflected above includes $520 million and $485 million, respectively, of loans which
are classified as nonaccrual.

©)

Included in the allowance for credit losses.
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The following table presents information about average TDR Loans and interest income recognized on TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Average balance of TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Construction and other real eState ..........cccveeeveeiiierierieeciecie e $ 112 $§ 202 $ 147 $ 233
Business and corporate banking...........cccocvecverieeierienieneeieseeieseeie e 106 29 70 24
G1ODAL DANKING ....cvetiiieiieteite ettt ettt st s e e 17 — 12 13
Other COMMETCIAL........ccvieiieiiieieee et e — — — 9
Total COMMETCIAL......ccviriieiieeieiieiete ettt ettt e b e seeesseeseenseeseenseens 235 231 229 279
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZAZES ......eeveeuieiieiieiieieee ettt 1,037 949 1,004 935
Home equity MOTtZAZES .....eevieeeerieiieiieierie e st et et eeeebeeseesseeseesreeseesseesaeseas 22 19 20 19
(@) (<10 A7) ¢« OSSR 6 8 6 8
TOtAl CONSUIMIET .......eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et e et e e e e e e e e e e eenneeeeneees 1,065 976 1,030 962
Total average balance of TDR LO@ANS............ccocivvieviriirieieiereieeeeeee et $ 1,300 $ 1,207 $ 1,259 §$ 1,241

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Construction and other 1€al €StAte ..........cccvevviiiiiiiiiiii e $ 1 9 2 3 3 3 9
Business and corporate banking............cooceeeerieiinieiiiieeseeee e 1 — 2 —
Total COMMETCIAL.......c..eeiieeiieeeiee e 2 2 5 9

Consumer loans:

Residential MOTtZAZES ......eevieuieiieiieiieiese ettt 9 9 27 26
Home equity MOItZAZES .....eevieeieiieiieiieie ettt ettt ee e e e seeeneesnes — — 1 1
TOtal CONMSUMET ...ttt ettt st 9 9 28 27
Total interest income recognized on TDR Lo@ns..........ccceeieeieieieinininiie e $ 11 3 11 3 33 § 36

The following table presents loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which for commercial
loans became 90 days or greater contractually delinquent or for consumer loans became 60 days or greater contractually delinquent
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Construction and other real €STAtE ..........coovviiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeee e $ — 3 — 3 2 9 12
Business and corporate banking.............cceecvevverieriinieniieiene e 7 — 10 —
Total COMMETCIAL ......oiiieiiiiiiiie e et e e eaae e s eaaeeens 7 — 12 12

Consumer loans:

Residential MOTtZAZES .....ocvvervieieriieierieeie et ettt e e e steesae e esaeseeessessnensens 6 10 23 27
HOME ©qUItY MOTTZALZES ....eeveeeereeiieeiieeiieiieerieestteeteesaesteesveeseessseeseesssesseesssennne 1 — 1 —
TOAl CONSUIMET .....c.uiiiiieeiiieieeeiieetee et e et e st e eteestaeeteesaaeebeeseseeseessseenseessseenseessneenns 7 10 24 27
TOLAL ..ottt bbb et $ 14 10 $ 36 $ 39
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Impaired commercial loans The following table presents information about impaired commercial loans and the related impairment
reserve for impaired commercial loans:

Amount Amount
with without Total Impaired Unpaid
Impairment Impairment Commercial Impairment Principal
Reserves®™ Reserves®™ Loans"® Reserve Balance
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015
Construction and other real eState .......ccovvvveeeveevveeeeeeeennenn. $ 2 $ 114 § 116 $ 1 S 136
Business and corporate banking...........ccccoeeeeveeerccrenennenn 59 130 189 14 226
Global DanKing ..........c.cceeeererienenesieeee e — 21 21 — 22
Other commercial...........ccevveeierieiieriee e — 6 6 — 6
Total cOmMMETCIAl.......c..eevveeiiiiiiieiiieeeeee e $ 61 $ 271§ 332§ 15 $ 390
At December 31,2014 -
Construction and other real eState ..........oovveeevveeeeeneeeeeeene. $ 18 $ 179 $ 197 $ 5% 224
Business and corporate banking............ccoceverierinienennnns 72 18 90 24 122
Global banking ...........ccceecvevieeiinieieeieie e eeeens — — — — —
Other commercial..........coooveeeiieiiieieec e 2 6 8 1 8
Total COMMEICIAL.....c.eeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ 92 203 $ 205 §$ 30 $ 354
m

Reflects the carrying value of impaired commercial loans and includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs, unamortized deferred fees
and costs on originated loans and any premiums or discounts on purchased loans.

@ Includes impaired commercial loans that are also considered TDR Loans which totaled $270 million and $210 million at September 30,2015 and December 31,

2014, respectively.

The following table presents information about average impaired commercial loans and interest income recognized on impaired
commercial loans:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Average balance of impaired commercial loans:

Construction and other real eState...........covirererierieieieieeeeee e $ 124 § 208 $ 161 $ 252
Business and corporate banking.............ccoeceeverieriieienieieeeeee e 139 40 116 37
G1ODAl DANKING ......cviiiieiieiieiieierie ettt ettt ste et e sreessesreeaessaessessnessens 17 — 12 16
Other COMMETCIAL........eeiiitieiieiiee e 7 10 7 21
Total average balance of impaired commercial 10ans............ccoceeverevenircieneniennen. $ 287 § 258 $ 296 $ 326
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: -
Construction and other real eState..........ccovirereriereieieeieeeee e $ 1 8§ 2 3 33 9
Business and corporate banking.............ccooceeverieriieienieiereeee e 2 — 3 —
Total interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans............c..c.ceuee.e. $ 3 93 2 $ 6 $ 9
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Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan

portfolio:

Criticized loans Criticized loan classifications are based on the risk rating standards of our regulator. Problem loans are assigned
various criticized facility grades. We also assign obligor grades which are used under our allowance for credit losses methodology.

The following facility grades are deemed to be criticized:

*  Special Mention — generally includes loans that are protected by collateral and/or the credit worthiness of the customer, but
are potentially weak based upon economic or market circumstances which, if not checked or corrected, could weaken our

credit position at some future date.

*  Substandard — includes loans that are inadequately protected by the underlying collateral and/or general credit worthiness of
the customer. These loans present a distinct possibility that we will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.

*  Doubtful — includes loans that have all the weaknesses exhibited by substandard loans, with the added characteristic that the
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full of the recorded loan highly improbable. However, although the possibility
of loss is extremely high, certain factors exist which may strengthen the credit at some future date, and therefore the decision
to charge off the loan is deferred. Loans graded as doubtful are required to be placed in nonaccruing status.

The following table summarizes criticized commercial loans:

Special Mention

Substandard Doubtful Total

(in millions)

At September 30, 2015

Construction and other real €State.........vvveeeeeoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee $ 119 § 193 § — S 312
Business and corporate banking...........c.ccceeeeererenininencninenenenes 1,031 578 16 1,625
Global DANKING.....c.ceerieeirieiiriiiriiirieeee et 2,424 634 — 3,058
Other COMMETCIAL......cc.eeieiieieiieiest et 2 6 — 8
Total coMMEICIal ........ccveeieiiieeieciieceeee e $ 3,576 $ 1,411 $ 16 $ 5,003
At December 31, 2014 -
Construction and other real eState..........cccvevveereenieeciienieeieesee e $ 310 $ 230§ 7 $ 547
Business and corporate banking.............cccceeevveriiecieneecienieeeeee 1,001 238 22 1,261
Global banking...........ccevieririiiniieniee e 1,770 202 — 1,972
Other COMMETCIAL......cc.eeieiieieiieie e e 1 6 — 7
Total cOMMETCIAl .......cccuveeiiiiieeieciiecieee e $ 3,082 $ 676 $ 29§ 3,787

Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our commercial loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015

Construction and other real eState ..........cooeeveveeeerveeveeeeereennne. $ 12,047 $ 49 S — 12,096
Business and corporate banking .............ccoecveeevirienieienennne 19,439 74 1 19,514
Global DANKING ......covereeieieieieieeeceesee e 29,787 21 — 29,808
Other COMMETCIAL ........uvveeiiiiiiiiiee e 3,334 — _ 3,334
Total COMMETCIAL.....ooieeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ 64,607 $ 144 $ 1 S 64,752
At December 31, 2014

Construction and other real €State ........cocveeevveeeeeeeveereeeeeeeeenenn $ 10,235 $ 65 $ — 3 10,300
Business and corporate banking ...........ccccoeeveienirneniinieneennne 17,744 74 1 17,819
Global BanKing ......c..coevveieieieinininesere e 26,387 — — 26,387
Other commercial ..........ccoeeeiieieiiiiee e 3,581 — — 3,581
Total COMMEICIAL.......eoveeeeeeee et eeee e $ 57,947 $ 139 $ 1 3 58,087
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Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercial loan portfolio:

Investment lnvlzsoti;ent
Grade' Grade Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015
Construction and other real ESTALE ..........c.ccvievviiieriiiieie ettt e $ 9674 $ 2422 $ 12,09
Business and corporate Danking ............cecceceeeeererinenenenienienieneeeeteeeeeese e 10,896 8,618 19,514
G1ODAL DANKING ...ttt ettt et et ebe bt et ebeebesaeseeean 23,632 6,176 29,808
Other COMMETCIAL ........eeiiieieiieiett ettt ettt e e st e e seensesseeneesseensesneen 1,851 1,483 3,334
Total COMMETCIAL......ecvieiieeiiiieiieteeteete ettt ettt et e b et e b e seebeeas e reessesreesaesseensasenas $ 46,053 $ 18,699 $ 64,752
At December 31, 2014 -
Construction and other real ESTALE ..........ccovieriirierieiieieceee ettt $ 7,820 $ 2480 $ 10,300
Business and corporate Danking ............cccoeierierieieiieiieeseeeee s 8,835 8,984 17,819
GlODAl DANKING .....eevviiieiiieiieiieiett ettt ettt e sttt ea et et et e essesseessesseessesseensesseensensnas 23,400 2,987 26,387
Other COMMETCIAL ......cceiiiiiiiecie et et et beeae e s beeteestaeebeessneenns 1,873 1,708 3,581
TOtal COMMETCIAL.........oviieeiciieietieeetieete ettt ettt ettt ettt ae et seeaeseetensete e ens $ 41,928 $ 16,159 $ 58,087

M Investment grade includes commercial loans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.

Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total

loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our consumer loan portfolio:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Delinquent  Delinquency  Delinquent  Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio
(dollars are in millions)
Residential mortgages ™ ...........cooiviieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 868 497% $ 1,013 6.07%
Home equity mort@ages'™™@ ..........c.ooviiiiioeeeeeeeeeeeee e 54 3.29 62 3.48
Credit CardS ...oouevvieieeeriecieeeeete ettt 13 1.91 14 1.94
Other CONSUIMET ........eiuiiiiiiciiietetee ettt 13 2.64 14 2.52
TOtAl COMSUIMET ......ccviiiiiieeie ettt ettt e e eaae s $ 948 4.67% $ 1,103 5.59%

M At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $794 million and $936 million, respectively, of loans that
are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage loans include $598 million and $658 million, respectively, of loans that were in the
process of foreclosure.
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Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our consumer loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past

Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015

Residential mOTtZages ......ccceevvieriienieeriieiieeee et $ 16,670 $ 790 $ — $ 17,460
Home equity MOTtZages ........cocevveruereriinrenienienieieeeeeeeeeeeieeienes 1,572 67 — 1,639
Credit CArdS ..o.viiveeieieieiecieieete ettt e ae e 673 — 9 682
Other CONSUIMET .....eevieiieeiieieeeieiieteie ettt ee e eesseeeesseennens 399 — 10 409
TOtAl COMSUIMET ...t eaeaeas $ 19314 § 857 $ 19 $ 20,190
At December 31, 2014 - -
Residential MOTtEages .......ccveevvevierieriieieniieiesie e eee e eee e $ 15814 §$ 847 $ — $ 16,661
Home equity MOItZages .......cccverueeierieeienieeiere e 1,716 68 — 1,784
Credit CArdS ....vivveeieieieiecieieeeete ettt ettt e e saeennens 710 — 10 720
OthEr CONSUIMET ....vvvvieiiiiiiiee ettt et e e e eenaee e e e s eenaeeees 479 - 10 489
TOtAl COMSUITIET ....eeveeeee ettt e e e eeereeeeeereeanees $ 18,719 §$ 915 $ 20 $ 19,654

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk At September 30,2015 and December 31,2014, our loan portfolio included interest-only residential
mortgage loans totaling $3,640 million and $3,531 million, respectively. An interest-only residential mortgage loan allows a
customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period of time which results in lower payments during the
initial loan period. However, subsequent events affecting a customer's financial position could affect the ability of customers to
repay the loan in the future when the principal payments are required which increases the credit risk of this loan type.
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5. Allowance for Credit Losses

The following table summarizes the changes in the allowance for credit losses by product and the related loan balance by product
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014:

Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages Card Consumer Total

(in millions)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

Allowance for credit losses — beginning

of Period......ccoveevireeeinceeee $ 89 §$ 260 $ 130 $ 18 § 83 § 27 $ 33 $ 8 §$ o048
Provision charged (credited) to income.... 3) 32 16 )) A3) ?2) 7 1 47
Charge offS .....ccoovveeeeieeeeeeeeeeee — (11) — — A3) (€)) 3) 1) (24)
RECOVETIES ..o 1 2 — — 2 1 1 — 7
Net (charge offs) recoveries .........c.c.c.c.... 1 ) — — ) — ©) 1) (W)

PETIOM oo $ 87 § 283 § 146 § 17 $ 79 $ 25§ 33 § 8 § 678

Three Months Ended September 30, 2014

Allowance for credit losses — beginning

Of PEriod ....c.evveveuiirieiieceee e $ 94 $ 180 $ 9% $ 13§ 149 § 42 $ 39 $§ 11 $ 624
Provision charged (credited) to income.... ©) 36 — 1 (11) (5) 9 2 23
Charge offs ......covvveervveiccccecee — %) — — ) 3) (10) 2) (29)
Recoveries 1 2 — 3 3 2 2 — 13
Net (charge offs) recoveries .........c.c.c...... 1 3) — 3 6) 1) ®) 2) (16)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
PEHOd ..o $ 8 § 213 8 9 § 17 $ 132§ 36 $ 40 § 11§ 631
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
of Period......ccoeevereeincceee $ 89 §$ 275 $ 107 $ 21§ 107 § 32§ 39 § 10 $ 680
Provision charged (credited) to income.... “@) 54 39 3) (&) “4) 14 7 3 94
Charge offS .....ccoovveeeeieeeeeeeene ?2) (55) — (0] 27 6) (24) (11) (126)
RECOVETIES ... 4 9 — — 8 3 4 2 30
Net (charge offs) recoveries 2 (46) — (0] 19) A3) (20) ) (96)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
PeriOd o $ 87 $ 283 $ 146 $ 17 $ 79 $ 25 $ 33§ 8 $ 678
Ending balance: collectively evaluated - - -
for impairment ............cccccevvveieniicnennns $ 86 § 269 $ 146 $ 17 $ 41 S 24§ 32 § 8 § 623

Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment ..............ccococeereereneennnnn. 1 14 — — 38 1 1 — 55

- 8 87 § 283 § 146 § 17 § 79 % 25 $ 33 § 8§ § 678

Total allowance for credit losses.

Loans:

Collectively evaluated for impairment” .. § 11,980 $ 19,325 $29,787 § 3,328 § 15801 $ 1,561 $ 677 $ 409 $82,868
Individually evaluated for impairment® .. 116 189 21 6 214 5 5 — 556
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost

or fair value less cost to sell ...........cc........ — — — — 1,445 73 — — 1,518
Total 10anS ......c.coevvvvevenireeeineccreecenne $ 12,096 $ 19,514 $29,808 $ 3,334 § 17,460 $ 1,639 $ 682 § 409 $84,942
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Commercial Consumer
Business
Construction and Home
and Other Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Real Estate Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages Mortgages Card Consumer Total

(in millions)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014

Allowance for credit losses — beginning

of Period......cccoeevereucenniccnincccenees $ 108 $ 112§ 68 $ 20 $ 186 $ 49 8 50 S$ 13§ 606
Provision charged (credited) to income.... e 111 36 (12) (20) (11) 18 3 124
Charge offs 24) 16) ®) — (45) (11) 33) @) (144)
Recoveries 3 6 — 11 9 5 2 45
Net (charge offs) recoveries ...........cceeuenue 21 10) ®) 9 (34) 2) (28) ) 99)
Allowance for credit losses — end of
PELIOd . $ 86 § 213§ 96 $ 17 $ 132§ 36 $ 40 § 11 $ 631
Ending balance: collectively evaluated -
for impairment ..., $ 84 $ 206 $ 96 $ 16 S 81 3 34 $ 38 8§ 11 $ 566
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment ................cccoeveevennennnnn. 2 7 — 1 51 2 2 — 65
Total allowance for credit losses.............. $ 86 $ 213§ 9% $ 17 $ 132§ 36 $ 40 $ 11 $ 631
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment” .. § 9,459 $ 17,318 $24,001 $ 3,035 $ 14662 § 1,753 § 679 $ 465 $71,372
Individually evaluated for impairment®... 202 37 — 10 224 5 7 — 485
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair value less cost to sell — — — — 1,516 66 — — 1,582
Total 10anS ...coveveieiiciciicicae $ 9,661 § 17355 $24,001 $ 3,045 § 16,402 § 1,824 § 686 $ 465 $73,439

@ Global Banking includes loans to HSBC affiliates totaling $5,447 million and $4,821 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively,
for which we do not carry an associated allowance for credit losses.

@ For consumer loans and certain small business loans, these amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow
methodology. Each loan is individually identified as a TDR Loan and then grouped together with other TDR Loans with similar characteristics. The discounted
cash flow analysis is then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. Loans individually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR loans that are carried at the
lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled $858 million and $741 million at September 30,2015 and 2014, respectively.

6. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)

COMMETCIAL LOAMS ....eovviiiiiiiieciie ettt ettt et e e e e vt e e b e e beesebe e saeeabeesseessaenseeesseenssesaseesssennseenses $ 269 $ 528
Consumer loans:

Residential MOTEZAZES ......vevvieuieeieieeii ettt ettt et e e et eeeseeeneesneesesseesesneenseeneens 16 18

OthET COMSUITIET .....vivieiiieiiitieiteete ettt etee e etesteesbesteesbeessesseessesseessasseessasseessesseessesseessesssessesssessensaens 83 66

TOTAl COMSUIMET ... viiiieieiieiieeiiieteeete et e et e et e eb e e teeeebeesteeeabeesbeeeabe e seessseasseassaesssessseeseesssaeseennsens 99 84
Total 10ans Neld fOr SALE ......cviviiiiiciiciiceeec ettt ettt e aeeteesaesreesaesrsessessaebeesnens S 368 $ 612

We originate commercial loans in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent of
selling the loans to unaffiliated third parties. We also purchase commercial loans from the secondary market and hold the loans as
hedges against our exposure to certain total return swaps. The commercial loans under these programs are classified as commercial
loans held for sale and we have elected to designate these loans under the fair value option. The fair value of these commercial
loans held for sale was $175 million and $384 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See Note 10,
"Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Commercial loans held for sale also included $27 million and $44 million of global banking loans at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively, as well as commercial real estate loans totaling $67 million and $100 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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We sell all our agency eligible residential mortgage loan originations servicing released directly to PHH Mortgage Corporation
("PHH Mortgage"). Gains and losses from the sale of residential mortgage loans are reflected as a component of residential mortgage
banking revenue in the accompanying consolidated statement of income. Also included in residential mortgage loans held for sale
are subprime residential mortgage loans with a fair value of $3 million and $4 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively which were acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance")
with the intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

Loans held for sale are subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market conditions, as well as the credit environment. PHH Mortgage is obligated to purchase agency eligible loans
from us as of the earlier of when the customer locks the mortgage loan pricing or when the mortgage loan application is approved.
As such, we retain none of the risk of market changes in mortgage rates for these loans.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance
on consumer loans held for sale was $14 million and $15 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $21 million and $5 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.

7. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Mortgage Servicing TIGNES ......ocooiiiiiiiiiiiii s $ 130 $ 159
Purchased credit card relationShips..........coeverierierieieieee et 42 47
Total INtANGIDIE ASSELS .....eveeuiitieieti ettt ettt ettt et s et et e s et e eesaeeaesseenaeeseenneennens $ 172 $ 206

Mortgage Servicing Rights ("MSRs") A servicing asset is a contract under which estimated future revenues from contractually
specified cash flows, such as servicing fees and other ancillary revenues, are expected to exceed the obligation to service the
financial assets. We recognize the right to service mortgage loans as a separate and distinct asset at the time they are acquired or
when originated loans are sold.

MSRs are subject to credit, prepayment and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of changes in these
economic variables. Interest rate risk is mitigated through an economic hedging program that uses securities and derivatives to
offset changes in the fair value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using
a number of risk assessment techniques.

MSRs are initially measured at fair value at the time that the related loans are sold and remeasured at fair value at each reporting
date. Changes in fair value of MSRs are reflected in residential mortgage banking revenue in the period in which the changes
occur. Fair value is determined based upon the application of valuation models and other inputs. The valuation models incorporate
assumptions market participants would use in estimating future cash flows. The reasonableness of these valuation models is
periodically validated by reference to external independent broker valuations and industry surveys.

The following table summarizes the critical assumptions used to calculate the fair value of MSRs:

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
Annualized constant prepayment rate ("CPR").....cccceoiiiiiiiiiiiiinineeeceeee e 16.5% 15.9%
ConsStant dISCOUNT TALE ..........oucviuiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 13.5% 14.1%
Weighted average life (I YEArS) ......eoveririiriiieieieieieteeeeee ettt 4.0 4.1
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The following table summarizes MSRs activity:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Fair value of MSRs:
Beginning balance ............ccccievieiiiiiiiciiieiceeiee ettt $ 158 § 186 $ 159 § 227
Changes in fair value due to changes in valuation model inputs or assumptions... 21) 2 (13) (22)
Reductions related to cuStOMEr PAYMENLS ......cc.eeverveeieriieierieieeieie et see e @) (6) (16) (23)
ENdiNg DALANCE ....c.vcvivviieeiceceeceeee ettt $ 130 § 182 $ 130 $ 182

The outstanding principal balance of serviced for others mortgages, which are not included in the consolidated balance sheet,
totaled $20,266 million and $23,101 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Servicing fees collected are included in residential mortgage banking revenue and totaled $13 million and $43 million during the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $17 million and $52 million during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

During 2013, we completed the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage. Under the
terms of the agreement, PHH Mortgage provides us with mortgage origination processing services as well as the sub-servicing of
our portfolio of owned and serviced for others mortgages with an outstanding principal balance of $38,786 million and $40,889
million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Although we continue to own both the mortgages on our
balance sheet and the mortgage servicing rights associated with the serviced loans at the time of conversion, we now sell our
agency eligible originations to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis which results in no new mortgage servicing rights
being recognized.

Purchased credit card relationships 1n 2012, we purchased from HSBC Finance the account relationships associated with $746
million of credit card receivables which were not included in the sale to Capital One Financial Corporation at a fair value of $108
million. Approximately $43 million of this value was associated with the credit card receivables sold to First Niagara Bank, National
Association and was written off at the time of sale. The remaining $65 million was included in intangible assets and is being
amortized over the estimated useful life of the credit card relationships which is ten years.

8. Goodwill

Goodwill was $1,612 million at both September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Included in goodwill for these periods were
accumulated impairment losses of $670 million.

During the third quarter of 2015, we completed our annual impairment test of goodwill and determined that the fair value of all
of our reporting units exceeded their carrying amounts, with the book value of each reporting unit, including allocated goodwill,
being 72 percent or less of fair value.

9. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments entered into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, derivative instruments are designated in one of the following categories: (a) financial
instruments held for trading, (b) hedging instruments designated as qualifying hedges under derivative and hedge accounting
principles or (c) non-qualifying economic hedges. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting agreements with
counterparties, the master netting agreements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

The following table presents the fair value of derivative contracts by major product type on a gross basis. Gross fair values exclude
the effects of both counterparty netting as well as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, as well as
cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable master netting agreements that do not meet the criteria for
netting. Derivative assets and liabilities which are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to a netting
agreement where an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or obtained,
have not been netted in the table below. Where we have received or posted collateral under netting agreements where an appropriate
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legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or obtained, the related collateral also has
not been netted in the table below.

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
assets liabilities assets liabilities

(in millions)

Derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges""

OTC-CLEAEA™ ... e s s e s e s eee s ees e ees e $ 33§ 353§ 1 s 206
BilAteral OTC® ... ...t e e s s s s 2 287 4 268
INEErest FAte COMEIACES ...........coc.oiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e e e e eee e 35 640 5 474

Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges""

Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® ... 100 — 45 —
OTC-ClEAred® ..........oooooeeeoeeceeeee oo ee oo 6 9 8 6
Bilateral OTC® ..... . 1 160 — 161

Interest rate contracts... 7 169 8 167

Total derivatives accounted for as hedges......................cccooveiiiiiiiiiiiicceeee e 142 809 58 641
Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
EXChan@E-traded®..............ooveeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e sesee e eeeese s s e s eeseeee e seess s ee e eer s 52 66 46 43
OTC-ClRArEd® ...t 24,067 23,155 16,862 17,557
BilAteral OTC® ........ooooovoimiornsiereeceeceessssssssssss e ssssssssssssss s sssssssss s 23,276 24,136 28,370 28,398

Interest rate COMEIACES ...............cocoeviuieiiieiieiieietieeeete ettt b st ess st s et sesesens 47,395 47,357 45,278 45,998
Exchange-traded(2> ............................................................................................................... — 38 — 13
Bilateral OTC® ..........ovvvooooeeeoeocoeeee oo eeeoseee e 25,621 23,594 22,219 20,826

Foreign exchange contracts ....................cocooiriiiiiniiiicieeceecee et 25,621 23,632 22,219 20,839

Equity contracts - bilateral OTC® ...................cccoooivvvvceooeeieeeoceeeeeeeeeeceeeeeeeeee e 1,549 1,547 1,635 1,632
Exchange-traded(2> ............................................................................................................... 31 39 59 18
Bilateral OTC® ..........ovvvooooeeeoeocoeeee oo eeeoseee e 985 477 1,013 591

Precious metals contracts 1,016 516 1,072 609
OTC-CLEATEd™ ..........ooooieveoeeeeee oo 926 1,194 604 730
Bilateral OTC® _.......oooooooooooeoeeeeeeeeeee oo eeenenns 3,696 3,408 3,518 3,288

Credit COMEIACES ...........ocoiiiiiii ettt et e et ae et eeaeeeaeas 4,622 4,602 4,122 4,018

Other derivatives not accounted for as hedges™

Interest rate contracts - bilateral OTC®.....................cccooorrrvvvcioieeeceeeeeeeeecceeeeeeee 816 101 768 88

Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTCP .o — 102 — 44

Equity contracts - bilateral OTC® ... eeeeseeeseeee 337 553 757 167

Precious metals contracts - bilateral OTC® ... — 2 — 5

Credit contracts - bilateral OTC® ..o eeeee oo 149 7 73 9

Total deriVALIVES............c.cooiivieiiieiceieteece ettt et et s s se e esees 81,647 79,228 75,982 74,050

Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforceable master netting
agreements ) et 70,354 70,354 63,913 63,913

Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to enforceable master

netting agreements' 6 5,714 1,681 4811 1,724
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet .. 5,579 7,193 7,258 8,413
Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted subject to

enforceable master netting agreements but not offset in the consolidated balance sheet. 1,008 3,043 1,837 4,398
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities ............................ccooooiiiiiiiie e $ 4571 $ 4,150 $ 5421 $ 4,015

M Derivative assets / liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded

in other assets / interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
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@ Over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or
central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through master netting agreements and obtaining collateral.
OTC-cleared derivatives are executed bilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central clearing
counterparty becomes the counterparty to both of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized exchange
that provides pre-trade price transparency. Credit risk is minimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining
required by central clearing counterparties.

®  Trading related derivative assets/liabilities are recorded in trading assets/trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

@ Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

®  Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

®  Netting is performed at a counterparty level in cases where enforceable master netting agreements are in place, regardless of the type of derivative instrument.

Therefore, we have not attempted to allocate netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," for further information on offsetting related
to resale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires us to identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities as well as forecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using a regression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument is highly effective in offsetting
changes in the fair value or the cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate (U.S. dollar and non-U.S. dollar denominated) assets and liabilities
fluctuates in response to changes in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates. We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and
futures contracts and foreign currency swaps to minimize the effect on earnings caused by interest rate and foreign currency
volatility. The changes in the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item (basis adjustment). If the hedging relationship is terminated and the hedged item continues to
exist, the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.

We recorded basis adjustments for active fair value hedges which increased the carrying amount of our debt by $25 million and
$13 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with increases of $0 million and
less than $1 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. We amortized $2 million and $5 million of basis
adjustments related to terminated and/or re-designated fair value hedge relationships of our debt during the three and nine months
ended September 30,2015, respectively, compared with $1 million and $6 million during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2014. The total accumulated unamortized basis adjustments amounted to increases in the carrying amount of our debt of $29
million and $21 million as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Basis adjustments for active fair value hedges of available-for-sale ("AFS") securities increased the carrying amount of the securities
by $412 million and $234 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with a
decrease of $21 million and an increase of $317 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. The total
accumulated unamortized basis adjustments for active fair value hedges of AFS securities amounted to increases in the carrying
amount of the securities of $628 million and $458 million as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in fair value hedges and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their location on the consolidated statement of
income:

Net Ineffective
Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) on Derivative Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items Recognized
Interest Income Interest Income
(Expense) Other Income (Expense) Other Income Other Income
(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ S (1) $ 434) $ 922 $ 414 $ (20)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 7 27 22) (25) 2
TOtal ..t $ “44) $ 407) $ 70 $ 389 § (18)
Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ 61) $ 10 $ 90 $ (10) $
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 2 — —
TOAL ..t $ 59) $ 10 $ 90 $ (10) $ —
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (154) $ 229) $ 273§ 217§ (12)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 16 15 (55) 13) 2
TOtal ..eveeeeeee e $ (138) $ 214) $ 218 §$ 204 $ (10)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate contracts/AFS Securities................ $ (183) $ (396) $ 289 $ 391§ 5)
Interest rate contracts/subordinated debt ........... 7 )] (16) 1 —
TOtal ..o $ (181) $ (397) $ 273§ 392§ ®)]

Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. As a part of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changes in fair value of a derivative instrument associated
with the effective portion of a qualifying cash flow hedge are recognized initially in other comprehensive income (loss). When
the cash flows for which the derivative is hedging materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss
from the hedging derivative previously recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) is reclassified into earnings
in the same accounting period in which the designated forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. If a cash flow hedge
of a forecasted transaction is de-designated because it is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship is terminated, the
cumulative gain or loss on the hedging derivative to that date will continue to be reported in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) unless it is probable that the hedged forecasted transaction will not occur by the end of the originally specified time
period as documented at the inception of the hedge, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is released into earnings.

As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, active cash flow hedge relationships extend or mature through July 2036.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, $3 million and $8 million of losses related to terminated
and/or re-designated cash flow hedge relationships were amortized to earnings from AOCI compared with losses of $2 million
and $4 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014. During the next twelve months, we expect to amortize
$19 million of remaining losses to earnings resulting from these terminated and/or re-designated cash flow hedges. The interest
accrual related to the derivative contract is recognized in interest income.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from all terminated cash flow hedges) and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income:

Gain (Loss)

Gain (Loss) Gain (Loss) . . Recognized
Recognized Reclassed Location of Gain in Income
in AOCI on . . From AOCI (Loss) Recognized on the
Derivative Location of Gain into Income in Income Derivative
(Effective (Loss) Reclassified (Effective on the Derivative (Ineffective
Portion) from AOCI Portion) (Ineffective Portion and Portion)

—_— into Income _  Amount Excluded from  o——
2015 2014 (Effective Portion) 2015 2014 Effectiveness Testing) 2015 2014

(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30,
Interest income

Foreign exchange contracts.... $ (2) $ 1 (expense) $§ — $ — Other income $§ — § —
Interest income

Interest rate contracts.............. (51 (11) (expense) A 2) Other income — —

Total..ooeiieee $ (53) $ (10) $ 3 2) $ — § —

Nine Months Ended September 30,
Interest income

Foreign exchange contracts.... $ (1) $§ 2 (expense) $§ — $§ — Otherincome $§ — $§ —
Interest income .

Interest rate contracts.............. (36) (72) (expense) @®) 4) Other income — —

Total...oooveieieieeieeeeee $ 37 $ (70) $ ® 4) $ — § —

Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities In addition to risk management, we enter into derivative instruments,
including buy- and sell-protection credit derivatives, for trading and market making purposes, to repackage risks and structure
trades to facilitate clients’ needs for various risk taking and risk modification purposes. We manage our risk exposure by entering
into offsetting derivatives with other financial institutions to mitigate the market risks, in part or in full, arising from our trading
activities with our clients. In addition, we also enter into buy-protection credit derivatives with other market participants to manage
our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter into derivatives for trading purposes, realized and unrealized gains and
losses are recognized in trading revenue or residential mortgage banking revenue. Credit losses arising from counterparty risk on
over-the-counter derivative instruments and offsetting buy protection credit derivative positions are recognized as an adjustment
to the fair value of the derivatives and are recorded in trading revenue.

Our non-qualifying hedging activities include:
*  Derivative contracts related to the fixed-rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments, including all structured

notes and structured deposits, for which we have elected fair value option accounting. These derivative contracts are non-
qualifying hedges but are considered economic hedges.

»  Credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan portfolio. In the
event of an impairment loss occurring in a loan that is economically hedged, the impairment loss is recognized as provision
for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income.

»  Forward purchase or sale of to-be-announced ("TBA") securities designated to economically hedge mortgage servicing
rights. Changes in the fair value of TBA positions, which are considered derivatives, are recorded in residential mortgage
banking revenue.

Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value through
profit and loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and
related derivatives, other income or residential mortgage banking revenue while the derivative asset or liability positions are
reflected as other assets or other liabilities.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for trading purposes and their locations

on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income

on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
Location of Gain (Loss) September 30, September 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest rate contracts........c..ceceeceeeueevennennn. Trading revenue $ 260 $§ 215 $ 801 $ 183
Interest rate CONtracts .......cccvveervevrvceruenne Residential mortgage banking revenue 28 ) 34 33
Foreign exchange contracts...........c..ccc...... Trading revenue (372) (182) (521) 99)
Equity CONracts .........ccoveeeevererenrererennnnnns Trading revenue 3) — — —
Precious metals contracts.............cc.cceueuene. Trading revenue 25 36 44 54
Credit contracts .........cceeveevevveeeeeeneeennenn Trading revenue 23) (76) (40) (191)
Total ..o $ @85 § 9 318 § (20)

The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging activities
and their locations on the consolidated statement of income:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income
on Derivatives

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
Location of Gain (Loss) September 30, September 30,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in millions)

Interest rate CONtracts .......cccveeervevrveeruenns Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives $ 164 § 42 $ 131 $§ 269
Interest rate contracts..........cceceeevveereennneenne Residential mortgage banking revenue ) — — —
Foreign exchange contracts.............c......... Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives (18) 5 13) 18
Equity contracts ..........coceeveeeruecerecvererenenns Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives (533) (67) (401) 272
Precious metals contracts.........c..cccoceeevuenee Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives €)) (12) — 12
Credit contracts .........coeeeeevenveeeeeenenenene Gain (loss) on instruments designated

at fair value and related derivatives — (1 A3 —
Credit CoNtracts .........oeceevveeeenieecieneeieneenes Other income 92 3 69 (8)
Total ..ot $ 297 § (30) $ (217) 563

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features We enter into total return swap, interest rate swap, cross-currency swap and credit
default swap contracts, amongst others which contain provisions that require us to maintain a specific credit rating from each of
the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part of broader structured product
transactions. f HSBC Bank USA, National Association's ("HSBC Bank USA") credit ratings were to fall below the current ratings,
the counterparties to our derivative instruments could demand us to post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral
required to be posted will depend on whether HSBC Bank USA is downgraded by one or more notches. The aggregate fair value
of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that were in a liability position as of September 30, 2015
was $6,961 million, for which we had posted collateral of $5,866 million. The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments
with credit-risk-related contingent features that were in a liability position as of December 31, 2014 was $7,006 million, for which
we had posted collateral of $6,136 million. Substantially all of the collateral posted is in the form of cash or securities available-
for-sale. See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," for further details.
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The following tables summarize our obligation to post additional collateral (from the current collateral level) in certain hypothetical
commercially reasonable downgrade scenarios of our long term ratings. It is not appropriate to accumulate or extrapolate information
presented in the tables below to determine our total obligation because the information presented to determine the obligation in
hypothetical rating scenarios is not mutually exclusive.

Single-notch Two-notch

downgrade downgrade
Moody’s Aa3 Al

(in millions)

Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade ............ccecvevveviieieniecienieieneeee e, $ — 95

Single-notch Two-notch

downgrade downgrade
Standard & Poor's (""S&P'") A+ A

(in millions)

Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade ............cccoeeveviieieniieienieieeeeee e, $ 95 $ 142

Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts:

September 30,2015  December 31, 2014

(in millions)

Interest rate:

Futures and fOrWardS ..........eoeiiiioeieiie et e e as $ 156,332 §$ 87,406
SWADS eeettetteett ettt ettt et e e st e bt eeat e e bt e s ab e et e e sab e et e e sht e e bt e sat e e bt e eht e e beesabeenbeeshaeebeenates 2,722,290 3,096,382
OPLIONS WITEEETI....euvivietieiietieeiesteete et etesteeaesteesesteesbesseessesseesseessesseessesseessesseessesseensesses 84,752 70,903
Options PUICRASEA ......cvieieiieiieit ettt 92,306 83,524
3,055,680 3,338,215
Foreign exchange:

Swaps, futures and fOrwards .........cocoeeiiriiieee e 931,756 866,835
OPLONS WITEEETI....euvivietietieie et ettt eee st e e st eae e etesseessesseenseessenseeneesseeneenseensesseensenes 96,815 117,088
OptioNS PUICRASEA ......oviieiiiieiieiieiece ettt s be s e sneenaeseas 93,521 118,350
I 0o F TP 69,689 58,700
1,191,781 1,160,973

Commodities, equities and precious metals:
Swaps, futures and fOrwards .........cooeeieiieiiiie e 39,102 48,263
OPLONS WITEEETI....euvitieiietieieeiett ettt et e see st eae st ebesae e beeseesseeseenseeseenseeneenseensesseensenes 16,223 18,015
OptioNS PUICRASEA ... ooviiiiiieiieiieieee ettt b e e s re s e sneenaeeeas 29,812 23,452
85,137 89,730
CTedit AETTVATIVES .. .vievieiiiieiieeiieeiee et e et et e et e st e eteeeteeebeestbeesbeesaseenseessseesaessseenseessseansenns 209,944 240,737
TOtAL vttt ettt ettt et e e st et et e e b e ra e b et b et e st e beesaenreesaeereenteereeneenns $ 4,542,542 $ 4,829,655

10.  Fair Value Option

We report our results to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"),
which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"). We typically have elected to apply fair value option ("FVO")
accounting to selected financial instruments to align the measurement attributes of those instruments under U.S. GAAP and the
Group Reporting Basis and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financial instruments. We elected to apply FVO
accounting to certain commercial loans held for sale, certain securities sold under repurchase agreements, certain fixed-rate long-
term debt issuances and hybrid instruments which include all structured notes and structured deposits. Changes in fair value for
these assets and liabilities are reported as gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives in the consolidated
statement of income.
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Loans We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercial syndicated loans which are originated with the intent to sell
and certain commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain
total return swaps and include these loans as loans held for sale in the consolidated balance sheet. The election allows us to account
for these loans at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Interest from these loans
is recorded as interest income in the consolidated statement of income. Because a substantial majority of the loans elected for the
fair value option are floating rate assets, changes in their fair value are primarily attributable to changes in loan-specific credit risk
factors. The components of gain (loss) related to loans designated at fair value are summarized in the table below. As of September 30,
2015, there was a fair value option loan in nonaccrual status, which had a fair value of $19 million and an unpaid principal balance
of $22 million, and there were no fair value option loans 90 days or more past due. As of December 31, 2014, no loans for which
the fair value option has been elected were 90 days or more past due or in nonaccrual status.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FVO accounting for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we
had applied or otherwise would elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows us to achieve a similar accounting
effect without having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. The own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary
markets and, as such, the fair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instruments. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of changes to our own credit spreads and interest rates. Interest on the fixed-rate debt
accounted for under FVO is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss)
related to long-term debt designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Repurchase Agreements We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain securities sold under repurchase agreements which are
trading in nature. The election allows us to account for these repurchase agreements at fair value which is consistent with the
manner in which the instruments are managed. The fair value of the repurchase agreements is determined using market rates
currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and maturities. Interest on these repurchase
agreements is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related to
repurchase agreements designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply FVO accounting to all of our hybrid instruments issued, inclusive of structured notes
and structured deposits. The valuation of the hybrid instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded
within the instruments. Cash flows of the hybrid instruments in their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted
at an appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied
to structured notes are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in the primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and structured note rates in recent executions while the credit spreads applied to structured deposits are
determined using market rates currently offered on comparable deposits with similar characteristics and maturities. Interest on this
debt is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income. The components of gain (loss) related to hybrid
instruments designated at fair value which reflect the instruments described above are summarized in the table below.

The following table summarizes the fair value and unpaid principal balance for items we account for under FVO:

Unpaid Principal
Fair Value Balance

(in millions)

At September 30, 2015
Commercial loans held for sale.........c.coueoiiviiiiiriiiiirceeeeee $ 175 $ 181
Fixed rate long-term debt ............cccooiiiiiiiiiniii e 2,014 1,750
Repurchase agre@ments ... ........cecveiieriieieniieieriieieee ettt se et sre e eseessenseesnenes 2,064 2,060
Hybrid instruments:
Structured dEPOSIES .....vevieieriieieeiiete ettt ettt ae sttt sttt e et eneesneennes 6,485 6,486
SHUCTUTEA TMOTES .ottt et e a e e et e eeeaeeeeeeseeeeaanaas 6,620 7,046
At December 31, 2014
Commercial loans held for sale..........cocoviiiiiiiiiii e $ 384  $ 390
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt............coceveiiiiniiiniiiiicc e 2,179 1,750
Hybrid instruments:
Structured AEPOSILS .....coververieriereieieteiteteeet ettt e 7,346 7,176
SHIUCTUIEA TOTES ...ttt ettt sttt sttt et b e sae e 6,612 6,275
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Components of Gain (Loss) on Instruments at Fair Value and Related Derivatives Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair
value and related derivatives includes the changes in fair value related to interest, credit and other risks as well as the mark-to-
market adjustment on the related derivatives and the net realized gains or losses on these derivatives. The following table summarizes
the components of gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives related to the changes in fair value
of the financial instrument accounted for under FVO:

Hybrid
Instruments
and
Long-Term  Repurchase
Loans Debt Agreements Total

(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

Interest rate and other components" ................c.coooovevrrierirrieereens $ — 3 (100) $ 497 $ 397
Credit risk component®® ..., (6)) 96 61 156
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAIUC ..ottt ) “) 558 553
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives .........c.ccceeeeveeircenicnenicnennns — 98 (503) (405)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 17 — 17
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
ETIVALIVES .. cuiiiiiiieetei ettt s $ @ s 111 § 55 $ 165
Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate and other components™ ................cco.coooirrioriirrerrnnnnne. $ 1 $ 24) $ 70 $ 47
Credit risk component®® ... ..o — 7 15 22
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAIUE ..ot 1 a7 85 69
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives .........c.ccceeeeveeenvcnicncnicncnnns — 14 (64) (50)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 17 — 17
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
QOTIVALIVES et e et e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeaeeereeeenan $ 1 $ 14 $ 21 $ 36
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Interest rate and other components™ ................cocoooivviiroevcireeree, $ — $ 50) $ 419 § 369
Credit risk component®® ..., Q) 214 18 223
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VALUC ....cviiiicitrtcttcetc ettt Q) 164 437 592
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives ...........cccceeeeeeiecieiceiniennnenne — 41 (378) 337)
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 51 — 51
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
EIIVALIVES ..ttt $ 9 $ 256 $ 59 § 306
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
Interest rate and other components” ................ccccoooevvvireirecrierree, $ 1 3 a1e7) $ (413) S (579)
Credit risk component® .._........c...coooviiiieireeee e — (20) 48 28
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments designated at fair
VAIUE ..ottt 1 (187) (365) (551)
Mark-to-market on the related derivatives .........ccccccecveveeevvininininennns — 134 386 520
Net realized gain on the related long-term debt derivatives.................. — 51 — 51
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
ETIVALIVES ...ttt $ 1 $ 2) 3 21§ 20

M As it relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.

@ During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the gains in the credit risk component for long-term debt were attributable to the widening of

our own credit spreads. During the three months ended September 30, 2014, the gain in the credit risk component for long-term debt was attributable to the
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widening of our own credit spreads while the loss during the nine months ended September 30, 2014 was attributable to the tightening of our own credit

spreads.
3)

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the gains in the credit risk component for hybrid instruments and repurchase agreements were

attributable primarily to the widening of credit spreads on structured deposits and, in the three month period, the widening of our own credit spreads related
to structured notes. These gains were partially offset in the year-to-date period by a loss due to changes in estimates associated with the valuation techniques
used to measure the fair value of certain structured notes and deposits. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the gains in the credit
risk component for hybrid instruments and repurchase agreements were attributable primarily to the widening of credit spreads on structured deposits and

structured notes.

11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of
shareholders’ equity. The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balances:

Three Months Ended September 30,

2015 2014

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:
Balance at be@inning Of PEIIOQ. ........eoueuiiiriiieiietee ettt b ettt sttt s bt s e et b et et e st es et et e bt et et en e et et e e e nean
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $2 million and $(44) million, respectively .......c.c.cocovvrenne.

Reclassification adjustment for (gains) losses realized in net income, net of tax of $(4) million and $(10) million,
TESPECEIVELY' ..ttt b et e a sttt b bt h bt e a e ea et a e bt b e st b et a e bttt h b b et bttt n e a et et be b

Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $3 million and less than $1 million, reSPECtIVELY® .............covevveevereeeeeeeeeeeee e eeees e

Total other comprehensive income (10SS) fOr PEIIOQ. .......cerviueiririiuiiirieiiiririe ettt ettt et
Balance at €N OF PEIIOA .....c..oueueiiieiiiieiei ettt b et et b et bt s e bbbkt a s e b sttt b ettt b et ettt
Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:

Balance at be@inning Of PEIIOQ. ........eueuiiirieieiiriee ettt sttt ae st et st e b s s et e bt e s e st es e e e st e bt et et en et et et eneneen

Reclassification adjustment related to the accretion of unrealized other-than-temporary impairment, net of tax of $4
INETION™ Lottt

Total other comprehensive INCOME fOr PETIOM.......c.euiirieuiiriiiiiieieit ettt sttt ettt ebe e
Balance at €nd O PEIIOM . .......coui ittt s e b bttt b bttt b bbbt b e bt b ettt naen
Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:

Balance at beginning of period

Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(19) million and $(4) million, respectively .........cocevvvrrrrrnrennne.

Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $1 million and less than $1 million,
respectively® ...

Total other comprehensive income (10SS) O PETIOW.........euieiriirieieiiiee ettt e e enenee
Balance at €0d O PETIOM ........ooueieiriiieieerie ettt ettt ettt e be st e st et e b eseene et et e st e s et e st et e s ens e st es e s e st eneese e en et e seneenennen
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:

Balance at beginning and end Of PEIIOA .........c.eiriiuiiiiriiieie ettt et sttt bbbt

Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at end of period.....................ocoiiiiiiiiiiiiciiieeee s
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@83) $ 287
7 (71)
¥ 17

5 1
5 (87)
(78) 200
— (57)
— 6
— 6
— (€2
(144) (118)
34) (6)
2 1
32) (%)
(176) (123)
1)) 2
(256) $ 28



HSBC USA Inc.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at beginning of period $ 158 $ (18)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(126) million and $157 million, respectively ................... (210) 243
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income, net of tax of $(26) million and $(16) million, respectively .. 43) (26)
Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income, net of tax of $10 million and less than $1 million, respectively 17 1
Total other comprehensive income (10Ss) fOr PEIIOM.........c.ccuiuiuiriiiiuiiirieiiiriei ettt (236) 218
Balance at @0 OF PEIIO.........o.cueirieuiirieiciirietctre ettt ettt a et b et b et bbbt a bttt b et nene (78) 200
Unrealized losses on other-than-temporarily impaired debt securities held-to-maturity:
Balance at beginning Of PETIOQ..........cccuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ettt — (60)
Reclassification adjustment related to the accretion of unrealized other-than-temporary impairment, net of tax of $7
INLIION™ Lottt s ettt e st e s et e st bt e et e s et ea s en e ee b e st eh R et e Rt ket en e en e ee et en e e b et en e e st et et eneeneebenneneanens — 9
Total other comprehensive iNCOME fOr PETIOM. .......cveiruirieieirieieieteee ettt ettt e st esesaeneesesseneeneesenne — 9
Balance at €nd Of PEITOd........c.ccouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb — (62
Unrealized losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at beginning Of PETIOQ. .......c.cuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiree ettt ettt bbbttt (156) (83)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(12) million and $(28) million, respectively .................... (25) 42)
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income, net of tax of $3 million and $2 million, respectively™........... 5 2
Total other comprehensive income (10Ss) fOr PEIiod...........ccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiir s (20) (40)
Balance at @nd Of PEIIOq........c.cuoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie bbb (176) (123)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at beginning 0f PEIIOQ...........couiuiuiiiiiiiiiice et e 3) 2
Other comprehensive income for period:
Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liability, net of tax of less than $1 million 1 —
Total other comprehensive iNCOME fOr PETIOM. ... ..cveieuirierieirieieieteeee ettt ettt st et et e st esesaeseesessesseneesenne 1 —
Balance at and end 0f PEITOd .........c.cuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii bbb ?2) 2
Total accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at end of period......................ccooiiiiiiiicees $ (256) $ 28

(]
)

A3)
“)

Amount reclassified to net income is included in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income.

Amount amortized to net income is included in interest income in our consolidated statement of income. During the third quarter of 2014, we transferred
securities from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. At the date of transfer, AOCI included net pretax unrealized losses of $234 million related to the
transferred securities which will be amortized over the remaining contractual life of each security as an adjustment of yield in a manner consistent with the
amortization of any premium or discount.

Amount reclassified to the carrying value of the debt securities is included in securities held-to-maturity in our consolidated balance sheet.

Amount reclassified to net income is included in interest income (expense) in our consolidated statement of income.
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12. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan The components of pension expense for the defined benefit pension plan recorded in our
consolidated statement of income and shown in the table below reflect the portion of pension expense of the combined HSBC
North America Pension Plan (either the "HBSC North America Pension Plan" or the "Plan") which has been allocated to us.

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Service cost — benefits earned during the period ..........cocoooeviiieniiiniiiineeee $ 2 $ 1 $ 5 3 3
Interest cost on projected benefit 0bligation.........c.ccoevievieieiieiniininininneeeeeee 18 17 51 53
Expected return on plan assets.........cceeverirenenenienienieieieeeeeeeese e (22) (22) (68) (64)
Amortization of net actuarial l0SS..........eecuerieiiirieiiieieeeiee et 10 8 29 27

PENSION EXPEINSE ..vvvieveeiieiiiteiieteeieteatetetete e ete st testesesaeseesesessesessesesseseesansesansesesesensesens $ 8 § 4 S 17 $ 19

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC North America made an additional contribution of $46 million to the Plan.

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions The components of net periodic benefit cost for our postretirement plans other than
pension are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest cost on accumulated benefit obligation............ccoceeeieieiiniiiniiiie e $ 1 S 1 $ 2 3 2
Amortization of net actuarial AN ............coccervirririerierieieieeeee s — — — (1)
Net periodic postretirement benefit COSt..........oovirririiviiviirieiiieieieeeeee e $ 1 § 1 3 2 3 1
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13. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. These transactions occur at prevailing
market rates and terms and include funding arrangements, derivative transactions, servicing arrangements, information technology
support, centralized support services, banking and other miscellaneous services. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit
exposures of) HSBC Bank USA to other HSBC affiliates (other than Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insured
banks) are legally required to be secured by eligible collateral. The following tables and discussions below present the more
significant related party balances and the income (expense) generated by related party transactions:

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Assets:
Cash and due from DANKS ..........c.ooviuiiiiiiiiececeeeeeee ettt $ 250 $ 140
Interest bearing deposits With Danks ..........cccoooieriiiiiiiiiieee e 362 928
Securities purchased under agreements to resell!)..............coooviveioeeeeeeeeeee e 5,500 —
Trading assets® 21,274 20,194
Loans.....cccoevvvvvvevvcnnnnnn.. 5,447 4,821
ORET™ ..t 517 983
TOEAL @SSELS ...ttt ettt e et a e st eeae et e e a e et e e e e et eeaeeeeees s e e e sateeesateeae st enaesteeaesnesaeenens $ 33350 $§ 27,066
Liabilities:
DIEPOSIES ...vvevveviietiteeeet ettt ettt et ettt et et e te et te st te b ete b eteebese e b e st b e st b et et e st et et ete s ete s eteeseneebeseebens $ 21,898 $§ 16,596
Trading liabilities” 20,691 21,130
Short-term borrowings 1,811 847
o) Y 15 0 6 <1 o TSROSO 1,825 3,981
ORET™ ...t 846 459
TOtAl THADIIIEIES. ..ottt ettt e et se et e st et e e b e st e s besbess e s e se st ensenseneeneeneeseeneeneas $ 47,071 § 43,013

M Reflects overnight purchases of U.S. Treasury securities which HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI") has agreed to repurchase.

@ Trading assets and trading liabilities do not reflect the impact of netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions

are met. Trading assets and liabilities primarily consist of derivatives contracts.

® " Other assets and other liabilities primarily consist of derivative contracts.
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Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)

Income/(Expense):

INTETEST INCOME ...ttt $ 28 $ 14 S 8 $ 43

INEEIEST EXPEIISE ...t s (19) (19) 41) (56)
Net interest iNCOME (EXPEIISE).....couerueruerrirreriertertertertetertetetertesessesreetessessestessessessensense 9 (5) 45 (13)
Trading revenue (EXPENSE)........cccoviuimiiiiriiiiriiiiiiiiiieeie et 72 (546) 441 159
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates:

HSBC Bank PlC......cueoieiirieiinieirieiiciiceeee ettt 23 12 60 38

HSBC FInance Corporation .........c..coceerererierienienieteteeeeeesesieeiesie s seesseseeseeneene 11 22 40 63

HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") ...ooiiiiiieeeieeeee e 6 8 19 15

Other HSBC affiliates ......c.cccccivueiriiiniiiriiieceeceeeeneeseeeeeeeeee e 13 11 43 35
Total servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates........ccccccevvvinvininincnincncnenne 53 53 162 151
Gain (loss) on instruments designed at fair value and related derivatives................... (535) (80) (405) 284
Support services from HSBC affiliates:

HMUS Lottt (66) (56) 199) (167)

HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU")..c.coveiveneineineneneccnecneeane (250) (274) (754) (798)

Other HSBC affiliates ......ccceeiririririniinienieneieee ettt 45) (58) (145) (162)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccceoevveciiiieniniininininnencccee (361) (388) (1,098) (1,127)
Stock based compensation expense with HSBC™!.............cocooviiiiroeieceeeeeceees (12) (18) (40) (36)
o

Employees may participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in salaries and employee benefits
in our consolidated statement of income. Employees also may participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement plans sponsored by
HSBC North America which are discussed in Note 12, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits."

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

We use HSBC affiliates to fund a portion of our borrowing and liquidity needs. At December 31,2014, long-term debt with affiliates
reflected $4.0 billion in floating rate senior debt with HSBC North America. During the first quarter of 2015, we repaid this debt
in full. At September 30, 2015, long-term debt with affiliates reflected $1.0 billion in floating rate senior debt and $0.9 billion in
floating rate subordinated debt with HSBC North America. These borrowings were issued during the second quarter of 2015 and
mature in December 2016 and May 2025, respectively. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,"
for additional details.

We have a $150 million uncommitted line of credit with HSBC North America Inc. ("HNAI") although there was no outstanding
balance at either September 30, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

We have also incurred short-term borrowings with certain affiliates, largely securities sold under repurchase agreements with HSI
In addition, certain affiliates have also placed deposits with us.

Lending and Derivative Related Arrangements Extended to HSBC Affiliates:
At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, we have the following loan balances outstanding with HSBC affiliates:

September 30, December 31,
2

015 2014
(in millions)
HSBC Finance COTPOTAtION ..........cvcueeveuiiveeiirieeetieeetieesieseseesetessesesseseesessesessesessessssesesesessessssessssessssenes $ 3,014 § 3,014
HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS") and SubSidiaries ..........ccceeeveerreeiiesiiiereenieesieeseeesieesveevee e 506 563
HSBC Bank Brasil S.A. .......ooioiiiiiiieieieieteetet ettt ettt ettt st st besse e sse s essessesaeseessaseesesseeseses 1,102 1,108
HSBEOC MEXICO S.A. ottt ettt ettt et e ste e e st e esseetaesseessesseasaasseeseeseessesseassesseessesssensassaessanseens 725 75
Other short-term affiliate lending.........cccoooiiiiiiiiiiie e 100 61
TOTAL LOAIS ....vveeeveeceee ettt ettt e et e e teeeaa e et e e eaaeeeteeeaseeteeeneeeeteeeneeenteeeaseenaeeenseeteeeneeentes S 5,447 $ 4,821
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HSBC Finance Corporation We have extended a $5.0 billion, 364-day uncommitted unsecured revolving credit agreement to
HSBC Finance which expires during the fourth quarter of 2016. The credit agreement allows for borrowings with maturities of
up to 5 years. At both September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, $3.0 billion was outstanding under this credit agreement with
$0.5 billion maturing in September 2017, $1.5 billion maturing in January 2018 and $1.0 billion maturing in September 2018. We
have also extended a committed revolving credit facility to HSBC Finance of $1.0 billion which did not have any outstanding
balance at either September 30, 2015 or December 31, 2014. This credit facility expires in May 2017.

HMUS and subsidiaries We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the
amount of $10.7 billion and $6.7 billion at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, of which $506 million and
$563 million, respectively, was outstanding. The maturities of the outstanding borrowings range from overnight to three months.
Each borrowing is re-evaluated prior to its maturity date and either extended or allowed to mature.

HSBC Bank Brasil S.A. We have extended uncommitted lines of credit to HSBC Bank Brasil in the amount of $1.2 billion, of
which $1.1 billion was outstanding, at both September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The outstanding balances
mature at various stages between 2016 and 2018.

HSBC Mexico S.A. We have extended an uncommitted line of credit to HSBC Mexico in the amount of $1.2 billion, of which
$725 million and $75 million was outstanding, at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The outstanding
balances mature at various stages between 2016 and 2018.

We have extended lines of credit to various other HSBC affiliates totaling $2.1 billion which did not have any outstanding balances
at either September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

Other short-term affiliate lending In addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may
extend loans to affiliates which are generally short term in nature. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, there were
$100 million and $61 million, respectively, of these loans outstanding.

HUSI is also committed to provide liquidity facilities to backstop the liquidity risk in Regency, an asset-backed commercial paper
conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate, in relation to assets originated in the U.S. The notional amount of the liquidity facilities
provided by HUSI to Regency was approximately $3.1 billion as of September 30, 2015, which is less than half of Regency's total
liquidity facilities.

As part of a global HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risks associated with certain securities, debt issues and
derivative contracts with unaffiliated third parties, we routinely enter into derivative transactions with HSBC Finance, HSBC Bank
plc and other HSBC affiliates. The notional value of derivative contracts related to these transactions was approximately $1,011.4
billion and $1,082.6 billion at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined as the
net fair value of derivative assets and liabilities, including any collateral recevied) related to the contracts was approximately $142
million and $1,166 million at September 30,2015 and December 31,2014, respectively. Our Global Banking and Markets business
accounts for these transactions on a mark to market basis, with the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially
offset by the change in value of related contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.

Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multiple service level agreements, we provide services to and receive services from various HSBC affiliates. The following
summarizes these activities:

» Servicing activities for residential mortgage loans across North America are performed both by us and HSBC Finance. As a
result, we receive servicing fees from HSBC Finance for services performed on their behalf and pay servicing fees to HSBC
Finance for services performed on our behalf. The fees we receive from HSBC Finance are reported in servicing and other
fees from HSBC affiliates. Fees we pay to HSBC Finance are reported in support services from HSBC affiliates. This includes
fees paid for the servicing of residential mortgage loans (with a carrying amount of $731 million and $837 million at September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively) that we purchased from HSBC Finance in 2003 and 2004.

+ HSBC North America's technology and certain centralized support services including human resources, corporate affairs, risk
management, legal, compliance, tax, finance and other shared services that are centralized within HTSU. HTSU also provides
certain item processing and statement processing activities to us. The fees we pay HTSU for the centralized support services
and processing activities are included in support services from HSBC affiliates. We also receive fees from HTSU for providing
certain administrative services to them. The fees we receive from HTSU are included in servicing and other fees from HSBC
affiliates. In certain cases, for facilities used by HTSU, we may guarantee their performance under the lease agreements.

*  We use HSBC Global Services Limited, an HSBC affiliate located outside of the United States, to provide various support
services to our operations including among other areas, customer service, systems, collection and accounting functions. The
expenses related to these services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates.

*  We utilize HSI for broker dealer, debt underwriting, customer referrals, loan syndication and other treasury and traded markets
related services, pursuant to service level agreements. Fees charged by HSI for broker dealer, loan syndication services, treasury
and traded markets related services are included in support services from HSBC affiliates. Debt underwriting fees charged by
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HSI are deferred as a reduction of long-term debt and amortized to interest expense over the life of the related debt. Customer
referral fees paid to HSI are netted against customer fee income, which is included in other fees and commissions.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates

We received revenue from our affiliates for rent on certain office space, which has been recorded as a component of support services
from HSBC affiliates. Rental revenue from our affiliates totaled $15 million and $44 million during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $14 million and $41 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014, respectively.

14. Business Segments

We have four distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB"). There have been no changes in the basis of our
segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Our segment results are presented in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which apply IFRS and, as
a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the Group Reporting Basis (a
non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about
allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. However, we continue to monitor capital adequacy,
establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis.

We are currently in the process of re-evaluating the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and
content of the U.S. GAAP financial data being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changes to this
reporting in 2015, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

A summary of differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are presented in Note 23,
"Business Segments," in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since December 31, 2014 in the differences
between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis.
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The following table summarizes the results for each segment on a Group Reporting Basis, as well as provides a reconciliation of
total results under the Group Reporting Basis to U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
Group Repor.ting
Adjustments/ Reporting Basis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling Basis Reclassi-  Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustments“) fications® Totals
(in millions)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015
Net interest income™" ......... $ 192 $ 214 $ 142 $ 49 $ (5 $ @A s 591 3 a9 s 45 3 617
Other operating income...... 85 82 287 26 109 1 590 an (48) 531
Total operating income ...... 277 296 429 75 104 — 1,181 30) 3) 1,148
Loan impairment charges... 14 24 5 @ — — 42 4 1 47

263 272 424 76 104 — 1,139 34) “) 1,101
Operating expenses® ......... 267 184 247 62 37 — 797 ) @) 786
Profit (loss) before income
taX EXPENSC...vrvereenrerenrenenns $ @ $ 88 $ 177 $ 14 § 67 $ — 3 342 § 27 $ — 3 315
Three Months Ended September 30, 2014
Net interest income™" ......... $ 196 $ 204 $ 74 $ 47 $ (2 $ 8 § 527 % 20) $ 36§ 543
Other operating income...... 98 90 191 28 23 ) 422 7 (43) 386
Total operating income ...... 294 294 265 75 21 — 949 (13) 7 929
Loan impairment charges... 11 29 11 “4) — — 47 (14) (10) 23

283 265 254 79 21 — 902 1 3 906
Operating expenses® ......... 343 169 553 58 30 — 1,153 (222) 3 934
Profit (loss) before income
(aX CXPENSE...voeeeee $ (60) 8 96 8 (299) 8 21 8 OV 8 — 8 @D S 23§ — § (2
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
Net interest income'"......... $ 584 $ 626 $ 392 $ 148 S (16) $ © $ 1,725 $ G1) $ 175 $ 1,849
Other operating income...... 258 230 772 77 266 9 1,612 36) (178) 1,398
Total operating income....... 842 856 1,164 225 250 — 3,337 87) 3) 3,247
Loan impairment charges... 51 38 17 ?) — — 104 9 0)) 94

791 818 1,147 227 250 — 3,233 (78) ) 3,153
Operating expenses” ......... 848 538 770 178 114 — 2,448 (33) ) 2,413
Profit (loss) before income
taX EXPENSC...vrnerreererereaenes $ (37) $ 280 $ 377 § 49 S$ 136 $§ — $ 785 § 45 8 — $ 740
Balances at end of -
period:
Total assets.......ccocreueurunnee $20,106 $32,214 $196,535 $8491 §$ 787 $ — $258,133 § (54,496) $ 729 $ 204,366
Total loans, net................... 17,146 30,976 25,025 6,711 — — 79,858 286 4,120 84,264
GoodWill .....oveeenieiciiienne 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits™ .................. 30,631 23,209 31,621 13,137 — — 98,598 (5,167) 38,019 131,450
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Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
Group Repor.ting
Adjustments/ Reporting Basis U.S. GAAP
Reconciling asis Reclassi-  Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB Other Items Total Adjustmentsm fications® Totals

(in millions)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2014
Net interest income" ......... $§ 606 § 593 § 280 $ 152§ 63 S (1) $ 1,693 § 1) $ 93 $ 1,735
Other operating income...... 315 222 636 78 10 1 1,262 3) (112) 1,147
Total operating income ...... 921 815 916 230 73 — 2,955 (54) (19) 2,882
Loan impairment charges... 34 119 66 ) — — 210 (62) (24) 124

887 696 850 239 73 — 2,745 5 2,758

Operating expenses® ......... 920 501 1,031 174 83 — 2,709 (154) 5 2,560
Profit (loss) before income
taX EXPENSe......c.evvveveveunenne $ (33 $ 195 $§ (181) § 65 $ (10) $ — 36 $ 162 $ — 3 198
Balances at end of -
period:
Total assets......c.coeveeruerenene $19,339 $27,769 $169,686 $7,670 $ 839 $ — $225303 $ (50,353) $ 62 $§ 175,012
Total loans, net.................. 16,491 26,626 20,056 5,981 — — 69,154 1,224 2,430 72,808
Goodwill ......ccceueuiuriiinnne 581 358 — 325 — — 1,264 348 — 1,612
Total deposits™ ................ 28,515 22,616 30,663 11,221 — — 93,015 (3,758) 19,420 108,677

M Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest paid on liabilities of the segment adjusted
for a funding charge or credit. Segments are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive a funding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer
deposits) based on equivalent market rates. The objective of these charges/credits is to transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit
in Balance Sheet Management and more appropriately reflect the profitability of segments.

@ Expenses for the segments include fully apportioned corporate overhead expenses.

@ During the second quarter of 2015, we concluded that brokered deposits would be better presented as debt under the Group Reporting Basis. As a result, we
reclassified $2.1 billion of brokered deposits in the GB&M segment to debt at September 30, 2014 to conform with current year presentation.

@ Represents adjustments associated with differences between the Group Reporting Basis and the U.S. GAAP basis of accounting.

) Represents differences in financial statement presentation between Group Reporting Basis and U.S. GAAP.

15.

Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Bank dividends are a source of funds used for payment of shareholder dividends and other HSBC USA cash needs. Any non-
contractual dividend from HSBC Bank USA would require the approval of the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("the
OCC"). Approval is also required if the total of all dividends HSBC Bank USA declares in any year exceeds the cumulative net
profits for that year, combined with the profits for the two preceding years reduced by dividends attributable to those years. Under
a separate restriction, payment of dividends is prohibited in amounts greater than undivided profits then on hand, after deducting
actual losses and bad debts. Bad debts are debts due and unpaid for a period of six months unless well secured, as defined, and in

the process of collection.
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The following table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance
with banking regulations in effect as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Capital Well-Capitalized Actual Capital Well-Capitalized Actual
Amount Ratio" Ratio Amount Ratio" Ratio

(dollars are in millions)

Total capital ratio:"

HSBC USA.....cooeieiieieie $ 24,346 10.00% 16.33% § 21,017 10.00% 15.78%

HSBC Bank USA.........ccccuenee. 26,605 10.00 18.60 22,760 10.00 17.86
Tier 1 capital ratio:®)

HSBC USA ... 18,952 6.00 12.71 15,205 6.00 11.41

HSBC Bank USA........ccceueneee. 22,311 8.00 15.59 17,215 8.00 13.51
Common equity Tier 1 ratio:®)

HSBC USA ..o, 17,965 450 @ 12.05 13,754 450 @ 1033

HSBC Bank USA.........ccccuenee. 20,004 6.50 13.98 17,215 6.50 13.51
Tier 1 leverage ratio:

HSBC USA oo 18,952 400 @ 952 15,205 400 @ 854

HSBC Bank USA........ccoceuenne. 22,311 5.00 11.60 17,215 5.00 10.06
Risk weighted assets:"”

HSBC USA ... 149,085 133,211

HSBC Bank USA.........ccccuenee. 143,072 127,456

(™ HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as "well-capitalized," as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized as well-capitalized under
regulatory guidelines, a banking institution must have the ratios reflected in the above table, and must not be subject to a directive, order, or written agreement
to meet and maintain specific capital levels. The regulatory ratios for an institution to be well-capitalized under Basel I1I became effective beginning January
1, 2015 and the new ratios are shown for both periods.

@ There are no common equity Tier 1 or Tier 1 leverage ratio components in the definition of a well-capitalized bank holding company. The ratios shown in
both periods are the required regulatory minimum ratios beginning in 2015.

®  Risk weighted assets are calculated under the Basel 111 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015, replacing the Basel I risk-based
approach used in 2014.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulators issued a final rule implementing the Basel III capital framework in the U.S. ("the Basel I1I final
rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, took effect January 1, 2014 with
certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. As a result, the capital ratios in the table above are
reported in accordance with the Basel III transition rules within the final rule. In addition, the Basel III final rule introduced the
Standardized Approach for risk weighted assets, which replaced the Basel I risk-based guidance for determining risk weighted
assets for banking organizations and came into effect on January 1, 2015.

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previously issued to HSBC North
Americaand HSBC Bank USArepaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issued to HSBC USA. In conjunction
with these repayments, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its immediate parent, HNAI, in exchange
for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributions to its subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA, of $2,400 million
in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares of non-cumulative preferred stock.
These capital actions were taken to support our growth strategy and to strengthen the Basel I1I regulatory capital positions of both
HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA exercised the option to call $560 million of junior subordinated debentures
previously issued by HSBC USA to HSBC USA Capital Trusts I, IT and I1I at the contractual call prices of 100.781 percent, 100.84
percent and 100.732 percent, respectively, which resulted in a net loss on extinguishment of approximately $11 million. The trusts
used the proceeds to redeem the trust preferred securities previously issued to third party investors. During the second quarter of
2015, HSBC USA also redeemed all of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative
Preferred Stock at their stated values of $100 per share and $50 per share, respectively, resulting in a total cash payment of $300
million. Under the Basel III final rule, the trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock will fully phase out
of Tier 1 capital to Tier 2 capital by January 1, 2016. In addition, the trust preferred securities will start phasing out of Tier 2 capital
in 2016 and fully phase out by January 1, 2022. In response to these rule changes, the capital instruments were redeemed and
HSBC USA issued $850 million of Tier 2 subordinated debt to HSBC North America in the second quarter of 2015.
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16. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPEs") primarily to structure financial products
to meet our clients' investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPEs based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. An SPE is a VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impacts the entity's economic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or in the aggregate could be significant enough to warrant our designation as the primary beneficiary and hence require
us to consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be significant
where we, among other things, (i) provide liquidity put options or other liquidity facilities to support the VIE's debt obligations;
(i) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from the assets held by the VIE; (iii) provide a
financial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilities issued; (iv) design, organize and structure the transaction; and (v) retain a
financial or servicing interest in the VIE.

We are required to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In almost all
cases, a qualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder is required to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs The following table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIEs as of September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014 which are consolidated on our balance sheets. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances
that eliminate on consolidation.

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

(in millions)

Low income housing limited liability partnership:

OTHET @SSELS .nvvvveiee ettt ettt e e e e et eeeeeeeeaeeeseseeaseeesseseanees $ 338 $ — $ 380 $ —
Long-term debt.........ccccoeviiiiiiiniiiiiiieenereseeeeeeene — 92 — 92
Interest, taxes and other liabilities.........c..ccveeveeeiiiiiieeiicieeereeneee — 69 — 75
o] 7:1 USRS $ 338 $ 161 $ 380 §$ 167

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, all low income housing investments held by us at the time were
transferred to a Limited Liability Partnership ("LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while a third party invested cash for an
equity interest that is mandatorily redeemable at a future date. The LLP was created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax
benefits from these low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity
investment at risk to finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
of the LLP due to the nature of our continuing involvement and, as a result, consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest
issued to the third party investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLP in other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The
investments held by the LLP represent equity investments in the underlying low income housing partnerships. As a practical
expedient, we amortize the investments in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the proportional amortization method of
accounting and present such benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense. The LLP does not consolidate the
underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the partnerships that most significantly impact
the economic performance of the partnerships.
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Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIEs that are not consolidated because we are not the primary
beneficiary. The following table provides additional information on these unconsolidated VIEs, including the variable interests
held by us and our maximum exposure to loss arising from our involvements in these VIEs, as of September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014:

Variable Interests Variable Interests Total Assets in Maximum
Held Classified Held Classified Unconsolidated Exposure
as Assets as Liabilities VIEs to Loss

(in millions)

At September 30, 2015
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits...................... $ 85 § — 3 11,273 $ 3,097
Structured note VEhicles ..........ocviviriririnenenereiens 2,863 8 5,894 5,886
90 81 294 90
$ 3,038 $ 89 § 17,461 $ 9,073
At December 31, 2014
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits....................... $ 29 $ — 3 10,984 $ 2,685
Structured note vehicles .........coceevereiiiiiiiiiieeecee 2,841 7 5,867 5,860
Low income housing partnerships...........ccccoceverereneennee 44 39 141 44
TOtAL ettt $ 2914 $ 46 3 16,992 $ 8,589

Information on the types of variable interest entities with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable
interests held in those entities is presented below.

Asset-backed commercial paper ("ABCP") conduits We provide liquidity facilities to Regency, a multi-seller ABCP conduit
consolidated by an HSBC affiliate. Customers sell financial assets, such as trade receivables, to Regency, which funds the purchases
by issuing short-term highly-rated commercial paper collateralized by the assets acquired. We, along with other financial institutions,
provide liquidity facilities to Regency in the form of lines of credit or asset purchase commitments. These liquidity facilities support
transactions associated with a specific seller of assets to the conduit and we would only be required to provide support in the event
of certain triggers associated with those transactions and assets. Our obligations are generally pari passu with those of other
institutions that also provide liquidity support to the same conduit or for the same transactions. We do not provide any program-
wide credit enhancements to ABCP conduits.

Each seller of assets to an ABCP conduit typically provides credit enhancements in the form of asset overcollateralization and,
therefore, bears the risk of first loss related to the specific assets transferred. We do not transfer our own assets to Regency. We
also do not provide the majority of the liquidity facilities to Regency. We have no ownership interests in, perform no administrative
duties for, and do not service any of the assets held by Regency. We are not the primary beneficiary and do not consolidate Regency.
Credit risk related to the liquidity facilities provided is managed by subjecting these facilities to our normal underwriting and risk
management processes. The $3,097 million maximum exposure to loss presented in the table above represents the maximum
amount of loans and asset purchases we could be required to fund under the liquidity facilities. The maximum loss exposure is
estimated assuming the facilities are fully drawn and the underlying collateralized assets are in default with zero recovery value.

Structured note vehicles We provide derivatives, such as interest rate and currency swaps, to structured note vehicles and, in
certain instances, invest in the vehicles' debt instruments. We hold variable interests in these structured note vehicles in the form
of total return swaps under which we take on the risks and benefits of the structured notes they issue. The same risks and benefits
are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We earn a spread for facilitating the transaction. Since
we do not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and are not the primary beneficiary, we do not consolidate them. Our
maximum exposure to loss is the notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes. The maximum exposure to
loss will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notes is reduced to zero and, at the same time, the
counterparty of the back-end swap defaults with zero recovery. In certain instances, we hold credit default swaps with the structured
note vehicles under which we receive credit protection on specified reference assets in exchange for the payment of a premium.
Through these derivatives, the vehicles assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets which are then passed on to the
holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the credit default swaps we hold are
not considered variable interests. We record all investments in, and derivative contracts with, unconsolidated structured note
vehicles at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

Low income housing partnerships Separately from the low income housing LLP discussed above, we invest as a limited partner
in low income housing partnerships that operate qualified affordable housing projects and generate tax benefits, including federal
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low income housing tax credits, for investors. The partnerships are deemed to be VIEs because they do not have sufficient equity
investment at risk and are structured with non-substantive voting rights. We are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do
not consolidate them. Our investment in low income housing partnerships are recorded in other assets on the consolidated balance
sheet. As a practical expedient, we amortize the investment in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the proportional
amortization method of accounting and present such benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense. The maximum
exposure to loss shown in the table above represents our recorded investment.

Beneficial interests issued by third-party sponsored securitization entities We hold certain beneficial interests such as mortgage-
backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization entities which may be considered VIEs. The investments are
transacted at arm's-length and decisions to invest are based on a credit analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We
are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to direct the activities of these issuers. As such, we do not
consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other involvements in servicing or managing the collateral
assets or provide financial or liquidity support to these issuers which potentially give rise to risk of loss exposure. These investments
are an integral part of the disclosure in Note 3, "Securities," and Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements," and, therefore, are not
disclosed in this note to avoid redundancy.

17. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements

Guarantee Arrangements As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.

The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangements as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Following the table is a description of
the various arrangements.

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Notional / Notional /
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss

(in millions)

Credit derivatives™ ™ ...........ccoooiirriiiinireee e $ (3,382) $ 102,403 $§ (1.484) $ 117,768
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations®® ..........ccc.c...... — 5,873 — 5,358
Performance standby letters of credit, net of participations®® _................ — 3,159 — 3,083
Liquidity asset purchase agreements™ ..............occooovrereeeeeeeeeerereesrreeseens — 3,097 — 2,685
TOtAL ..t $ (3382) $ 114,532 § (1,484) $ 128,894

@ Includes $42,902 million and $32,688 million of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30,2015 and December 31,2014, respectively.
@ Includes $897 million and $937 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

@ For standby letters of credit and liquidity asset purchase agreements, maximum loss represents losses to be recognized assuming the letter of credit and

liquidity facilities have been fully drawn and the obligors have defaulted with zero recovery.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse

arrangements.

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees

Credit derivatives Credit derivatives are financial instruments that transfer the credit risk of a reference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
the form of credit default swaps, with various institutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
protection to a counterparty that holds the reference obligation, the arrangement is effectively a financial guarantee on the reference
obligation. Under a credit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimburse the credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of a credit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
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notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when a credit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.

We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net sell protection position at any time. The following table summarizes our net credit derivative positions as of September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Carrying / Fair Carrying / Fair
Value Notional Value Notional

(in millions)

Sell-protection credit derivative POSIHIONS ........ccceeerererererenueneneennes $ (3,382) $ 102,403 $ (1,484) § 117,768
Buy-protection credit derivative positions............ceceeevverervenrenveneennnn 3,633 107,541 1,741 122,969
NEt POSTON ... $ 251 $ 5,138 $ 257 $ 5,201

(" Ppositions are presented net in the table above to provide a complete analysis of our risk exposure and depict the way we manage our credit derivative portfolio.

The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.

Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit is issued to a third party for the benefit of a customer and is a guarantee that
the customer will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates us to pay a specified amount to
the third party beneficiary if the customer fails to perform the contractual obligation. We issue two types of standby letters of
credit: performance and financial. A performance standby letter of credit is issued where the customer is required to perform some
non-financial contractual obligation, such as the performance of a specific act, whereas a financial standby letter of credit is issued
where the customer's contractual obligation is of a financial nature, such as the repayment of a loan or debt instrument. As of
September 30, 2015, the total amount of outstanding financial standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance
guarantees (net of participations) were $5,873 million and $3,159 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2014, the total amount
of outstanding financial standby letters of credit (net of participations) and performance guarantees (net of participations) were
$5,358 million and $3,083 million, respectively.

The issuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing letters of credit commensurate with the customer's credit evaluation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other
liabilities are deferred fees on standby letters of credit amounting to $47 million and $50 million at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively. Also included in other liabilities is an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters
of credit of $18 million and $16 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the credit ratings related to guarantees including the ratings of counterparties against which we
sold credit protection and financial standby letters of credit as of September 30, 2015 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors or the Transactions

Average
Life Investment Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total
(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives"

Single name credit default swaps ("CDS").....ccceevevvvervecreennnne. 25 % 64,937 $ 16,350 $ 81,287

Structured CDS....o..oiiiiieeeece e 1.6 5,046 616 5,662

Index credit derivatives ........c.ecvvevveeieniieeenieeeesie e 3.2 3,864 7,873 11,737

Total TetUIN SWaPS.....coveveieieieiirerertestere et 2.4 3,315 402 3,717
SUDLOLAL ...ttt 77,162 25,241 102,403
Standby Letters of Credit® .............cco.ccovoivvieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens 1.0 6,312 2,720 9,032
0] 721 USROS $ 83,474 $ 27,961 $ 111,435

(" The credit ratings in the table represent external credit ratings for classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our internal credit ratings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based
on a scale which ranks the risk of default of a customer. The credit grades are assigned and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the customer's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performance to industry peers and perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratings to outside
external rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.

A non-investment grade rating of a referenced obligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Non Credit-Risk Related Guarantees and Other Arrangements

Liquidity asset purchase agreements We provide liquidity facilities to Regency, a multi-seller ABCP conduit consolidated by an
HSBC affiliate. Regency finances the purchase of individual assets by issuing commercial paper to third party investors. Each
liquidity facility is transaction specific and has a maximum limit. Pursuant to the liquidity agreements, we are obligated, subject
to certain limitations, to advance funds in an amount not to exceed the face value of the commercial paper in the event Regency
is unable or unwilling to refinance its commercial paper. A liquidity asset purchase agreement is economically a conditional written
put option issued to the conduit where the exercise price is the face value of the commercial paper. As of September 30, 2015 and
December 31,2014 we had issued $3,097 million and $2,685 million, respectively, of liquidity facilities to provide liquidity support
to ABCP conduits. See Note 16, "Variable Interest Entities," for further information.

Clearinghouses and exchanges We are a member of various exchanges and clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or
derivatives contracts. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, members of a clearinghouse
may be required to contribute to a guaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearinghouse. As a member, we may be
required to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member who defaults on its obligations to the exchange
or the clearinghouse. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had exhausted its resources.
Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated.

Securitization Activity In addition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage loans in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSI to facilitate HSI’s
whole loan securitization program which was discontinued in 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of such
loans to HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage Securitization Matters" in Note
28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2014 Form10-K for additional discussion of related exposure. There have been no
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significant changes with regards to this exposure since December 31, 2014. The outstanding principal balance on these loans was
approximately $5.3 billion and $5.7 billion at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations Historically, we originated and sold mortgage loans, primarily to government sponsored
entities, and provided various representations and warranties related to, among other things, the ownership of the loans, the validity
of the liens, the loan selection and origination process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by the agencies.
In the event of a breach of our representations and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with identified defects
or to indemnify the buyers. Our contractual obligation arises only when the breach of representations and warranties are discovered
and repurchase is demanded. As a result of settlements with FNMA and FHLMC during 2013 and 2014, the repurchase exposure
associated with these sales has been substantially resolved. In addition, with the conversion of our mortgage processing and
servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in 2013, new agency eligible originations are sold directly to PHH Mortgage and PHH
Mortgage is responsible for origination representations and warranties for all loans purchased.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider historical losses on
residual risks not covered by settlement agreements adjusted for any risk factors not captured in the historical losses as well as the
level of outstanding repurchase demands received. Outstanding repurchase demands received totaled $3 million at both September
30, 2015 and December 31, 2014.

The following table summarizes the change in our estimated repurchase liability during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2015 and 2014 for obligations arising from the breach of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Balance at beginning of Period ..........coceererirereinieiniee e $ 21 § 34 $ 27 S 99
Decrease in liability recorded through €arnings ............c.cccveceneeinenncnnenecnerenenens ?2) @) @) (38)
REAIZEA 10SSES ...ttt st s — — 1) (€28
Balance at end of Period ........ccoovveiirieiiiiieieceee e $ 19 § 30 $ 19 § 30

During the first quarter of 2014, we entered into a settlement with the FHLMC for $25 million, reflected in realized losses in the
liability rollforward above, which settled our liability for substantially all loans sold to FHLMC from January 1, 2000 through
2013. As a result of the settlement and a re-assessment of the residual exposure, we released $34 million in repurchase reserves.
We continue to maintain repurchase reserves for exposure associated with residual risks not covered by the settlement agreement.

Our remaining repurchase liability of $19 million at September 30, 2015 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been
incurred, including interest, arising from breaches of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold. Because
the level of mortgage loan repurchase losses is dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies and other external
risk factors such as housing market trends that may change, the level of the liability for mortgage loan repurchase losses requires
significant judgment. We continue to evaluate our methods of determining the best estimate of loss based on recent trends. As
these estimates are influenced by factors outside our control, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably
possible that they could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between
zero and $25 million at September 30, 2015. This estimated range of reasonably possible losses was determined based upon
modifying the assumptions utilized in our best estimate of probable losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible
adverse assumptions.
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Pledged Assets

Pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,
15

2014
(in millions)
Interest bearing deposits With Danks ..........ooceeriiiiiiiiiiieeee e e $ 942 § 415
Trading ASSCES ) ettt ettt ettt ee e er e 3,126 2,886
Securities available-for-sale®” 15,275 22,023
Securities held-t0-MAtUTIEY.........coiiiiieiiee ettt sttt sttt e s eeeeneenes 2,994 3,602
LOANS™) ..ottt 14,634 12,580
OhET ASSEES™ ......ooeeoeei et 1,601 2,495
TOMAL ettt ettt ettt ettt e et te e teett e teetteebeetteebe et e eteeteereeteereeaeereeteerbenteenaens $ 38572 § 44,001

M Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.

@ Securities available-for-sale are primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits, trust deposits and various short-term and long term borrowings,
as well as providing capacity for potential secured borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") and the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York.

®  Loans are primarily residential mortgage loans pledged against current and potential borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York.

@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to be reported on the consolidated
balance sheet. The fair value of securities available-for-sale that could be sold or repledged was $3,547 million and $8,348 million
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that could be sold or repledged was
$3,126 million and $2,886 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

The fair value of collateral we accepted under security resale agreements but not reported on the consolidated balance sheet was
$21,589 million and $7,165 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, discussed further below. Of this
collateral, $15,189 million and $6,765 million could be sold or repledged at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, of which $362 million and $2,226 million, respectively, had been sold or repledged as collateral under repurchase
agreements or to cover short sales.

Repurchase Agreements

We enter into purchases of securities under agreements to resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) identical or substantially the same securities. Resale and repurchase agreements are accounted
for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
it is our policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreements is regularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.
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The following table provides information about resale and repurchase agreements that are subject to offset as of September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet” Balance Sheet Instruments @ Pledged Net Amount @

(in millions)
As of September 30, 2015:
Assets:

Securities purchased under
resale agreements................. $ 21,589 1,166 20,423 20,422 — $ 1

Liabilities:

Securities sold under
repurchase agreements......... $ 7,036 1,166 5,870 5,870 — 3 —

As of December 31, 2014:
Assets:

Securities purchased under
resale agreements................. $ 7,165 5,752 1,413 1,413 — 3 —

Liabilities:

Securities sold under
repurchase agreements......... $ 13,459 5,752 7,707 7,707 — 3 —

M Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the
applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.

2 .. . . .
@ Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.

®  Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.

The following table provides the class of collateral pledged and remaining contractual maturity of repurchase agreements accounted
for as secured borrowings as of September 30, 2015:

Overnight
and Greater than
Continuous Up to 30 days 30 to 90 days 90 days Total
(in millions)
As of September 30, 2015:
Assets:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and
SponSored ENtItIES..........cocveeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeee e, $ 1,019 $ 2,604 § 199 $ 2,974 §$ 6,386
Foreign debt SECUrItieS..........cceevviereerrieieniieeeiieciesieeeneas 150 — — — 150
Total repurchase agreements accounted for as secured
DOITOWINIES ....vivvieienienieiieieiieite ettt eneas $ 1,169 § 2,694 § 199 § 2974 $ 7,036
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18. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value
Framework"). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
"highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financial instruments do not have
alternative use and, as such, the fair value of financial instruments should be determined using an “in-exchange” valuation premise.
However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of
a group of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting credit risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would
receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of a group of assets or liabilities if certain conditions are met. We elected to apply
the measurement exception to a group of derivative instruments with offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate
to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and commodity price risk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not available, valuation techniques that incorporate relevant transaction data and market
parameters reflecting the attributes of the asset or liability under consideration are applied. Where applicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the markets in which the transactions occur.
The fair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit risk adjustment - The credit risk adjustment is an adjustment to a group of financial assets and financial liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the parties to the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to a financial liability is recorded to reflect the default risk of HUSI.

Liquidity risk adjustment - The liquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such a way that results in a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities. These adjustments relate primarily to Level 2 assets.

Model valuation adjustment - Where fair value measurements are determined using an internal valuation model based on observable
and unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be a range of possible valuation
inputs that market participants may assume in determining the fair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement has
inherent measurement risk if one or more parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment is
necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different valuation techniques are available, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk. Model valuation adjustments are not material and relate primarily to Level 2 instruments.

We apply stress scenarios in determining appropriate liquidity risk and model risk adjustments for Level 3 fair values by reviewing
the historical data for unobservable inputs (e.g., correlation, volatility). Some stress scenarios involve a 95 percent confidence
interval (i.e., two standard deviations). Other stress scenarios may be performed using highly stressed historical inputs such as
credit spreads experienced during a credit crisis. We also utilize unobservable parameter adjustments when instruments are valued
using internally developed models which reflects the uncertainty in the value estimates provided by the model.

Valuation of uncollateralized derivatives - During 2014, we adopted a funding fair value adjustment ("FFVA") to reflect the
estimated present value of the future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure
at rates other than the Overnight Indexed Swap ("OIS") rate. See "Valuation Techniques - Derivatives" below for additional details.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes a three-tiered fair value hierarchy as follows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are inactive, and measurements determined using
valuation models where all significant inputs are observable, such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.
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Level 3 valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
inputs.

Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levels in each reporting period. Transfers between leveling categories are assessed, determined and recognized at
the end of each reporting period.

Valuation Control Framework We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair values are either
determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. To that end, the ultimate responsibility for the determination
of fair values rests with Finance. Finance has established an independent price validation process to ensure that the assets and
liabilities measured at fair value are properly stated.

A valuation committee, chaired by the Head of Business Finance of GB&M, meets monthly to review, monitor and discuss
significant valuation matters arising from credit and market risks. The committee is responsible for reviewing and approving
valuation policies and procedures including any valuation adjustments pertaining to, among other things, independent price
verification, market liquidity, unobservable inputs, model uncertainty and counterparty credit risk. All valuation models are
reviewed by the valuation committee in terms of model development, enhancements and performance. All models are independently
reviewed by the Markets Independent Model Review function and applicable valuation model recommendations are reported to
and discussed with the valuation committee. Significant valuation risks identified in business activities are corroborated and
addressed by the committee members and, where applicable, are escalated to the Chief Financial Officer of HUSI and the Audit
Committee of the Board of Directors.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation procedures to substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotations from at least
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.

The following factors are considered in determining fair values:

* similarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;

= collaboration of pricing by referencing to other independent market data such as market transactions and relevant benchmark
indices;

=  consistency among different pricing sources;

= the valuation approach and the methodologies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;

= the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;

= the source of the fair value information; and

= whether the security is traded in an active or inactive market.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from dealers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the external quotations are reviewed and
adjustments to fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and the fair value measurement becomes less transparent, Finance will apply more detailed procedures to understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the valuation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop a fair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurements are determined using internal valuation models, Finance will validate the fair value measurement by either developing
unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date. Any significant valuation adjustments are reported to and discussed
with the valuation committee.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments The fair value estimates, methods and assumptions set forth below for our financial
instruments, including those financial instruments carried at cost, are made solely to comply with disclosures required by generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
included in this report.

The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments at September 30, 2015
and December 31, 2014:

Carrying Fair
September 30, 2015 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term financial aSSEtS ........ccevevverienieieiiieeinererceeseseee $ 23,243 $ 23243 $§ 914 §$ 22,300 $ 29
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
AGTELINEIILS .....oveteienieieeete ettt ettt sttt et 20,423 20,423 — 20,423 —
Non-derivative trading assets .........ccecevereereriierieneeneeieneeieneens 11,517 11,517 2,869 5,553 3,095
DIEIIVALIVES....cuviivieeiieciie et et ete et ve et e s veete e ebeesbeesaaeereesaneennes 5,579 5,579 6 5,552 21
SECUTILIES ..vveeeeeiieceeee ettt e et eeae e et e e e e eeneeeeenreeeenes 50,416 50,704 19,523 31,181 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses.................... 64,218 66,259 — — 66,259
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOT SALE ...ttt e 175 175 — 175 —
Commercial loans held for sale........c.ccceceverinnnnincicn 94 94 — 94 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10sses ......c..c.ccoueuee. 20,046 18,921 — — 18,921
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOTtgages........coeeverieeieniieiienieiereee e 16 16 — 13 3
Other CONSUIMET .......eeueeitieietieieeteeee ettt ee et 83 83 — — 83
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial Habiliti€s ........c.coovvvviiviiiiiiiieeeee e $ 6928 § 6928 § — $ 6,899 $§ 29
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturiti€s .........ccvvevvverieiieeeeeeeeeee e 112,907 112,907 — 112,907 —
Fixed maturities ........ccoceeiriririniseseee e 12,058 12,051 — 12,051 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ..........ccceceeveenenenene 6,485 6,485 — 4,731 1,754
Non-derivative trading liabilities...........ccceeverieriieienieierieeiene 717 717 671 46 —
DIETIVALIVES....eviteeeititesteeieste ettt ettt ese e sneeseesesneseeeeeeaees 7,193 7,193 14 7,159 20
Short-term borrowings designated under fair value option........... 2,064 2,064 — 2,064 —
Long-term debt.......coccvevvieiiiieiicieecee e 24,384 24,987 — 24,987 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ..................... 8,634 8,634 — 7,889 745
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Carrying Fair
December 31, 2014 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term fINancial ASSELS ......veeveeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et $ 31,746 $ 31,746 § 891 $ 30,807 $ 48
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale
AGTECINCIIES ...ttt ettt et ettt et sae et sae e ne 1,413 1,413 — 1,413 —
Non-derivative trading assets ........ccoevvevereerereeresieereseeneeneneens 15,490 15,490 2,675 9,722 3,093
DIEIIVALIVES ....eeiiveieeeeeee ettt e e e enae e s eae e s enaeesenaeeeas 7,258 7,258 10 7,200 48
TSI e10 4 18 (URSR 43,609 43,835 22,048 21,787 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses.................... 57,595 58,891 — — 58,891
Commercial loans designated under fair value option and held
FOT SALE ..t e 384 384 — 384 —
Commercial loans held for sale............coccoveiiiiniiiiiieeee 144 144 — 144 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit losses ...........c.c........ 19,466 17,896 — — 17,896
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOTtZages. ......cevverververierrieieniieieneeeeeeeneeseenee e 18 19 — 14 5
Other CONSUMET.......cc.eiuiriiriiriirieieie ettt 66 66 — — 66
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial lHabilities ...........covevviviiviiiieiceeceeeeceeee $ 12,861 §$ 12,861 $ — $ 12813 §$ 48
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities .....cc.uvveeiiveiiiieeiieiieeeee e 105,962 105,962 — 105,962 —
Fixed Maturities .....ccveeeeeveeiiieeeeeeeeeeeee e 2,810 2,813 — 2,813 —
Deposits designated under fair value option ........c..cccecevereneennene. 7,346 7,346 — 5,378 1,968
Non-derivative trading 1liabilities..........ccccoueverirverrenienienienenenennens 705 705 653 52 —
DIETIVALIVES.c..cuveteteieierteieete ettt ettt s 8,413 8,413 8 8,376 29
Long-term debt .........oooieiiiiiiiiiie e 18,733 19,524 — 19,524 —
Long-term debt designated under fair value option ...................... 8,791 8,791 — 8,144 647

Loan values presented in the table above were determined using the Fair Value Framework for measuring fair value, which is
based on our best estimate of the amount within a range of value we believe would be received in a sale as of the balance sheet
date (i.e. exit price). The secondary market demand and estimated value for our residential mortgage loans has been heavily
influenced by the challenging economic conditions during the past several years, including house price depreciation, elevated
unemployment, changes in consumer behavior, changes in discount rates and the lack of financing options available to support
the purchase of receivables. For certain consumer loans, investors incorporate numerous assumptions in predicting cash flows,
such as future interest rates, higher charge-off levels, slower voluntary prepayment speeds, different default and loss curves and
estimated collateral values than we, as the servicer of these loans, believe will ultimately be the case. The investor's valuation
process reflects this difference in overall cost of capital assumptions as well as the potential volatility in the underlying cash flow
assumptions, the combination of which may yield a significant pricing discount from our intrinsic value. The estimated fair values
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 reflect these market conditions. The increase in the relative fair value of our
residential mortgage loans since December 31, 2014 reflects the conditions in the housing industry which have continued to show
improvement in 2015 due to improvements in property values as well as lower required market yields and increased investor
demand for these types of receivables.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, and indicates the fair
value hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value:

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
September 30, 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 2869 $ 166 $ — $ 3,035 § — 8§ 3,035
Obligations of U.S. States and political subdivisions ............ccccecereeruens — 572 — 572 — 572
Collateralized debt Obligations.........coeeveeeeuerierieerinieec e — — 233 233 — 233
Asset-backed securities:
Residential mortgages — 119 — 119 — 119
StUENt LOANS ....c.veieiieiiieiecrieeee e — 88 — 88 — 88
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUrIties. ........ccerveireerieererienieeeiens — — 2,862 2,862 — 2,862
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
COTPOTALE ...ttt ettt ettt s ettt eee bt besae e e e enenee — 387 — 387 — 387
Government-backed ...........ocooevviiiiiiiiiieecce e — 2,310 — 2,310 — 2,310
EQUItY SECUTTLIES ...veuvevietiieieiieteieeee ettt — 18 — 18 — 18
Precious metals trading — 1,893 — 1,893 — 1,893
Derivatives'®:
INtEreSt rate CONTIACTS......c..iecvieeereereeeeee ettt e et eaee e 53 48,198 2 48,253 — 48,253
Foreign exchange CONTIACES .........eoveiririeeieerierieeetenie et seeeeeeee — 25,705 16 25,721 — 25,721
EQUItY CONEIACES ....veuviiietiieieiieiesieee sttt — 1,792 94 1,886 — 1,886
Precious metals CONTIACES ........cc.eeeveeeieecieeeee et eere e e e eeneea 31 985 — 1,016 — 1,016
CIedit CONTIACTS.....ocvviirieceie ettt eee et et aeeete e eereeeareereeas — 4,579 192 4,771 — 4,771
DErivatives NETHINE .....c.evverveeeiiiieieirieeeiete ettt eeeee — — — — (76,068) (76,068)
TOtAl dEIIVALIVES .....vvieiieieiiieeeieee ettt eaenes 84 81,259 304 81,647 (76,068) 5,579
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 19,523 11,754 — 31,277 — 31,277
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions ...........cccecevereeruens — 768 — 768 — 768
Asset-backed securities:
Commercial MOTtZAZES. ....c.veverveeeuiriieeiieierieiereeteseee et seeeeeenee — 22 — 22 — 22
HOME EQUILY ..ttt — 79 — 79 — 79
OBRET ...ttt sens — 93 — 93 — 93
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
COTPOTALE ...ttt ettt ettt s ettt eee bt besae e e e enenee — 358 — 358 — 358
Government-backed ...........ocovevviiiiiiiiiiicce e — 3,174 — 3,174 — 3,174
EQUItY SECUTTLIES ...veuvevietiieeeiieteieeee ettt st — 166 — 166 — 166
L0ANS™ ...cooeettee e eeeeeeeesss e — 175 — 175 — 175
Mortgage servicing rights™ ... — — 130 130 — 130
Total assets. . $ 22476 § 103,401 $§ 3,529 § 129,406 $ (76,068) $ 53,338
Liabilities: -
DOmMESHC AEPOSIES™.........oeoeeoeeeoeeeeee oo $ — $ 4731 $ 1,754 $ 6485 § — $ 6485
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives ............coeevveveeeeereneeneneeees 671 46 — 717 — 717
Derivatives'®:
INtEreSt rate CONTIACTS......c..eeeveeeeeeereeeeeeeeteeeee et ereeeaee e e eeeeneea 73 48,192 2 48,267 — 48,267
Foreign exchange CONTIACES .........eveeruirieeieerienieeeteieeee e eeenes 38 23,680 16 23,734 — 23,734
Equity contracts — 1,911 189 2,100 — 2,100
Precious metals CONIACES .......c.evveeeireireeiieierieieeetee e 39 479 — 518 — 518
CIedit CONTIACTS.....ocvviirieceie ettt eee et et aeeete e eereeeareereeas — 4,588 21 4,609 — 4,609
DErivatives NETHINE .....c.evverveeeiiiieieirieeeiete ettt eeeee — — — — (72,035) (72,035)
TOtAl dEIIVALIVES .....vveeiieieeiieieiece ettt aenes 150 78,850 228 79,228 (72,035) 7,193
Short-term BOrTOWINES® ...........ovvooooeeeoeeeeeeeeeeee oo — 2,064 — 2,064 — 2,064
Long-term debt™ ... — 7,889 745 8,634 — 8,634
Total HaDIlItIES ... cvevevieieeeeeieieeee et $ 821 §$ 93580 § 2,727 § 97,128 § (72,035) $§ 25,093
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2014 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting™ Balance

(in millions)
Assets:
Trading Securities, excluding derivatives:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 2,675 $ 48 3 — $ 2723 3 — $ 2,723
Obligations of U. S. States and political subdivisions ............c.ccceeueeennne. — 591 — 591 — 591
Collateralized debt obligations...........coeueueervereirnieiirinereirreiceneeecens — — 253 253 — 253
Asset-backed securities:
Residential MOTtZAZES .......cvevevvrveveiririeinirieiirinieecereeteeseeieee e — 142 — 142 — 142
Student loans ........c.cccoeveeeeunnneee. . — 86 — 86 — 86
Corporate and other domestic debt securities...........cecvververveereriereenenene — 1 2,840 2,841 — 2,841
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
COTPOTALE ...ttt sttt sttt st ettt e e st et ebeensebeas — 184 — 184 — 184
Government-backed ..........ccoceeeeiiiiiiiieeiice e — 6,656 — 6,656 — 6,656
EQUILY SECUTTHIES w.ovvevveviiinierieteieierietetetee sttt se et eaesnenaeseesensens — 22 — 22 — 22
Precious metals trading .........cooeeeeririeenniecrnieccreniecerece e — 1,992 — 1,992 — 1,992
Derivatives®:
INtErest rate CONTIACTS.....ccvievieriieeiieiieete et ettt e et eere et e eveeaeeeeaeens 46 46,012 1 46,059 — 46,059
Foreign exchange contracts. — 22,241 23 22,264 — 22,264
EQUILY CONTACES ...evvevveiiiiieiieteieieit ettt et se b nnens — 2,212 180 2,392 — 2,392
Precious metals CONLIACES ........ccveevieieriierieieeie ettt aenens 59 1,013 — 1,072 — 1,072
Credit CONMTACES.......ccvievieierieteeeeete ettt et ets v ere s sbeereeene e — 3,899 296 4,195 — 4,195
Derivatives NELHNE .....c.cccoveueuiririereinirieicrieeeieenetee sttt saeaenens — — — — (68,724) (68,724)
Total derivatives 105 75,377 500 75,982 (68,724) 7,258
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 22,048 3,117 — 25,165 — 25,165
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions .........c.c.cccceerveueecnnne — 667 — 667 — 667
Asset-backed securities:
Commercial MOTtAZES.......covveveerrruererirueeirinieieereereretreereeseeaeneneeaenes — 43 — 43 — 43
HOME QUILY ...ttt — 89 — 89 — 89
OBRET .ttt — 94 — 94 — 94
Debt Securities issued by foreign entities:
Corporate . — 517 — 517 — 517
Government-backed ..........ccoceeeeviiiiiiieerice e — 3,398 — 3,398 — 3,398
EQUILY SECUTTTIES w.evvevveeiiinierietiieieeeeteteiete sttt se et s esesneneeseesenaens — 167 — 167 — 167
L0ANS™) ..ot eeeessess s — 384 — 384 — 384
Mortgage servicing rights™ ..........c....cooovoerveireoenreeee e — — 159 159 — 159
Total assets $ 24828 $ 93,575 $§ 3,752 § 122,155 § (68,724) $ 53,431
Liabilities: -
Domestic dEPOSIS™...........ovuiveeeeeeeeeeeee oo $ — $ 5378 $ 198 $ 7346 $ — $ 7346
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives ...........c.coeccereeennccrnniccnnnenes 653 52 — 705 — 705
Derivatives®:
INtErest rate CONTIACTS.....ccuviiiieiieeiieiie et eee ettt e ere e ebe et e e aeeaeeeaaeens 43 46,683 1 46,727 — 46,727
Foreign eXchange CONtIACES ........c.couvvrueueririeueenieteeninieitereereeeeeeereesaenenens 13 20,847 23 20,383 — 20,883
EQUILY CONTACES ...evvevieiiiinieiieteieieit ettt se s naens — 1,661 138 1,799 — 1,799
Precious metals CONIACES ......c.ovveveerirueuiririeieinieicenieee ettt saeienens 18 596 — 614 — 614
Credit contracts... . — 3,941 86 4,027 — 4,027
Derivatives NELHNE .....c.cccoveueuiririereiniricieireeiceretee sttt saeaenens — — — — (65,637) (65,637)
TOtAl AETIVALIVES ... 74 73,728 248 74,050 (65,637) 8,413
Long-term debt™ ..........coovooioioe oo — 8,144 647 8,791 — 8,791
Total Habilities. ... ..ovveeereeres e $ 727 $ 87302 $§ 2863 $ 90,892 § (65,637) § 25255
(M Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which allow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.
)

Includes trading derivative assets of $4,135 million and $5,602 million and trading derivative liabilities of $5,619 million and $7,459 million as of
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, as well as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives.
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@ Includes certain commercial loans held for sale which we have elected to apply the fair value option. See Note 6, "Loans Held for Sale," for further

information.
)

See Note 7, "Intangible Assets," for additional information.

® " See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are recognized at the end of each reporting period.

Transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the three and nine

months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
value of Level 3 assets and liabilities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014. As a risk management
practice, we may risk manage the Level 3 assets and liabilities, in whole or in part, using securities and derivative positions that
are classified as Level 1 or Level 2 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. Since those Level 1 and Level 2 risk management
positions are not included in the table below, the information provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities
related to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Gains and

PO Current
(Losses) Included in Period
Trading Transfers Transfers Unrealized
Jul. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations .........cceeeveerenes $ 240 $ 3 9 — 3 — 3 — $ @10 $ — 3 — $ 233 s -
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,855 — — 7 — — — — 2,862 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... 1 — @ — — — — — — ()
Foreign exchange
CONtracts..........ccecveevveeneene — — — — — — — — — —
Equity contracts................. (10) (70) — — — a7 — 2 95) (79)
Credit contracts.................. 179 @®) — — — — — — 171 (@)
Mortgage servicing rights® .. 158 — Q@1 — — W) — — 130 1)
Total assets.........cccevevennee. $ 3423 $ as) $ 22) $ 7 3 — $ (34 9 — § 2 $ 3301 $ (108)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™............. $(1,817) $ — 3 9 § — $ @86) $ 130 $ 44) $ 54§ (1,754) $ 15
Long-term debt® .................. (662) — 73 — (186) 13 a 18 (745) 71
Total liabilities...................... $(2,479) $ — $ 82 § — $ (272) $ 143 $ 45 3 72 8 (2,499) $ 86

63



HSBC USA Inc.

Total Gains and

i) Current
(Losses) Included in Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2015 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2015 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations .........c.ceeeveevenes $ 253 § 15 3 — 3 — 3 — $ @35 3 — 3 — $ 233 s 7
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,840 — — 22 — — — — 2,862 —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... — — — — — — — — — —
Foreign exchange
coNntracts.......ccovvveeeeeeneninne — — — — — —_ —_ — — —
Equity contracts................. 42 (74) — — — (65) — 2 95) (101)
Credit contracts.................. 210 30) — — — () — — 171 (60)
Mortgage servicing rights® .. 159 — (13) — — (16) — — 130 (13)
Total aSSets......cvurvvrirerenrianes $ 3,504 @9 $ 13) s 22§ — $ @125 $ — § 2 $ 3301 § (167)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits™............. $ (1,968) — 8 4 $ — $ (2700 $ 313 $ 66) $ 233§ (1,754) $ 21
Long-term debt® ............... (647) — 79 — (423) 197 ) 50 (745) 81
Total liabilities.........c.cc.c...... $(2,615) — 3 83 § — $ (693) $ 510 $ 67) $ 283 $ (2,499) $ 102
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Total Gains and

() Current
(Losses) Included in Period
Trading Transfers Transfers Unrealized
Jul. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2014 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2014 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations .........c..cceveevnen. $ 260 $ 20 $ — 3 — 3 — $ (1D s — 3 — $ 269 $ 19
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,819 — — 10 — — — 2,829 —
Government debt
securities issued by
foreign entities.................. — — — — — — — —
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... — 4 — — — — 4 3
Foreign exchange
CONLTACES.....ouvvvieiieieicins — 3) — — — — — — 3) 3)
Equity contracts 59 21 — — (23) (1) (1) 13 (32)
Precious metals contracts .. — — — — — — — —
Credit contracts.................. 257 31 — — %) — 221 (36)
Mortgage servicing rights® . 186 — — (6) — 182 2
Total assets.......ccvvveverevuennnne. $ 3,581 3D $ 2 3 10 §$ — $ 45 3 1 $ 1) $ 3515 % 47
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits®............. $(2,257) — 8 @ $ $ (1) $ 129 $ (59) $ 395§ (1,905) 8 26
Long-term debt™.................. (738) — 27 (82) 82 @) 81 (632) 9
Total liabilities $(2,995) — 25§ $ (193) § 211 § 61) $ 476 $ (2,537) $ 35
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Total Gains and

() Current
(Losses) Included in Period
Trading Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Revenue Other Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Sep. 30, Gains
2014 (Loss) Revenue ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2014 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:
Collateralized debt
0bligations ........c.cocuerunenenes § 254§ 34§ — — $ (19 $ — § 209 % 31
Corporate and other
domestic debt securities..... 2,260 %) — 574 — — — — 2,829 “
Government debt
securities issued by
foreign entities.................. 121 5 - — - @ — (119) _ _
Derivatives, net®:
Interest rate contracts......... 1 3 — — — — 4 3
Foreign exchange
contracts 95 7 — — — (12) — (93) 3) (1)
Equity contracts................. 3 65 — — — (59) 7 3) 13 8
Precious metals contracts .. ) 2 — — — — — —
Credit contracts.................. 191 (86) — — 2 114 221 (134)
Mortgage servicing rights® .. 227 — (22) — (23) — 182 (22)
Total assets........covvervrererenne. $ 3,150 25§ 22) $ 574 § — § (118) 7 $ (101) $ 3,515 $ (119)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits® $(2,334) — 211) $ — (271) $ 428 (108) $ 591 $ (1,905) $ (10)
Long-term debt® ................. (900) — 121 — (234) 202 Q) 181 (632) (15)
Total liabilities.........c.cco....... $(3,234) — 3 90) $ (505) $ 630 $§ (110) $ 772 $ (2,537) $ (25)

(]
2

Includes realized and unrealized gains and losses.

of $466 million and derivative liabilities of $231 million as of September 30, 2014.

3)
“)

See Note 7, "Intangible Assets," for additional information.

See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 fair value measurements as of September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014:

September 30, 2015
Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations ................ 233  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 1% - 6%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 3% -7%
Loss severity rates 90% - 99%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,862 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% -4%
SCCUTTEICS w.vevvenevereienieeeseeeeeeete e eeeeereene
Correlation between insurance claim  80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. —  Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 7% -100%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts'" . —  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 20% - 25%
Equity derivative contracts' ................... (95) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 17% - 63%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 58%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts...............c........ 171  Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of a portfolio 44% - 47%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights ..........ccceeevveneee 130  Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 11% - 50%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% -14%
Estimated annualized costs to service ~ $91 - $333 per
account
Domestic deposits (1,754) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 20% - 25%
(structured deposits) " ........coocovvnrnnne. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 17% - 63%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 58%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes) "™ ... (745) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 20% - 25%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 17% - 63%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 48% - 58%
correlation
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December 31, 2014
Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations ................ 253  Broker quotes or consensus pricing ~ Prepayment rates 1% - 6%
and, where applicable, discounted
cash flows
Conditional default rates 6% - 7%
Loss severity rates 90% - 91%
Corporate and other domestic debt 2,840 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUTTLIES ...
Correlation between insurance claim  80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. —  Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 6% - 98%
probability to fund commitments
Foreign exchange derivative contracts" . —  Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... 42 Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%
correlation
Credit derivative contracts ............c.ccc...... 210  Option pricing model Correlation of defaults of a portfolio 52% - 57%
of reference credit names
Issuer by issuer correlation of 82% - 83%
defaults
Mortgage servicing rights .........c.coeeuenee. 159  Option adjusted discounted cash Constant prepayment rates 10% - 49%
flows
Option adjusted spread 8% - 19%
Estimated annualized costs to service ~ $91 - $333 per
account
Domestic deposits (1,968) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
(structured deposits) " ..., flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)™@ ... (647) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 10% - 17%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 11% - 60%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 47% - 73%
correlation

M

2

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of
counterparty credit risks, we are market neutral. The corresponding intra-group derivatives are presented as equity derivatives and foreign exchange derivatives
in the table.

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized Debt Obligations ("CDOs")

Prepayment rate - The rate at which borrowers pay off the mortgage loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by a number
of factors including the location of the mortgage collateral, the interest rate type of the mortgage loans, borrowers' credit and
sensitivity to interest rate movement. The prepayment rate of our CDOs portfolio is tilted towards the low end of the range.

Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over a group of collateral such as residential or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The default rate of our portfolio is close to the mid-
point of the range.

Loss severity rate - Included in our Level 3 CDOs portfolio are collateralized loan obligations (CLOs) and trust preferred
securities which are about equally distributed. The loss severity rate for trust preferred securities as of September 30, 2015 is
about 1.8 times that of CLOs.

Derivatives

Correlation of default - The default correlation of a group of credit exposures measures the likelihood that the credit references
within a group will default together. The default correlation is a significant input to structured credit products such as nth-to-
default swaps. In addition, the correlation between the currency and the default risk of the reference credits is a critical input
to a foreign currency denominated credit default swap where the correlation is not observable.
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= Implied volatility - The implied volatility is a significant pricing input for freestanding or embedded options including equity,
foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility is a function of the nature of the underlying risk, the level of
strike price and the years to maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine the implied
volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied volatilities are
derived based on historical information. The implied volatility for different foreign currency pairs is between 20 percent and
25 percent while the implied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index is between 17 percent and 63 percent,
respectively, at September 30, 2015. Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be widely
distributed at the portfolio level, the deviation of implied volatility on a trade-by-trade basis is narrower. The average deviation
of implied volatility for the foreign currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 4 percent and 7 percent, respectively, at
September 30, 2015.

*  Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the relative change in values among two or more
variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlation is a key input
in determining the fair value of a derivative referenced to a basket of variables such as equities or foreign currencies. A majority
of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation between equity/equity and
equity/equity index was between 48 percent and 58 percent at September 30, 2015.

Sensitivity of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

Collateralized debt obligations - Probability of default, prepayment speed and loss severity rate are significant unobservable inputs.
Significant increase (decrease) in these inputs will result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of a collateralized debt
obligation. A change in assumption for default probability is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in loss severity,
and a directionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and domestic debt securities - The fair value measurements of certain corporate debt securities are affected by the fair
value of the underlying portfolios of investments used as collateral and the make-whole guarantee provided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors' failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. The increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls below the
collateral call threshold is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among a basket of reference credit names is a significant unobservable input if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. Significant increase (decrease) in
the unobservable input will result in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. A change in assumption for
default correlation is often accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability and loss rates of other credit names
in the basket.

Equity and foreign exchange derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign exchange derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
implied volatility is not observable. Significant increase (decrease) in the implied volatility will result in a higher (lower) fair value
of a long position in the derivative contract.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we
transferred $54 million and $233 million, respectively, of domestic deposits and $18 million and $50 million, respectively, of long-
term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3 to Level 2 as a result of the embedded derivative no longer
being unobservable as the derivative option is closer to maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally,
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we transferred $44 million and $66 million of domestic deposits,
which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as a result of a change in the observability of underlying
instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we transferred $395 million and $591 million, respectively, of
domestic deposits and $81 million and $181 million, respectively, of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value,
from Level 3 to Level 2 as a result of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservable as the derivative option is closer in
maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. During the second quarter of 2014, we transferred $119 million
of government debt securities issued by foreign governments and the related foreign exchange and credit derivatives from Level
3 to Level 2 due to the availability of inputs in the market including independent pricing service valuations. Additionally, during
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, we transferred $59 million and $108 million, respectively, of domestic
deposits, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as a result of a change in the observability of
underlying instruments that resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (a) mortgage and
commercial loans classified as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired loans or assets
that are written down to fair value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not
measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment).
The following table presents the fair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has
been recorded as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The gains (losses) during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 and 2014 are also included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
as of September 30, 2015 For the Three For the Nine
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total September 30,2015  September 30, 2015
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loans held for sale.. § — § 1 3 4 3 58 — 8 —
Consumer 10ans® ...........cccoovvmvveeereeenn — 106 — 106 6) 24)
Commercial loans held for sale® ............... — 83 — 83 2) (16)
Impaired commercial loans™ .....oovviveen. — — 39 39 (16) @31
Real estate owned™ ...........cooooveveeereeenan — 22 — 22 1 3
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
DASIS ..o $ —§ 212§ 43 § 255 § 23) § (68)
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)  Total Gains (Losses)
as of December 31, 2014 For the Three For the Nine
Months Ended Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total September 30, 2014 September 30, 2014
(in millions)
Residential mortgage loans held for sale”.. § — § — § 5% 5 8 (1) $ )
Consumer 10ans® ............ocoveeeveeveeeerern — 164 — 164 (10) (33)
Commercial loans held for sale® ................ — 77 — 77 — @)
Impaired commercial loans' .................... — — 53 53 3 6
Real estate owned™ ...........cooooveveeerenennann. — 19 — 19 2 4
Total assets at fair value on a non-recurring
DASIS ...vvoveee e $ — § 260 § 58 § 318 § (6) $ 31

@ Asof September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost. Certain residential mortgage loans held for sale

have been classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy as the underlying real estate properties which determine fair value
are illiquid assets as a result of market conditions and significant inputs in estimating fair value were unobservable. Additionally, the fair value of these
properties is affected by, among other things, the location, the payment history and the completeness of the loan documentation.

@ Represents residential mortgage loans held for investment whose carrying amount was reduced during the periods presented based on the fair value of the

underlying collateral.

®  Asof September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.

@ Certain commercial loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we measure the

credit impairment of a collateral-dependent loan based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral often involves real estate properties that are
illiquid due to market conditions. As a result, these loans are classified as a Level 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

©®  Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amounts in the table above reflect the fair

value unadjusted for transaction costs.
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The following tables present quantitative information about non-recurring fair value measurements of assets and liabilities classified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

As of September 30, 2015
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale.............cccoevvveeiiennnee. $ 4  underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Impaired commercial 10ans..............ccoooveveveieveececieeieeeee 39 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 53%
As of December 31, 2014
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Residential mortgage loans held for sale.............cccoovvveeiienenee. $ 5 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 0% - 100%
Valuation of third party appraisal on
Impaired commercial 10ans.............ccooevevereicieieiiceeieee 53 underlying collateral Loss severity rates 8% - 47%

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Residential mortgage loans held for sale primarily represent subprime residential mortgage loans which were previously acquired
with the intent of securitizing or selling them to third parties. The weighted average loss severity rate for these loans was
approximately 68 percent at September 30, 2015. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying
collateral securing the loans.

Impaired loans represent commercial loans. The weighted average severity rate for these loans was approximately 21 percent at
September 30, 2015. These severity rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques Following is a description of valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value
and for estimating fair value for those financial instruments not recorded at fair value for which fair value disclosure is required.

Short-term financial assets and liabilities - The carrying amount of certain financial assets and liabilities recorded at cost is
considered to approximate fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and
generally have negligible credit risk. These items include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, customer
acceptance assets and liabilities, short-term borrowings except for certain securities sold under repurchase agreements for which
the fair value option has been elected and dividends payable.

Federal funds sold and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements - Federal funds sold
and purchased and securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements are recorded at cost. A significant majority
of these transactions are short-term in nature and, as such, the recorded amounts approximate fair value. For transactions with
long-dated maturities, fair value is based on dealer quotes for instruments with similar terms and collateral.

Loans - Except for certain commercial loans held for sale for which the fair value option has been elected, we do not record loans
at fair value on a recurring basis. From time to time, we record impairments to loans. The write-downs can be based on observable
market price of the loan, the underlying collateral value or a discounted cash flow analysis. In addition, fair value estimates are
determined based on the product type, financial characteristics, pricing features and maturity.

*  Loans held for sale — Certain residential mortgage whole loans, consumer receivables and commercial loans are recorded at
the lower of amortized cost or fair value. Where available, we measure held for sale mortgage whole loans based on transaction
prices of loan portfolios of similar characteristics observed in the whole loan market. Adjustments are made to reflect differences
in collateral location, loan-to-value ratio, FICO scores, vintage year, default rates, the completeness of the loan documentation
and other risk characteristics. The fair value estimates of consumer receivables and commercial loans are determined primarily
using the discounted cash flow method with estimated inputs in prepayment rates, default rates, loss severity, and market rate
of return.

*  Commercial loans held for sale designated under FVO — We record certain commercial loans held for sale at fair value. Where
available, fair value is based on observable market consensus pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker
quotes or observed market prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not
available, fair value is determined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default
rates and loss severity discounted at management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We
also consider loan specific risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate.
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Commercial loans — Commercial loans and commercial real estate loans are valued by discounting the contractual cash flows,
adjusted for prepayments and the borrower’s credit risk, using a discount rate that reflects the current rates offered to borrowers
of similar credit standing for the remaining term to maturity and, when applicable, our own estimate of liquidity premium.

Commercial impaired loans — Generally represents collateral dependent commercial loans with fair value determined based
on pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party appraisal.

Consumer loans — The estimated fair value of our consumer loans were determined by developing an approximate range of
value from a mix of various sources as appropriate for the respective pool of assets. These sources included estimates from an
HSBC affiliate which reflect over-the-counter trading activity, forward looking discounted cash flow models using assumptions
consistent with those which would be used by market participants in valuing such receivables; trading input from other market
participants which includes observed primary and secondary trades; where appropriate, the impact of current estimated rating
agency credit tranching levels with the associated benchmark credit spreads; and general discussions held directly with potential
investors. For revolving products, the estimated fair value excludes future draws on the available credit line as well as other
items and, therefore, does not include the fair value of the entire relationship.

Valuation inputs include estimates of future interest rates, prepayment speeds, default and loss curves, estimated collateral
value and market discount rates reflecting management’s estimate of the rate that would be required by investors in the current
market given the specific characteristics and inherent credit risk of the receivables. Some of these inputs are influenced by
collateral value changes and unemployment rates. Where available, such inputs are derived principally from or corroborated
by observable market data. We perform analytical reviews of fair value changes on a quarterly basis and periodically validate
our valuation methodologies and assumptions based on the results of actual sales of such receivables. In addition, from time
to time, we may engage a third party valuation specialist to measure the fair value of a pool of receivables. Portfolio risk
management personnel provide further validation through discussions with third party brokers and other market participants.
Since an active market for these receivables does not exist, the fair value measurement process uses unobservable significant
inputs specific to the performance characteristics of the various receivable portfolios.

Lending-related commitments - The fair value of commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit and financial guarantees
are not included in the table. The majority of the lending related commitments are not carried at fair value on a recurring basis nor
are they actively traded. These instruments generate fees, which approximate those currently charged to originate similar
commitments, which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on commitments and standby letters
of credit totaled $47 million and $50 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily includes physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If a quoted market price for the
identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
securities, internally developed valuation models are used to determine fair values or validate quotes obtained from pricing services.
The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions — As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or
quoted prices for similar securities with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated.

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an active
market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar securities
with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government sponsored
mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based on pricing
information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

Asset-backed securities, including collateralized debt obligations — Fair value is primarily determined based on pricing
information obtained from independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the underlying
collateral.

Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - For non-callable corporate securities, a credit
spread scale is created for each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to determine
current pricing. Credit spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes. For securities
with early redemption features, an option adjusted spread ("OAS") model is incorporated to adjust the spreads determined
above. Additionally, we survey the broker/dealer community to obtain relevant trade data including benchmark quotes and
updated spreads.

Equity securities — Except for those legacy investments in hedge funds, since most of our securities are transacted in active
markets, fair value measurements are determined based on quoted prices for the identical security. For hedge fund investments,
we receive monthly statements from the investment manager with the estimated fair value.
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The following tables provide additional information relating to asset-backed securities as well as certain collateralized debt
obligations held as of September 30, 2015:

Trading asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities:" Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA A Residential mortgages - Alt A..........cccoueueneee. $ 65 $ — S 65
Residential mortgages - Subprime ................. 48 — 48

Student 10ans ..........ccoceeeveeeeeiiieieie e 88 — 88

Total AAA -A.eeeeeeeee e 201 — 201
BBB B ....cioireiineecees Collateralized debt obligations....................... — 233 233
CCC-Unrated......c.cccoeueuemeueercrcernunnes Residential mortgages - Subprime ................. 6 — 6
$ 207 S 233§ 440
Available-for-sale securities backed by collateral:
Rating of Securities:" Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA -A Commercial mortgages. ...........ccoeevvvevevevenennnn. $ 22 8 — § 22
Home equity - Alt A....ooovveeeveeieeeee, 79 — 79
Other 93 — 93
Total AAA -A. o $ 194 § — § 194

M We utilize S&P as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S&P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used in that order.

Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.

Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.

Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, are valued using valuation techniques. The fair value for the majority of our derivative instruments are determined
based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market data is not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the OIS curves as inputs to measure the fair value of collateralized derivatives. Historically, we valued uncollateralized
derivatives by discounting expected future cash flows at a benchmark interest rate, typically LIBOR or its equivalent. In line with
evolving industry practice, we changed this approach during 2014. We now view the OIS curve as the base discounting curve for
all derivatives, both collateralized and uncollateralized, and have adopted a FFVA to reflect the estimated present value of the
future market funding cost or benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the OIS rate.
This is an area in which a full industry consensus has not yet emerged. We will continue to monitor industry evolution and refine
the calculation methodology as necessary.

Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:

*  Credit Derivatives — Use credit default curves and recovery rates which are generally provided by broker quotes and various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputs in their model valuation. Correlation is derived
using market quotes from brokers and various pricing services.

» Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

*  Foreign Exchange ("FX") Derivatives — FX transactions, to the extent possible, use spot and forward FX rates which are
quoted in the broker market. Where applicable, we also use implied volatility of currency pairs as inputs.

»  Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
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*  Precious Metal Derivatives — Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

As discussed earlier, we make fair value adjustments to model valuations in order to ensure that those values represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect prices in arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

We estimate the counterparty credit risk for financial assets and own credit standing for financial liabilities (the "credit risk
adjustments") in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we calculate the credit risk adjustment by
applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We also take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
agreements in determining credit risk adjustments. We estimate the implied probability of default based on the credit spread of the
specific counterparty observed in the credit default swap market. Where credit default spread of the counterparty is not available,
we use the credit default spread of a specific proxy (e.g. the credit default swap spread of the counterparty's parent). Where specific
proxy credit default swap is not available, we apply a blended approach based on a combination of credit default swaps referencing
to credit names of similar credit standing and the historical rating-based probability of default.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we take title to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 45 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area
sales data.

Mortgage servicing rights - We elected to measure residential mortgage servicing rights, which are classified as intangible assets,
at fair value. The fair value for the residential mortgage servicing rights is determined based on an option adjusted approach which
involves discounting servicing cash flows under various interest rate projections at risk-adjusted rates. The valuation model also
incorporates our best estimate of the prepayment speed of the mortgage loans, current cost to service and discount rates which are
unobservable. As changes in interest rates is a key factor affecting the prepayment speed and hence the fair value of the mortgage
servicing rights, we use various interest rate derivatives and forward purchase contracts of mortgage-backed securities to risk-
manage the mortgage servicing rights.

Structured notes and deposits — Structured notes and deposits are hybrid instruments containing embedded derivatives and are
elected to be measured at fair value in their entirety under fair value option accounting principles. The valuation of hybrid instruments
is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments. The valuation of embedded derivatives may
include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit names or volatility of the embedded option.

Cash flows of the funded notes and deposits in their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted at the relevant
interest rates for the duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads so applied are determined
with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in primary and secondary markets, internal funding rates, and the structured
note rates in recent executions.

Short-term borrowings - We record certain securities sold under repurchase agreements at fair value. The fair value of the repurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities.

Long-term debt — We elected to apply fair value option to certain own debt issuances for which fair value hedge accounting
otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances elected under FVO are traded in secondary markets and, as such,
the fair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price of these instruments
reflects the effect of our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments were derived from the spreads at the
measurement date.

For long-term debt recorded at cost, fair value is determined based on quoted market prices where available. If quoted market
prices are not available, fair value is based on dealer quotes, quoted prices of similar instruments, or internally developed valuation
models adjusted for own credit risks.

Deposits — For fair value disclosure purposes, the carrying amount of deposits with no stated maturity (e.g., demand, savings, and
certain money market deposits), which represents the amount payable upon demand, is considered to generally approximate fair
value. For deposits with stated maturities, fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows using market interest rates currently
offered on deposits with similar characteristics and maturities.
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19. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in
our 2014 Form 10-K and in Note 19, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our Form 10-Q for the three month period ended
March 31, 2015 (the "2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q") and the six month period ended June 30, 2015 (the "2015 Second Quarter
Form 10-Q"). Only those matters with significant updates and new matters since our disclosure in our 2014 Form 10-K, our 2015
First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2015 Second Quarter Form 10-Q are reported herein.

In addition to the matters described below, and in our 2014 Form 10-K, our 2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2015 Second
Quarter Form 10-Q, in the ordinary course of business, we are routinely named as defendants in, or as parties to, various legal
actions and proceedings relating to activities of our current and/or former operations. These legal actions and proceedings may
include claims for substantial or indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course
of business, we also are subject to governmental and regulatory examinations, information-gathering requests, investigations and
proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions
or other relief. In connection with formal and informal inquiries by these regulators, we receive numerous requests, subpoenas
and orders seeking documents, testimony and other information in connection with various aspects of our regulated activities.

In view of the inherent unpredictability of legal matters, including litigation, governmental and regulatory matters, particularly
where the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we
cannot determine with any degree of certainty the timing or ultimate resolution of such matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties
or business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation, governmental and regulatory matters when those
matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted
from time to time, as appropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters,
however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

For the legal matters disclosed below, including litigation and governmental and regulatory matters, as well as for the legal matters
disclosed in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2014 Form 10-K and in Note 19, "Litigation and Regulatory
Matters," in our 2015 First Quarter Form 10-Q and our 2015 Second Quarter Form 10-Q as to which a loss in excess of accrued
liability is reasonably possible in future periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of
which management believes it can make a reliable estimate, we believe a reasonable estimate could be as much as $100 million
for HUSI. The legal matters underlying this estimate of possible loss will change from time to time and actual results may differ
significantly from this current estimate.

Based on the facts currently known, in respect of each of the below investigations, it is not practicable at this time for us to determine
the terms on which these ongoing investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution or for us to estimate reliably the
amounts, or range of possible amounts, of any fines and/or penalties. As matters progress, it is possible that any fines and/or
penalties could be significant.

Given the substantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and the inherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements in
any particular quarterly or annual period.

Checking Account Overdraft Litigation In September 2015, the court in Ofra Levin et al v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A. et al. (N.Y.
Sup. Ct. 650562/11) (“State Action”) denied the federal plaintiffs’ motion to intervene in the State Action. The plaintiffs have
appealed that decision.

County of Cook v. HSBC North America Holdings Inc., et al. In September 2015, the court denied the HSBC defendants' motion
to dismiss.

Lender-Placed Insurance Matters In October 2015, the district court in Weller, et al. v. HSBC Mortgage Services, Inc., et al. (D.
Col. No. 13-CV-00185) issued an order granting final approval of the settlement reached by the parties in this putative class action
concerning lender placed flood insurance. In this final settlement, HSBC agreed to pay $1.8 million inclusive of all claims, attorneys’
fees and administrative costs.

Credit Default Swap Matters In September 2015, the HSBC defendants settled the In re Credit Default Swaps Antitrust Litigation,
MDL No. 2476, for a total payment of $25 million. In October 2015, the court granted preliminary approval of the settlement and
scheduled a final settlement approval hearing for April 2016. HSBC Bank USA’s portion of the settlement is $12.5 million.

Foreign Exchange ("FX") Matters

The HSBC defendants settled the consolidated class action in September 2015 for a total payment of $285 million. HSBC Bank
USA’s portion of the settlement is $14.25 million and was settled within reserves. The settlement is subject to court approval.

In September 2015, two putative class action complaints were filed in the provinces of Ontario and Quebec, Canada, against,
among others, HSBC, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC North America, HSBC Bank USA and HSBC Bank Canada. The complaints allege,
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among other things, that defendants conspired to fix the supply and rates of currency in the foreign currency market by sharing
confidential customer information and coordinating trading to control or manipulate key rates. These actions are in early stages.

Precious Metals Fix Matters

In re Commodity Exchange Inc., Gold Futures and Options Trading Litigation Defendants' consolidated motion to dismiss the
second amended consolidated complaint is fully briefed.

In re London Silver Fixing, Ltd. Antitrust Litigation (Silver Fix Litigation) Defendants’ consolidated motion to dismiss the second
amended consolidated complaint is fully briefed.

Platinum and Palladium Fix Litigation Plaintiff's filed a second amended consolidated complaint in July 2015. Defendants filed
a consolidated response thereto in September 2015.

Madoff Litigation

In December 2008, Bernard L. Madoff ("Madoff") was arrested and ultimately pleaded guilty to running a Ponzi scheme and a
trustee was appointed for the liquidation of his firm, Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC ("Madoff Securities"), an SEC-
registered broker-dealer and investment adviser. Various non-U.S. HSBC companies provided custodial, administration and similar
services to a number of funds incorporated outside the United States whose assets were invested with Madoff Securities. Plaintiffs
(including funds, funds investors and the Madoff Securities trustee, as described below) have commenced Madoff-related
proceedings against numerous defendants in a multitude of jurisdictions. Various HSBC companies have been named as defendants
in suits in the United States, Ireland, Luxembourg and other jurisdictions. Certain suits (which include U.S. putative class actions)
allege that the HSBC defendants knew or should have known of Madoff's fraud and breached various duties to the funds and fund
mnvestors.

In October 2015, the court lifted the stay in Stephen and Leyla Hill, et al. v. HSBC Bank plc, et al. (Case No. 14-CV-9745(LTS),
a purported class action filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York against various HSBC defendants,
including HSBC Bank USA, by direct investors in Madoff Securities who were holding their investments as of December 12,
2008. The case seeks to recover damages lost to Madoff Securities’ fraud on account of HSBC’s purported knowledge and
furtherance of the fraud. The HSBC defendants' response to the complaint is due in November 2015.

There are many factors that may affect the range of possible outcomes, and the resulting financial impact, of the various Madoft-
related proceedings including, but not limited to, the circumstances of the fraud, the multiple jurisdictions in which proceedings
have been brought and the number of different plaintiffs and defendants in such proceedings. For these reasons, among others, we
are unable to reasonably estimate the aggregate liability or ranges of liability that might arise as a result of these claims but they
could be significant. In any event, we consider that we have good defenses to these claims and will continue to defend them
vigorously.

Mortgage Securitization Matters In August 2015, Commerzbank AG withdrew its appeal of the June 2015 decision of the New
York County Supreme Court dismissing the complaint against HSBC in its entirety.

Mortgage Securitization Pool Trust Litigation HSBC’s motion to dismiss the National Credit Union Administration Board case
was denied. This matter is now proceeding along with the BlackRock, RPI and Phoenix Light matters.

Anti-Money Laundering, Bank Secrecy Act and Office of Foreign Assets Controls Matters Plaintiffs' appeal of the district court's
decision in the Alfredo Villoldo, et al. v. HSBC Bank USA, N.A., et al. matter granting the HSBC defendants' motion to dismiss
was consolidated with related matters, and plaintiffs filed their appeal brief in September 2015. Our appeal briefis due in November
2015.

Telephone Consumer Protection Act Litigation In October 2015, a putative class action entitled Saber Ahmed v. HSBC Bank USA,
National Association (Case 5:15-cv-02057) was filed in the United States District Court for the Central District of California
against HSBC Bank USA. The action alleges that HSBC Bank USA contacted plaintiff, or the members of the class he seeks to
represent, on their cellular telephones using an automatic telephone dialing system or an artificial or prerecorded voice, without
prior express consent, in violation of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, 47 U.S.C. §227 et seq. (“TCPA”). Plaintiff seeks
statutory damages of up to $1,500 for each violation. This action is at a very early stage.
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20.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncements were adopted effective January 1, 2015:

Residential Real Estate Collateralized Consumer Mortgage Loans In January 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board ("FASB") issued an Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") to define an in-substance repossession or foreclosure of
residential real estate for purposes of determining whether or not an entity should derecognize a consumer mortgage loan
collateralized by that real estate. Under the standard, an in-substance repossession or foreclosure has occurred if the entity
has obtained legal title to the real estate as a result of the completion of a foreclosure (even if the borrower has rights to
reclaim the property after the foreclosure upon the payment of certain amounts specified by law), or if, through a deed in
lieu of foreclosure or other legal agreement, the borrower conveys all interest in the real estate to the entity in satisfaction
of the loan. The standard also requires entities to disclose both the amount of foreclosed residential real estate held as well
as the recorded investment in consumer mortgage loans collateralized by residential real estate that the entity is in the process
of foreclosing upon. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2015. The adoption of this standard did not have any impact
on our financial statements. See Note 4, "Loans," for the new disclosure required by this standard.

Repurchase to Maturity Transactions, Repurchase Financings, and Disclosures In June 2014, the FASB issued an ASU
which changes the accounting for repurchase-to-maturity transactions to secured borrowing accounting and requires secured
borrowing accounting for the repurchase agreement in a contemporaneous repurchase financing arrangement. The
accounting changes in the ASU were effective beginning January 1, 2015. The ASU also required new disclosure about
repurchase agreements, securities lending transactions, and repurchase-to-maturity transactions that are accounted for as
secured borrowings to be presented for annual periods beginning January 1, 2015, and for interim periods beginning April
1, 2015. The adoption of this guidance did not have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.
See Note 17, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements," for the new disclosure required by
this standard.

The following are accounting pronouncements which will be adopted in future periods:

Recognition of Revenue from Contracts with Customers In May 2014, the FASB issued an ASU which provides a principles-
based framework for revenue recognition that supersedes virtually all previously issued revenue recognition guidance.
Additionally, the ASU requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the nature,
amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue that is recognized. The core principle of the five-step revenue recognition
framework is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
While the ASU as originally issued was scheduled to be effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1,
2017, in August 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date by one year, but provided entities the option to adopt it as of
the original effective date. The amendments in the ASU may be applied either retrospectively to each prior reporting period
presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of adoption recognized in equity at the date of initial application.
We are currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this ASU, including determining which transition method to
apply.

Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis In February 2015, the FASB issued an ASU which rescinds the deferral of
VIE consolidation guidance for reporting entities with interests in certain investment funds and provides a new scope
exception to registered money market funds and similar unregistered money market funds. The ASU makes several other
amendments including a) the elimination of certain criteria previously used for determining whether fees paid to a decision
maker represent a variable interest; b) revising the consolidation model for limited partnerships and similar entities which
could be variable interest entities or voting interest entities; ¢) excluding certain fees paid to a decision maker from the risk
and benefit test in the primary beneficiary determination if certain conditions are met; and d) reduces the application of the
related party guidance for VIEs. The ASU will be effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2016
and the guidance can be applied either retrospectively or by recording a cumulative effect adjustment to equity with early
adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a significant impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncements issued during the first nine months of 2015 that are expected to have
or could have a significant impact on our financial position or results of operations.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in press releases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC USA
Inc. ("HSBC USA" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HUSI") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute
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forward-looking statements. Words such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “would”, “could”, “appears”, “believe”, “intends”, “expects”,
“estimates”, “targeted”, “plans”, “anticipates”, “goal”, and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements
but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will
relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business
developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking

statements.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our
actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that
any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

* uncertain market and economic conditions, uncertainty relating to the U.S. debt and budget matters, the potential for
future downgrading of U.S. debt ratings, a decline in housing prices, a decline in energy prices, unemployment levels,
tighter credit conditions, changes in interest rates or a prolonged period of low or negative interest rates, the availability
of liquidity, unexpected geopolitical events, heightened market concerns over sovereign creditworthiness in over-indebted
countries, changes in consumer confidence and consumer spending, and consumer perception as to the continuing
availability of credit and price competition in the market segments we serve;

» changes in laws and regulatory requirements;
» the ability to deliver on our regulatory priorities;
* extraordinary government actions as a result of market turmoil;

»  capital and liquidity requirements under Basel 111, the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") Comprehensive Capital Analysis
and Review ("CCAR"), and the Dodd-Frank Act stress testing ("DFAST");

» changes in central banks' policies with respect to the provision of liquidity support to financial markets;

+ the ability of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group") and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association ("HSBC Bank USA") to fulfill the requirements imposed by the deferred prosecution agreements
with the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of New York, and the U.S. Attorney's
Office for the Northern District of West Virginia, our agreement with the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, our
other consent agreements as well as guidance from regulators generally;

» the use of us as a conduit for illegal activities without our knowledge by third parties;
» the ability to successfully manage our risks;
» the financial condition of our clients and counterparties and our ability to manage counterparty risk;

»  concentrations of credit and market risk, including exposure to Latin American corporate clients and the oil and gas
markets;

» the ability to successfully implement changes to our operational practices as needed and/or required from time to time;
+ damage to our reputation;
» the ability to attract and retain customers and to retain key employees;

+ theeffects of competition in the markets where we operate including increased competition for non-bank financial services
companies, including securities firms;

»  disruption in our operations from the external environment arising from events such as natural disasters, terrorist attacks,
global pandemics, or essential utility outages;

+ afailure in or a breach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors,
including as a result of cyber attacks;

» third party suppliers' and outsourcing vendors' ability to provide adequate services;
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* losses suffered due to the negligence or misconduct of our employees or the negligence or misconduct on the part of
employees of third parties;

*  our ability to meet our funding requirements;

» adverse changes to our credit ratings;

*  our ability to cross-sell our products to existing customers;

* increases in our allowance for credit losses and changes in our assessment of our loan portfolios;

» changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")
accounting standards and their interpretation;

*  heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial institutions;

» continued heightened regulatory scrutiny with respect to residential mortgage servicing practices, with particular focus
on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;

» changes to our mortgage servicing and foreclosure practices;
» changes in the methodology for determining benchmark rates;

* heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial markets, with a particular focus on foreign
exchange;

» the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation,
deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

* changes in bankruptcy laws to allow for principal reductions or other modifications to mortgage loan terms;

» additional financial contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
pension plan; and

» unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters, remediation
efforts, penalties and fines.

» the other risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2014 ("2014 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should,
however, consider any additional disclosures of a forward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in
any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Executive Overview

HSBC USA is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America, which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
HSBC. HUSI may also be referred to in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(HMD&A") as "We", lluS" Or Hour".

Current Environment While the U.S. economy continued its overall recovery during the first nine months of 2015, consumer
sentiment declined during the third quarter, falling to its lowest level in 11 months as falling oil prices and a slowdown in key
economies such as China, led to lower expectations of anticipated job and wage growth. The decline in optimism continued to
narrow; however, in late September, consumers increasingly came to believe that the recent stock market declines had more to do
with international conditions than the domestic economy. In addition, the U.S. labor market slowed in September after a long
stretch of significant job creation, raising concerns that international conditions may be weighing on the domestic economy and
diminishing expectations that the Federal Reserve will raise interest rates in 2015. The prolonged period of low interest rates
continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base.

During the first nine months of 2015, the U.S. economy added almost 1.8 million jobs while the number of long-term unemployed
fell almost 25 percent and total unemployment fell to 5.1 percent as of September 2015. Economic headwinds remain, however,
as wage growth remains weak, an elevated number of part-time workers continue to seek full-time work, the number of discouraged
people who have stopped looking for work remains elevated and economic uncertainty remains high in many economies outside
the U.S., including Latin America, where tepid economic activity has continued in 2015. The sustainability of the economic recovery
will be determined by numerous variables including consumer sentiment, energy prices, credit market volatility, employment levels
and housing market conditions which will impact corporate earnings and the capital markets. These conditions in combination
with global economic conditions, fiscal policy, geo-political concerns and the impact of recent regulatory changes including the
on-going implementation of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 (the "Dodd-Frank Act" or
"Dodd-Frank") and the heightened regulatory and government scrutiny of financial institutions will continue to impact our results
in 2015 and beyond.

While the housing market in the U.S. continues to recover, the strength of recovery varies by market. Certain courts and state
legislatures have issued rules or statutes relating to foreclosures and scrutiny of foreclosure documentation has increased in some
courts. Also, in some areas, officials are requiring additional verification of information filed prior to the foreclosure proceeding.
The combination of these factors has led to increased delays in several jurisdictions which will continue to take time to resolve.

Performance, Developments and Trends The following table sets forth selected financial highlights of HUSI for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 and as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

INEE INCOIMIC. ... e et e e et e e e e etae e e e e e earaeeeas $ 204 $ 1 $ 455 $ 284
Rate of return on average: - - -

TOtAL ASSELS ...ttt ettt sttt ettt ettt se et sttt eae e eaean 4% —% 3% 2%

Total common shareholders' eqUItY..........cecvrirrierierieeieeeeeee e 3.8 (4) 2.9 2.0
NEt INTEIESt MATZIN .vevieuvieeietieieete et ete e ete e eseetaesbeeseesbeessesseessesseessesseessesseessessees 1.31 1.37 1.35 1.44
EffICIENCY TTIO 1..eeteiieie ettt et nae e 68.5 100.5 74.3 88.8
Commercial net charge-off ratio!)...........ccc.coovivuiveceeeeeeeeee e, .05 (.01) .10 .08
Consumer net charge-0ff ratio™) ..............coooovvivoieeeeeee e, 18 35 34 48

M Excludes loans held for sale.
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September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Additional Select Ratios:

Allowance as a percent of 10a15™!) ............co.cooviivieieeeeeeeee oo .80% 87%
Commercial allowance as a percent of 10ans'" ..............cooourvveriririieiienies e 82 .85
Consumer allowance as a percent of 10an™") ...............cooooviiiiiiieeeeeeeeee e 72 .96
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual delinqUeNCY ...........coceverererenenieiienieneineneeeeesenne 4.67 5.59
L0805 t0 dePOSILS TAHOP ..........ovuoiveeeeeeeeseeeeeee e 89.71 91.94
Total capital to risk Weighted aSSets..........ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiieiecc s 16.33 15.78
Tier 1 capital to 1iSk WEIZhted @SSELS .....c.ueeriiiriiiriiiriiietee ettt 12.71 11.41
Common equity Tier 1 TAtI0.......occouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicc e 12.05 10.33
Total shareholders’ equity t0 tOtal ASSELS.......uerueierieieieiieieet ettt sttt eae b b 10.19 9.14
Select Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and interest bearing deposits With banks..............cccoceveiniiniiniinice e $ 232214 $ 31,698
TTAQING ASSELS...ecuviiuieiietieitietiet ettt et e st et e steestesteesaesteesseessesseessenseessasseeseesseessesseessesseessesssessasssessanseans 15,652 21,092
Securities available-fOr-Sale ...........coiiiiiririniriiiecece et 35,937 30,140
Loans:

COMMETCIAL JOANS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt sae b b e 64,752 58,087

CONSUIMET LOAMNS ....vieiiiiieiiietieti ettt et et e e et et e bt esbesteesseeseesseesaesseessesseessesseessesssessesssesseessansenssenseenns 20,190 19,654
TOLAL LOAIS ...ttt sttt e et e e e s et e e st et e ene e st et e eneenteeneenaeeneenseereenneeneens 84,942 77,741
DIEPOSIES....ueivvetieiteeiiet et ettt et et e bt e et e s te et e s beesbesteesbesteesbeessenbeesaenbeessanbeere e bt eraeeheeraeeaeensesreenbesreerseasaens 131,450 116,118
o

Excludes loans held for sale.

@ Represents period end loans, net of allowance for loan losses, as a percentage of domestic deposits equal to or less than $100,000.

Net income was $204 million and $455 million during the three and nine months ended September 30,2015, respectively, compared
with net income of $1 million and $284 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. Net
income in the current year-to-date period reflects the impact of New York City tax reform which resulted in an increase in tax
expense of $48 million during the second quarter of 2015. Net income in the prior year-to-date period was significantly impacted
by a tax reserve release as a result of the settlement of certain state and local tax audits which resulted in an income tax benefit of
$183 million during the second quarter of 2014 and the impact of New York State tax reform which resulted in an increase in tax
expense of $75 million during the first quarter of 2014.

Income before income tax was $315 million and $740 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, compared with a loss of $28 million during the three months ended September 30, 2014 and income of $198 million
during the nine months ended September 30, 2014. The increase in income (loss) before income tax in both periods reflects lower
operating expenses, higher other revenues, higher net interest income and, in the year-to-date period, a lower provision for credit
losses.
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Our results in all periods were impacted by certain significant items which distort the comparability of the performance trends of
our business between periods. The following table summarizes the impact of these items for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Income (loss) before income tax, as reported..........cccevverveieeeeeerenenenene e $ 315 § (28 $ 740 $ 198
Fair value movement on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread ...... 96) (7 214) 20
Litigation expense related to the settlement agreement with the Federal Housing
Finance Agency ("FHEA")....ccoo ettt — 108 — 178
Provision for credit losses relating to the increase in loss emergence period used in
our commercial loan collective impairment calculation...........cccceceveerenencrenenennene. — 25 — 118
Interest benefit related to the conclusion of certain state and local tax audits
resulting in the settlement of uncertain taX POSItIONS.........ccceererererenererineriereeeene — — — (120)
Adjusted PerformManCe'!.............o.ouiweeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee oo e e ee e $ 219 § 98 $ 526 $§ 394

" Represents a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure.

Excluding the collective impact of the items in the table above, our adjusted performance for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 improved by $121 million and $132 million, respectively, compared with the prior year periods. The increase
in the three month period was driven by higher net interest income, higher other revenues due primarily to higher miscellaneous
income associated with credit default swap protection, higher fair value option revenue largely associated with hybrid instruments,
as well as lower losses associated with our legacy structured credit products and lower operating expenses, partially offset by a
higher provision for credit losses. The lower operating expenses were driven by lower compensatory fee expense and lower litigation
costs. The increase in the year-to-date period reflects higher net interest income and higher other revenues for the reasons discussed
above, partially offset by a higher provision for credit losses and higher operating expenses due primarily to higher salaries and
employee benefits.

See "Results of Operations" for more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Balance Sheet Review" for
further discussion on our asset and liability trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources" for further discussion on funding and capital
and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends.

During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA exercised the option to call $560 million of junior subordinated debentures
previously issued by HSBC USA to HSBC USA Capital Trusts I, I and III at the contractual call prices of 100.781 percent, 100.84
percent and 100.732 percent, respectively, which resulted in a net loss on extinguishment of approximately $11 million. The trusts
used the proceeds to redeem the trust preferred securities previously issued to third party investors. During the second quarter of
2015, HSBC USA also redeemed all of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative
Preferred Stock at their stated values of $100 per share and $50 per share, respectively, resulting in a total cash payment of $300
million. Under the Basel III final rule, the trust preferred securities and cumulative perpetual preferred stock will fully phase out
of Tier 1 capital to Tier 2 capital by January 1, 2016. In addition, the trust preferred securities will start phasing out of Tier 2 capital
in 2016 and fully phase out by January 1, 2022. In response to these rule changes, the capital instruments were redeemed and
HSBC USA issued $850 million of Tier 2 subordinated debt to HSBC North America in the second quarter of 2015.

During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previously issued to HSBC North
Americaand HSBC Bank USArepaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issued to HSBC USA. In conjunction
with these repayments, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its immediate parent, HSBC North
America Inc. ("HNAI"), in exchange for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributions to its subsidiary,
HSBC Bank USA, of $2,400 million in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares
of non-cumulative preferred stock. These capital actions were taken to support our growth strategy and to strengthen the Basel
III regulatory capital positions of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

Our operations are focused on the core activities of our four global businesses and the positioning of our activities towards
international connectivity strategies in order to improve profitability. We also continue to focus on cost optimization efforts to
ensure realization of cost efficiencies. To date, we have identified and implemented various opportunities to reduce costs through
organizational structure redesign, vendor spending, discretionary spending and other general efficiency initiatives which have
resulted in workforce reductions. Additional cost reduction opportunities have been identified and are in the process of
implementation. These efforts continue and, as a result, we may incur restructuring charges in future periods, the amount of which
will depend upon the actions that ultimately are implemented. We also continue to evaluate our overall operations as we seek to
optimize our risk profile and cost efficiencies as well as our liquidity, capital and funding requirements. This could result in further
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strategic actions that may include changes to our legal structure, asset levels, cost structure or product offerings in support of
HSBC'’s strategic priorities.

Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP"). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

In addition to the U.S. GAAP financial results reported in our consolidated financial statements, MD&A includes reference to the
following information which is presented on a non-U.S. GAAP basis:

Group Reporting Basis We report financial information to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting
policies which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and
presented using financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting
Basis"). Because operating results on the Group Reporting Basis (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) are used in managing our
businesses and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors net income under this basis of
reporting. The following table reconciles our U.S. GAAP versus Group Reporting Basis net income:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2015 2014 2015 2014
(in millions)
Net income — U.S. GAAP DASIS ....c.evrueririeieiiieiiieiisieiisieieeeeie et ee $ 204 § 1 $§ 455 § 284
Adjustments, net of tax:
Loan iMPAITMENL ...c..eevveiieeieiieieii ettt ete st eae e ete e ebeseaesessaessesssessesssenseessesseensenses 12 2) 29 2
Loans held for Sale.... ..o e — — 8 —
PENSION COSES ..vviuiiiiiiiiiiieiieciie ettt et e st e et e st eeteesaseebaesaaeesteessseeaseessseenseeanas 2 — 8 11
DICIIVALIVES ...t euvevieeieetieieetteteeitesteete st este s st esaesseessesseessessaenseessenseassenseassenseessenseensenses 1 6) 2 4
LitiZatiON EXPENSE ...vveeeveerieiieerieerireeieeeteeteesteesseessaeesseesssessseesssessseesssesssessssesssesssees — (131) @ (79)
SECUITEIES ..vvevvieireeiieeiieeieeette e et e eteestteebeesteesaeebeesabeeseessbeeseessseessaassseesseessseanseess ?2) 1 ?2) (1)
Tax valuation allOWANCES..........cecevieirieeieerieereereecre et e eee e e eaeeeereeereereeseveebeenanas — 2) Q) 4
PLOPEILY ..ttt a et b e sa et sttt et eene 3) 3) ©) &)
L0AN OTIZINALION ...eueieieieeiieeeeee ettt ettt ettt et e st e eeeneeseeeneeenes 0} 2) @) )
OERNET ..ttt ettt ettt st 8 4 ®) (12)
Net income (1oss) — Group Reporting Basis ..........ccceevvevieeieriieieniieieseeieereeee e 221 (139) 472 191
Tax expense (benefit) — Group Reporting Basis..........ccceeeeviieieniniineiieieeeeeeeee 121 (112) 313 (155)
Profit (loss) before tax — Group Reporting Basis..........cceevvveeiveiericieriieiiceeeeeeeienns $ 342 § (251) $ 785 $ 36

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis impacting our results presented in the table above are
discussed in more detail within "Basis of Reporting" in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changes since
December 31, 2014 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.
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Balance Sheet Review

We utilize deposits and borrowings from various sources to provide liquidity, fund balance sheet growth, meet cash and capital
needs, and fund investments in subsidiaries. The following table provides balance sheet totals at September 30, 2015 and increases

(decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Period end assets:
Short-term IMVESTIMENTS .....vvviiiiieiieiieeeecieeee e e e e e eesaeeeeeeeeaaaeeees $ 43,637 $ 10,526 31.8%
| oY 4 S 1< AR 84,264 7,203 93
Loans held fOr SALE .......ccvieieiieieieeiere ettt s 368 (244) (39.9)
TTAAING ASSELS...eeutieetetieiieetiete ettt eb et ettt et sbe e sae e e saean 15,652 (5,440) (25.8)
SECUTILIES ... et ee e e et e e e e et e e e et e e e e e e eeneeeenteeeeenneeeenneeean 50,416 6,807 15.6
OLhET @SSEES .vevveuvieiiesiieieettete et ete et e e etesaeeaesteesbeesaesseesaesseesseseessesseensessnensessees 10,029 (25) (.2)
$ 204366 $ 18,827 10.1%
Funding sources:
TOtAl AEPOSILS ..vvivvieieiieeieeietieieete ettt ettt et sb ettt b et essesseseeteeseereeseebesbessens $ 131450 $ 15,332 13.2%
Trading HabilIties .....cc.eoveieieieietieeee ettt 6,336 (1,828) (22.4)
ShOTt-term DOITOWINGS ......eeveiuieeeeiieieeeieste et eee ettt seeeseeseesaeseesteeneesseeneeseeans 8,948 (3,847) (30.1)
Long-term debt......cc.ocvieiieiieiieieie et e 33,018 5,494 20.0
AlL Other HaDIItIES ....cvieveeiieeieiicieeie ettt ettt e ae e s eeeas 3,794 (177) 4.5)
Shareholders” EQUILY......c..coeveierieirircreere ettt s 20,820 3,853 22.7
$ 204366 $ 18,827 10.1%

Short-Term Investments Short-term investments include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, federal
funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Short-term investments increased since December 31, 2014
driven by our conservative liquidity management practices, where we raise funds in advance of their usage and opportunistically

deploy them to maximize returns.
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Loans, Net The following summarizes our loan balances at September 30, 2015 and increases (decreases) since December 31,
2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Commercial loans:
Construction and other real @State..........c.ecerveeerieirieririenneieereeeree e $ 12,096 $ 1,796 17.4%
Business and corporate banking...........c.cocceveeereeineninenieeneeneeneeneeneennenens 19,514 1,695 9.5
GIobal BANKING'™ ..o 29,808 3,421 13.0
Other COMMETCIAL........ecciieiieiieieie et nesnees 3,334 (247) (6.9)
Total commercial 64,752 6,665 11.5
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZAZES .....ccvevieieiieierii ettt neenees 17,460 799 4.8
Home equity MOTtZAZES .....coovieuieiieiieiieienieee ettt s 1,639 (145) (8.1)
CIEAIt CATAS ..ottt ettt et e et et esneenaesneeneeneen 682 (38) (5.3)
OthET CONSUIMET ...evviiieiieeiieetieeteieeee e eeesaeeaesteesbessaesseesaesseesaeseessesseessessnensensees 409 (80) (16.4)
TOtAl COMSUIMET ......couviiiiieiieiiiiee ettt e et e e e eaaaee e e e e eaaeeeeesennnees 20,190 536 2.7
Total loans 84,942 7,201 93
Allowance for credit losses 678 2) (:3)
Loans, net $ 84,264 $ 7,203 9.3%

(" Represents large multinational firms including globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions and U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers managed by HSBC on a global basis. Also includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $5,447 million and $4,821 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Commercial loans increased compared with December 31, 2014 due to new business activity which reflects our continued focus
on expanding our core offerings and proactively targeting domestic companies with international banking requirements in key
growth markets as well as utilizing our global network to collaborate and grow U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking
customers. Loan growth occurred across a wide range of borrowers and was strongest in the real estate, health care, utility and
textile industries.

Consumer loans increased compared with December 31, 2014 driven by an increase in residential mortgage loans as we continue
to target new residential mortgage loan originations towards our Premier and Advance customer relationships and sell newly
originated conforming loans to PHH Mortgage Corporation ("PHH Mortgage"). Home equity mortgages decreased reflecting net
paydowns as our focus continues to shift towards residential mortgage loans. Credit card receivables and other consumer loans
also decreased reflecting net paydowns.

Prior to 2013, real estate markets in a large portion of the United States had been affected by stagnation or declines in property
values for a number of years. While the loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our mortgage loan portfolio have generally deteriorated
since origination, we have seen a general improvement in the LT Vs for our mortgage loan portfolio in recent years. The following
table presents LT Vs for our mortgage loan portfolio, excluding mortgage loans held for sale:

LTVs at LTVs at
September 30, 2015M® December 31, 2014®

First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien
LTV < 80%0. ettt 94.0% 76.8% 92.3% 74.5%
80% LTV < O0%0. it 33 10.8 4.2 11.9
90% S LTV < 100%0. ettt 1.6 7.3 2.1 7.7
LTV > 1000 ..ottt 1.1 5.1 1.3 6.0
Average LTV for portfolio.........coceeveverenenenicnieiiiincncncncnee, 56.0 60.1 57.4 61.6

M LTVs for first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. LTVs for second liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the
reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of
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loan origination updated by the change in the Federal Housing Finance Agency's house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Area or state
level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing
price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. As a result, actual property values associated with loans that end in foreclosure may be
significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of this disclosure.
@ Current estimated property values are calculated using the most current HPIs available and applied on an individual loan basis, which results in an approximate
three month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using
HPIs as of June 30, 2015 and September 30, 2014, respectively.

Loans Held for Sale The following table summarizes loans held for sale at September 30, 2015 and increases (decreases) since
December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount Y%
(dollars are in millions)
COMMETCIAL LOANS .....euveviieieeieiieiieieieietee ettt se et etaeteeseeseeseeseesensas $ 269 $ (259) (49.1)%
Consumer loans:
Residential MOTtZages.......ovueeiieuierieieie ettt 16 ) (11.1)

Other consumer..........cc.ccceuveeen.... 83 17 25.8
Total conSUMET...........ccvvvevuvreenn... 99 15 17.9
$ 368 $ (244) (39.9)%

Total loans held for sale

Commercial loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2014. Balances will fluctuate from period to period
depending upon volume and level of activity. Commercial syndicated loans that are originated with the intent of selling them to
unaffiliated third parties and commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our
exposure to certain total return swaps are classified as commercial loans held for sale and we have elected to designate these loans
under the fair value option. The fair value of commercial loans held for sale under these programs was $175 million and $384
million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Commercial loans held for sale also included $27 million and $44 million of global banking loans at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively, as well as commercial real estate loans totaling $67 million and $100 million at September 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Residential mortgage loans held for sale were relatively flat compared with December 31, 2014. We sell all our agency eligible
residential mortgage loan originations servicing released directly to PHH Mortgage. Also included in residential mortgage loans
held for sale are subprime residential mortgage loans of $3 million and $4 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, which were acquired from unaffiliated third parties and from HSBC Finance Corporation ("HSBC Finance") with
the intent of securitizing or selling the loans to third parties.

Other consumer loans held for sale reflects student loans which we no longer originate.

Excluding the commercial loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance
on consumer loans held for sale was $14 million and $15 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was $21 million and $5 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.
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Trading Assets and Liabilities The following table summarizes trading assets and liabilities balances at September 30, 2015 and
increases (decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Trading assets:

SECUIIHES" ...o.oo vttt $ 9,624 §  (3.874) (28.7)%
Precious metals 1,893 (99) (5.0)
DETIVALIVES, DO ..ot 4,135 (1,467) (26.2)

$ 15,652 $ (5,440) (25.8)%

Trading liabilities:

Securities sold, not yet purchased...........ccoeecveeieiieieriiiiee s $ 717 S 34 5.0 %
Payables for precious metals...........ccooeeveerieieiieieceeeeee e — (22) (100.0)
DEriVAtIVES, NEE™) ..o 5,619 (1,840) (24.7)

$ 6,336 $ (1,828) (22.4)%

1)
2

See Note 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a breakout of trading securities by category.

At September 30,2015 and December 31,2014 the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets has been reduced by $5,714 million and $4,811 million,
respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

G At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 the fair value of derivatives included in trading liabilities has been reduced by $1,681 million and $1,724
million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

Securities balances decreased compared with December 31, 2014 due primarily to a decrease in foreign sovereign guaranteed
positions. Securities positions are held to mitigate the risks of interest rate products issued to customers of domestic and emerging
markets. Balances of securities sold, not yet purchased increased compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting increases in short
U.S. Treasury and foreign sovereign guaranteed positions.

Precious metals trading assets decreased compared with December 31, 2014 driven by decreases in our own gold and palladium
inventory positions held as hedges for client activity as well as lower spot prices. These decreases were partially offset by an
increase in our own silver inventory position. Precious metal positions may not represent our net underlying exposure as we may
use derivatives contracts to reduce our risk associated with these positions, the fair value of which would appear in derivatives in
the table above.

Derivative asset and liability balances both decreased compared with December 31, 2014 mainly from the impact of increased
netting associated with an increase in central counterparty clearing, partially offset by market movements. Market movements
resulted in lower valuations of equity and commodity derivatives which were partially offset by higher valuations of foreign
exchange, interest rate and credit derivatives.

Securities Securities include securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity. With regards to securities available for
sale, balances will fluctuate between periods depending upon our liquidity position at the time. The increase in balances compared
with December 31, 2014 largely reflects purchases of higher-yielding U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities as part
of a continuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based on the
current interest rate environment and liquidity needs.

Other Assets Other assets includes intangibles and goodwill. Other assets was flat compared with December 31,2014 as increased
investments in Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank stock and higher outstanding balances related to security sales
were offset by lower cash collateral posted and lower derivative balances associated with hedging activities.
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Deposits The following summarizes deposit balances by major depositor categories at September 30, 2015 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2014:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2014

September 30,
2015 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Individuals, partnerships and cOrporations...........c.ceoerereereeriereeeeeneneseseseseene $ 106,295 $ 9,908 10.3%
Domestic and foreign banks ..........ccceceeereririnineneneneneieeeeceeeese e 23,208 4,629 24.9
U.S. government and states and political subdivisions ..........cccceceevererenercnennne 942 117 14.2
Foreign governments and official inStitutions.........cccevevveveieeeccneniencncncncneenen 1,005 678 *
TOtAl AEPOSIES. ...vivieeiiitieiieiieieete ettt ettt ettt b e st b e s te b e et ebeete e b e ean e reens $ 131450 $ 15,332 13.2%
Total COTe dePOSIES™) ...........oveoveeeeeeeeeeeeee oo $ 94338 $ 9,852 11.7%

* Not meaningful.

(M Core deposits, as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council ("FFIEC") guidelines, generally include all domestic

demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $100,000.

Deposit balances increased since December 31, 2014 largely due to higher levels of commercial savings and demand deposits
reflecting new business activity in key growth markets, increased wholesale time deposits driven by new issuances, growth in
deposits from individuals driven by the impact of promotional rates offered on savings accounts to our Premier customers and
higher levels of affiliate call deposits. The strategy for our core retail banking business includes building relationship deposits
across multiple markets, channels and segments. This strategy involves various initiatives, such as:

»  HSBC Premier, a premium service wealth and relationship banking proposition designed for the internationally-minded
client with a dedicated premier relationship manager. Total Premier deposits increased to $23,020 million at September 30,
2015 as compared with $20,343 million at December 31, 2014; and

»  Expanding our existing customer relationships by needs-based sales of wealth, banking and mortgage products.
We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.

Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings decreased compared with December 31, 2014 primarily due to lower levels of
securities sold under repurchase agreements reflecting reduced investor demand and a move away from these borrowings as a
funding source as rates have increased as well as a decrease in commercial paper outstanding driven by maturities.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt increased compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting the impact of debt issuances, including
increased borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB"), partially offset by debt repayments and
retirements. Debt issuances totaled $3,658 million and $15,798 million during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015, respectively, of which $2 million and $23 million, respectively, was issued by HSBC Bank USA. During the first quarter
of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior debt previously issued to HSBC North America, which was partially offset
during the second quarter of 2015 by the issuance of $1,000 million of senior debt and $850 million of subordinated debt, both to
HSBC North America. During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA also exercised the option to call its remaining junior
subordinated debentures previously issued by HSBC USA to three separate capital trusts, totaling $560 million. See Note 15,
"Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements," for additional details.

Incremental issuances from the HSBC Bank USA Global Bank Note Program totaled $23 million during the nine months ended
September 30, 2015. Total debt outstanding under this program was $4,476 million and $4,501 million at September 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, respectively. We anticipate using the Global Bank Note Program more in the future as part of our efforts
designed to minimize overall funding costs while accessing diverse funding channels.

Incremental issuances from our shelf registration statement with the SEC totaled $9,324 million of senior debt during the nine
months ended September 30, 2015, which included $3,300 million and $2,700 million of senior notes that were issued by HSBC
USA in February and August, respectively, as well as $3,324 million of structured notes. Total long-term debt outstanding under
this shelf was $21,153 million and $17,161 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Borrowings from the FHLB totaled $5,600 million and $1,000 million at September 30,2015 and December 31,2014, respectively.

All Other Liabilities All other liabilities decreased slightly compared with December 31, 2014 due primarily to lower outstanding
settlement balances related to security purchases, partially offset by higher derivative balances associated with hedging activities.

88



HSBC USA Inc.

Shareholders' Equity During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its
immediate parent, HNAI and, during the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA redeemed all of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative
Preferred Stock, Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative Preferred Stock, totaling $300 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings
and Regulatory Capital Requirements," for additional details and see Note 18, "Preferred Stock," in our 2014 Form 10-K for

information regarding all remaining outstanding preferred share issues.

Results of Operations

Net Interest Income Net interest income is the total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. In the discussion that follows, interest income and rates are presented and analyzed on a taxable equivalent
basis to permit comparisons of yields on tax-exempt and taxable assets. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest
rates on a taxable equivalent basis is presented in this MD&A under the caption "Consolidated Average Balances and Interest

Rates."

The significant components of net interest margin are summarized in the following table:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

2015 Compared to
2014
Increase (Decrease)

Volume Rate 2014

Interest income:

(dollars are in millions)

Short-term INVESLMENLS .....cc.eeiririiriirtiriirtisertest ettt ettt $ 30 $ 11 S 3 $ 22
TTAAINE SECULTLIES ...ttt ettt b e e 75 3 9 63
SECUTTEIES ..ttt ettt ettt sttt ettt b e ettt sne e ne e e 237 24 28 185
CommETCial IOANS. .....couietiiiiriiieieieicee ettt 356 57 5) 304
CONSUMET J0AMS ...c.etiiitiietet ettt ettt et ettt e b e ebe bt bbb e nnen 183 7 A3 179
(07313 SRS 15 ?2) 8 9
Total INTETESt INCOMEC ......cveuirieeirieiieteieteietene ettt ettt sttt ettt et se et enesaenenaenens 896 100 34 762
Interest expense:

DIEPOSIES ..ttt b bttt ettt e h bbb bt e nten 77 15 25 37
Short-term DOTTOWINES ......coevuiririiriineniertineenetetetee ettt 13 “@) 6 11
LONG-EITN AEDE.....ceiitirtiiiierieteeeeee ettt st 184 44 (25) 165
Tax liabilities and Other......c..ccccuevieiiiiiiiiiiii e 2 — 1) 3
TOtal INTETEST EXPEIISE ...c.veuvereintenienieieiieiteiceteet ettt ettt ettt ettt ebesbe bbb e nnen 276 55 5 216
Net interest income — taxable equivalent basis ..........cccoevveieriereriininiiinieneneeereneene 620 $ 45 $ 29 546
Less: tax equivalent adjuStmMent ...........ccueoereriririnenenienieeeeeteeee et 3 - 3
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basis .........cccccecvevervnvnnininininincnenns s 617 W
Yield on total interest €arning aSSELS........ccuerueeeerueerierieresierteeeente et ee e 1.90% 1.91%
Cost of total interest bearing Habilities ...........cocoviverenirenieniciee e 81 72
Interest rate SPIEAd ........ceveruerierierieieieietete ettt ettt 1—09 1.19
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds'.............c...coocoovorierieeereereeee e 22 18
Net interest margin on average €arning assets ...........coevereereereereeerrenesenereressenensens T 131% T 137%
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2015 Compared to
2014
Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 Volume Rate 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

SROTT-TEIM INVESTIMENES .eeeeieeieeeeeeee ettt e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeseseeaeaeaeseeeeeeneneeeeees $ 78 $ 24 $ 4 $ 58
TTAAINE SECUITLIES ..e.vevitiieteieteiet ettt sttt ettt e be st s b e saenees 261 13 72 176
SECUITLIES ...ttt sttt ettt ettt ettt ae et ae bt sae e ebesnenaennen 666 11 82 595
CommMETCIal IOANS . .....euiiiieiiieieeee ettt 1,010 174 (50) 886
CONSUMET JOAMNS ..ottt ettt sttt ettt sa et neennen 545 20 @) 532
OBRCT .ttt ettt et b e bbb nnen 44 5) 18 31
Total INEIESt INCOIME .....eeeetieiiieeieie ettt ettt sttt eac et e et esaeeneesneeneeenean 2,604 215 111 2278
Interest expense:

DIEPOSIES ..ttt sttt ettt ettt b ettt st b ettt ettt b et b et bentebe 177 38 31 108
ShOTt-term DOTTOWINES ......eeveiiiriiriiriiiteriistesieste ettt ettt st 35 (11) 19 27
Long-termm deDbt.......coeiiiieiiiieeee et e 524 139 (102) 487
Tax liabilities and Other.........cocveirieiirieiieireeee et 10 18 83 1)
Total INTEIESt EXPEIISE . ..c.veuverrenrenrenreeeiieitetettete ettt ettt ettt et sr e eb e neseeneen 746 184 31 531
Net interest income — taxable equivalent Dasis .........c.ccoeverieieiereeienininceeseseseenee 1,858  $ 31 $ 80 1,747
Less: tax equivalent adjustment ........c..cceeceeerereriineneneneieceereeee e o - 12
Net interest income — non taxable equivalent basis ........c.ccoeeeeciereeeninieninieneneneene SB],T $1,735
Yield on total interest Carning aSSELS.........ceceeererirererierierienieeetetee ettt seenees 1.90% 1.88%
Cost of total interest bearing lHabilities ...........coccoiverenencniininiineceee .74 57
INtETest 1ate SPIEAM .......eouerueriirieieieieiiee ettt s 1.16 1.31
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds™...............cc.ccoooooiiiireiiioeeieeeeee e .19 13
Net interest margin on average €arning aSSELS .......c.eeeveruereeieeereeerereresresresseseensenee m 1.44%
0]

Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assets in excess of interest bearing liabilities. Increased percentages reflect growth in this excess,
while decreased percentages reflect a reduction in this excess.

Net interest income in the year-to-date period of 2014 reflects a $120 million benefit to tax liabilities interest expense related to
the conclusion of certain state and local tax audits, as discussed further below under the heading "Income Taxes." Excluding the
impact of this item, net interest income increased $74 million and $234 million during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2015, respectively, driven by higher interest income in all categories, primarily commercial loans as well as securities and
trading securities, partially offset by higher interest expense due primarily to increased expense from deposits and long-term debt.

Short-term investments Higher interest income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflects higher average
balances, primarily in interest bearing deposits with banks and, to a lesser extent, securities purchased under agreements to resell,
partially offset by lower yields on these assets.

Trading securities The increase in interest income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was driven primarily
by a shift in mix to longer term, higher yielding securities and, to a lesser extent, higher average securities balances. Securities in
the trading portfolio are managed as economic hedges against the derivative activity of our customers, which, in response to the
current interest rate environment, has shifted towards longer term, higher yielding returns.

Securities Interest income increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to a shift in mix
towards longer-term, higher yielding securities and, in the quarter-to-date period, higher average outstanding balances driven
largely by purchases of U.S. government agency mortgage-backed securities. These increases were partially offset in the year-to-
date period by lower average outstanding balances which reflects the sales of U.S. Treasury and U.S. government agency mortgage-
backed securities.
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Commercial loans Interest income increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher average
balances due to loan growth, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans and refinanced loans. Lower yields reflect
market conditions and a continued focus on higher quality lending to reduce credit risk exposure in our loan portfolio.

Consumer loans Interest income increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher residential
mortgage average balances, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans. Lower yields on newly originated loans
reflect market conditions and a continued focus on higher quality lending to reduce credit risk exposure in our loan portfolio.

Deposits Higher interest expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflects the impact of higher average
interest-bearing deposit balances, a shift in mix towards higher priced wholesale time deposits driven by new issuances and higher
rates paid on savings accounts driven by promotional offers to our Premier customers.

Short-term borrowings Higher interest expense during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflects higher rates
paid, primarily on securities sold under repurchase agreements, partially offset by lower average outstanding borrowings.

Long-term debt Interest expense was higher in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher outstanding
borrowings, partially offset by a shift in mix towards lower priced non-subordinated debt.

Tax liabilities and other Excluding the one-time benefit related to the conclusion of certain state and local tax audits discussed
above, interest expense decreased in the year-to-date period as the conclusion of these audits resulted in lower interest-bearing tax
liability balances.

Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes the provision for credit losses associated with our various loan
portfolios:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real eState .........c.ecevveerveenieineinieeneeeceeeeeeeeeene $ 3 S ©® 3 6 66.7%
Business and corporate banking...........c.ccceeeeeevieeierieinnininienieneneseseneneenenne 32 36 @) (11.1)
GlObAl DANKING ....cveviiiriietiitesietetese ettt 16 — 16 *
Other COMMETCIAL......co.eoiriiririiriierecceceeeteee e 4)) 1 2) *
Total cOMMETCIAL..........corueirieirieiricereeeeee e $ 4 $§ 28 § 16 57.1
Consumer:
Residential MOTEZAZES .......c.crveuerveuirreirieirieieieieieeee ettt 3) (11) 8 72.7
Home equity MOTtZAZES .....coervirvinrerieieteieeeeeteeeteeee ettt s ?2) 5) 3 60.0
Credit CATAS ...oveeuiiiieiiiiieieet ettt bbb e 7 9 2) (22.2)
OFhET CONSUIMET .....veneiiiiirieierteie ettt ettt ettt st sttt st ne 1 2 (1) (50.0)
TOtal CONSUMET ...ttt sttt 3 5) 8 *
Total provision for credit IoSSES.......ccouirieririereiereeeeee e $ 47 $ 23 $ 24 *
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annualized ..........c..ccccoceveninenenenne. T02% 01%
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Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Construction and other real estate............coerevverierienieiieieeeieeneeeene e $ @ S 1 3 3) *
Business and corporate banking ............coceceeveveneenieineninenineneneneneeneneeeeene 54 111 (57) (51.4)
Global DANKING......cuveiieieiieiiiiiieinereeteere ettt 39 36 3 8.3
Other COMMETCIAL ......co.cciviiiiiiiiiieeec e 3) (12) 9 75.0
Total COMMETCIAL......c..cceeuiriiiiiiiiiiee e $ 8 $ 134 § (48) (35.9)
Consumer:
Residential MOTtGAZES.......cevvruiruireririinienienteteteteteeeeee et 9) (20) 11 55.0
Home equity MOTtZAZES ......ccueruertirririirtinierienteieie ettt “@ (11) 7 63.6
Credit CAIdS .. ..ottt ettt 14 18 4 (22.2)
OMhEr CONSUIMET .....c..euerieuirienieientnieteteeeteneete ettt sre e sb et re et se b e 7 3 4 *
TOtAl CONSUIMET......cueiuieiieiiriiriiiietie ettt ettt 8 (10) 18 *
Total provision for Credit IoSSES..........oeiriririririrereneeeeee et $ 94 $ 124 § 30) (242)%
Provision as a percentage of average loans, annualized............ccccecevivincncnnenne. T02% 02%

* Not meaningful.

Our provision for credit losses increased $24 million during the three months ended September 30, 2015 driven by a higher provision
for credit losses in both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios. In the year-to-date period, our provision for credit losses
decreased $30 million as a lower provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio was partially offset by a higher
provision for credit losses in our consumer loan portfolio. During the three months ended September 30, 2015, we increased our
allowance for credit losses as the provision for credit losses was higher than net charge-offs by $30 million. In the year-to-date
period, we decreased our allowance for credits losses as the provision for credit losses was lower than net charge-offs by $2 million.

Our provision for credit losses in the prior year reflects revisions to certain estimates used in our commercial loan impairment
calculation, including estimates of loss emergence, which resulted in an incremental provision for credit losses of approximately
$25 million and $118 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. Excluding the impact of
this item, the provision for credit losses in our commercial portfolio increased $41 million and $70 million during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, due primarily to higher provisions associated with oil and gas industry loan
exposures as well as higher specific customer provisions largely driven by a single customer relationship, higher provisions due
to loan growth and downgrades reflecting weaknesses in the financial circumstances of certain customer relationships. These
increases were partially offset by lower provisions for risk factors associated with emerging market loan exposures and releases
of reserves associated with maturities of lower quality loans. Crude oil prices remained depressed during the first nine months of
2015 and as a result of these market conditions, we downgraded certain credits which resulted in a $69 million increase to our
credit loss reserves ($43 million of which was recorded in the third quarter). We will continue to conduct quarterly reviews of our
oil and gas industry credit exposures to ensure our credit grades continue to reflect current conditions. If oil and gas prices stay at
end of September levels for an extended period of time, further adjustments to our credit loss reserves may be required.

The provision for credit losses on residential mortgages including home equity mortgages increased $11 million and $18 million
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, due primarily to the non-recurrence of a $10 million
reduction to our residential mortgage allowance for credit losses that was recorded in the third quarter of 2014 as a result of our
determination that delays in the processing of certain operational transactions were overstating our estimate of residential mortgage
loan loss severity. In addition, the positive impacts from lower severity estimates due to improvements in home prices and continued
improvements in economic and credit conditions including lower dollars of delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually
delinquent were more pronounced in the prior year. These increases were partially offset in the year-to-date period by lower loss
estimates associated with the remediation of certain mortgage servicing activities and lower losses associated with advances made
on behalf of borrowers.

The provision for credit losses associated with credit cards decreased $2 million and $4 million during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015, respectively, due to continued improvements in economic and credit conditions, including improvements
in delinquency roll rates.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in our 2014 Form 10-K under
the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New
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Accounting Pronouncements." See "Credit Quality" in this MD&A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit losses
associated with our various loan portfolios.

Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card fEES ..o..eveeenieieieeeieet ettt $ 1 3 13 8 2) (154%
Trust and investment management fees .........cc.cvervevierierieririninienineneseseneeeen 46 35 11 314
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ......c.coveerueirieiriiiniiieiieeteneeeerreeree et reeenes 188 186 2 1.1
Trading revVenue (EXPEINSE) ......ceeuereruirrererterienrenietetetenteteseeeereesesresaeseessessensennes (34) ©) (25) *
Net other-than-temporary impairment 10SSeS........c..coueeeeiririnenenirinesenereeenee — 4 4 100.0
Other securities gains (10SSES), NEt........ccveruiriereriereeiere e 11 27 (16)  (59.3)
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates..........cccocecvevvinncneicncicnccnencns 53 53 — —
Residential mortgage banking revenue ..........c..coevveeeeeveieirineneneneneneseneneenen 16 17 €)) (5.9)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives......... 165 36 129 *

Other income:

Valuation of loans held for sale...........c.ccveviniinioninniniicenecneens 6) 2 ®) *
INSUTANCE ..ot e 2 5 3) (60.0)
MiSCEllaneous INCOME .......ccveeviirrieiieieeieeeteieeeeie et steete e eesesreesseereesseeseenseees 79 25 54 *
Total Other INCOME.......ccuieiieiiiieiieeie ettt ettt e sve e e beeseaeeaaeenes 75 32 43 *
Total OtheT TEVENUES........eeivieeieiieiictiete ettt ettt es et teesbesree s e eaeenseees $ 531 §$ 386 $ 145 37.6 %

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Credit Card fEES ..o..eveieieiieiieeeee ettt $ 32 9 40 $ ®)  (20.0)%
Trust and investment management fes .........cccoevvevierieierininenininereseeeseeee 127 98 29 29.6
Other fees and COMMISSIONS ......c.c..eerueirieirienirieieiieeteneterree et eeaenenes 560 541 19 3.5
Trading revenue (EXPENSE)......c.ueuerveutrueririeirienirtenteseneesersesertesertesessesessesessesesenseses 23 139 (116)  (83.5)
Net other-than-temporary impairment l0SSeS........c..coeeeeerirerenienenineneneneenee — (11) 11 100.0
Other SECUTities ZAINS, NET ......cceruiririiriirerienteteteeeter ettt 69 42 27 64.3
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.........ccccceeveveeinineniniencninenenne 162 151 11 7.3
Residential mortgage banking revenue ..........c..cceevecveievenininceneninenenesesceenes 50 87 (37) (42.5)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives......... 306 20 286 *

Other income:

Valuation of loans held for sale...........c.ccveiniiniininniniincneneceens 15) 2 (17) *
INSUTANCE ...eeeeiiieeee ettt e e et e e eae e e steeeennseesnnneas 14 13 1 7.7
MiSCEllaneous INCOME .......ccvieeiirrieiierieeeeteieeteie et ere e eesesreesseeseesseeseenseenas 70 25 45 *
Total Other INCOME.......ccuieciieieiieiieeie ettt et e e e ae e be e seeeeaveenes 69 40 29 72.5
Total OtheT TEVENUES ... .c.eevieeieiieiietiete ettt ettt b e te e reesbesreesseeneenseneas $ 1,398 §$§ 1,147 $ 251 21.9 %

*  Not meaningful.

Credit card fees Credit card fees decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to lower credit
card late fees. In 2015, we began reporting credit card late fees in interest and, as a result, we reported $2 million and $6 million
of credit card late fees in interest income during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015.

93



HSBC USA Inc.

Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management fees increased in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 driven by higher investment management fees due in part to growth in assets under management principally
in our emerging market bond funds. In addition, in 2015, we began reporting certain investment management fees associated with
our Private Banking business in trust and investment management fees. As a result, we reported $6 million and $11 million of
Private Banking fees in trust and investment management fees during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, that previously would have been reported in other fees and commissions.

Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as
higher credit facility fees resulting from increased levels of commercial lending activity were largely offset by lower other fees
which reflects the impact of Private Banking investment management fees discussed above, lower custodial fees due to a decrease
in precious metals average inventory held under custody and lower account service fees due primarily to a decline in non-sufficient
funds and late fees. The following table summarizes the components of other fees and commissions. During the second quarter of
2015, we determined that loan syndication fees would be better presented within credit facilities in the table below. As a result,
we reclassified $15 million and $33 million of loan syndication fees from other fees to credit facilities during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2014, respectively, to conform with current year presentation.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUNE SEIVICES ..vvvriinienieiieiieitetiee ettt sttt ettt et st aeae $ 73 % 80 @) (8.8)%
Credit FACIITIES ..eeuveeieieeeiete ettt sttt et e e e seeneesseeneeenes 91 71 20 28.2
CUstodial fEES ....ueevieiiiiiriietieeeece e 8 11 3) (7.3
Oher fEES ..eviuiiiirieeiereret ettt e 16 24 ® (333

Total other fees and COMIMISSIONS .......ccvviiiiviiiieeiie ettt e eaaeeens $ 188 §$ 186 $ 2 1.1 %

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
ACCOUINL SEIVICES ...uvevveenitetesineeeteteseeseeteseseseeteteseeeseseseaesesseseseaesseseseeasesesenan $ 214 § 228 § (14) 6.1)%
Credit FACIItIES ....eoveeeeriiieieteiertereee ettt 264 194 70 36.1
CUSLOIAL TRES ...ttt 16 32 (16)  (50.0)
Oher fEES ...eviiiiieiieteiteeee ettt 66 87 21) (24D

Total other fees and COMMUISSIONS .........covevviiieiiiiiiiieeeeeieeeeeeeeeeiereeeeeerareeeeeenanees $ 560 $ 541 $ 19 3.5%

94



HSBC USA Inc.

Trading revenue Trading revenue is generated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit, equities and precious metals
markets. The following table presents trading related revenue by business activity and includes net interest income earned on
trading instruments, as well as an allocation of the funding benefit or cost associated with the trading positions. The trading related
net interest income component is included in net interest income on the consolidated statement of income. Trading revenues related
to the mortgage banking business are included in residential mortgage banking revenue.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Trading FEVENMUE......c.coviiieiiiiieiieiieiieere ettt s s $ (34) $ 9 $ (25) *

Net INETESt INCOME ..ottt 36 23 13 56.5

Trading related TEVENUE. ........c.cvveirieiriiiriiirictcteeeet ettt $ 2 3 14 3 (12)  (85.1)%

Business Activities: -
DErTVAtIVES'™!) ... $ @3 $ (48 $ 5 10.4
Balance Sheet Management ...........c.coevuerienienieieieieineecnenese et A3) (6) 3 50.0
Foreign eXChange .........cccoccveiriiiinnencneseee e 43 50 (7  (14.0)
Precious METalS.......coeiiririririinienerestetee ettt 14 17 3) 17.6)
Capital FINANCING ....c.evveeirieiriiinicirtcnerneeerteee st 6] 1 9 *
Oher trading .....ccceceeeririninereees ettt (6)) — (1) *

Trading related TEVENUE. ........covueuirieiriiiriiirieietcet ettt $ 2 S 14 3 (12)  (85.1)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

TrAdING TEVENUE. .....cveeiveveeieiieteieeeiie ettt se et sesesess s esesese s sesesens $ 23 0§ 139§ (116) (83.5)%

NEt INEETESt TNCOMIE ......vieiieieiieeeieie ettt ettt et et et et e e e seeeneesseeneesseeneeeneas 169 72 97 *

Trading related TEVENUE. ........ccoiiuiiiiiriiieiereee et $ 192 $§ 211 $ (19) (9.0)%

Business Activities: -
DETIVAtIVES! ...oooooivieiiiceeieniecs e $ 30 8 24§ 6  250%
Balance Sheet Management ...........c.ccoevverenieieieienieieincnenene et (19) 9) (10) *
FOreign eXChange ..........ccoeevrueirieieieieeseeseeee et 156 160 4) (2.5)
Precious MEtalS.......ocveuieieeiieeeeee e e e 43 38 5 13.2
Capital FINANCING ....c.ovvevirieiriiiiiiincinerneeeeseee e (14) 1 (15) *
Other trading .......ocveeieiieiiee ettt ettt e e e @) 3) (1) (333

Trading related TEVENUE. .......ccoiiuiiiiiiirereeee e $ 192 $§ 211 $ (19) (9.0)%

* Not meaningful.

M Includes derivative contracts related to credit default and cross-currency swaps, equities, interest rates and structured credit products.

Trading related revenue decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to lower revenue from Capital
Financing, foreign exchange and, in the three month period, precious metals, partially offset by higher revenue from derivatives
and, in the year-to-date period, precious metals. In addition, while higher losses from Balance Sheet Management related activities
contributed to the decrease in the year-to-date period, Balance Sheet Management revenues improved in the three month period.

Trading revenue from derivative products improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven primarily
by lower losses related to our legacy structured credit products as the prior year periods reflect losses on the transfer of risk
associated with portions of our credit derivatives portfolio. This improvement was partially offset by lower revenue from emerging
markets related products.

Trading revenue related to Balance Sheet Management activities improved during the three months ended September 30, 2015
and declined in the year-to-date period due to the performance of economic hedge positions used to manage interest rate risk.

Foreign exchange trading revenue was lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by credit valuation
adjustments related to the deterioration of a single counterparty.
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Precious metals trading revenue decreased during the three months ended September 30, 2015 and increased in the year-to-date
period. The decrease in the three month period reflects the impact of declining trade volumes from reduced investor demand, which
was more than offset in the year-to-date period by higher net interest income.

Capital Financing revenue decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to valuation adjustments
on credit default swap hedge positions and valuation losses on premium bond positions.

Net other-than-temporary impairment losses During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, there were no other-
than-temporary impairment losses recognized. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, the debt securities
held by a consolidated variable interest entity ("VIE") otherwise known as Bryant Park, which were previously determined to be
other-than-temporarily impaired, had changes to their other-than-temporary impairment estimates related to the credit component
which were recognized in earnings. Bryant Park was closed during the fourth quarter of 2014.

Other securities gains (losses), net We maintain various securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk
management strategies. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we sold $1,190 million and $9,882 million,
respectively, of primarily U.S. Treasury, U.S. government sponsored and government agency mortgage-backed securities as part
of a continuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes based on the
current interest rate environment and liquidity needs compared with sales of $7,601 million and $23,600 million during the prior
year periods. Other securities gains (losses), net declined in the three month period due primarily to gains realized from the sale
of certain U.S. Treasury securities in the prior year period as we rebalanced the portfolio to improve interest income. Other securities
gains (losses), net improved in the nine month period driven largely by losses associated with the sale of certain legacy asset-
backed securities in the prior year compared with higher gains from security sales in the current year reflecting more favorable
market conditions. The gross realized gains and losses from sales of securities in both periods, which is included as a component
of other securities gains (losses), net above, are summarized in Note 3, "Securities," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Affiliate income increased in the year-to-date period due primarily to higher billings
associated with internal audit activities performed for other HSBC affiliates and higher fees related to supporting growth initiatives
in the global payments and cash management business, partially offset by lower fees associated with residential mortgage servicing
activities performed on behalf of HSBC Finance.
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Residential mortgage banking revenue The following table presents the components of residential mortgage banking revenue.
The net interest income component reflected in the table is included in net interest income in the consolidated statement of income
and reflects actual interest earned, net of interest expense and corporate transfer pricing.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INETESt IMCOIIIE ....evvvnriiieiiteeeeteeetee ettt bbbt ene $ 4 3 45 3 (1) (2.2)%
Servicing related income:
Servicing fee IMCOME ......coeruiriiririiriirieret ettt 13 17 4) (23.5)
Changes in fair value of Mortgage Servicing Rights ("MSRs") due to: ..........
Changes in valuation model inputs or assumMpPtions..........coeceeveverreerreerrenenn 1) 2 (23) *
CUSTOMET PAYIMENLS....c..evirireeetereteieteteeeeeie ettt ere b et sbesaeseennen @) (6) (1) (@16.7)
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changes in value of MSRs ... 28 — 28 *
Total servicing related INCOME .......cc.eeveverieriiieiiieieieeeeese e 13 13 — —

Originations and sales related income (loss):

Gains (losses) on sales of residential mortgages............ccccooeveiivinicnininenne, ?2) () —  —
Recovery for repurchase obligations............cccoeeiiiiiiiiniiiiiiiiicce, 2 4 (2) (50.0)
Total originations and sales related income (10SS)..........ccccoeveiiiiiciiiciicnnn. — 2 (2) (100.0)
Other MOTtZAZE INCOMC.......ccueeiieieerieieeieteeteiesre e saesseesesseessesseessesseessenseensenens 3 2 1 50.0
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues.............. 16 17 ) (5.9)
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue............cccceceeviiiiinnincnne. $ 60 $ 62 $ (2) (3.2)%
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net INtETESt INCOIME ......ovevevieeeeeieeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt et ee e ere e ereereereereeaeans $ 133 § 137 § 4 (2.9)%
Servicing related income:
Servicing e IMNCOME .......eevuiiiiriiiieitieieste ettt 43 52 9 (17.3)
Changes in fair value of MSRS due t0: ......ccccceeiiiiieiniinininencneecncecenee
Changes in valuation model inputs or assumMptions...........cceecvevveeverveenenneans (13) (22) 9 40.9
CUSTOMET PAYINIENLS. ...cuveeiieriieeiieeteeriteeieeniteeieesieesbeesatesateesbteseeesbeesseenseens (16) (23) 7 304
Trading — Derivative instruments used to offset changes in value of MSRs ... 34 37 3) (8.1)
Total servicing related INCOME .........ceevuirieririeeeeeeeeeeee e 48 44 4 9.1
Originations and sales related income (loss):
Gains (losses) on sales of residential MoOrtgages...........ccoeveevevreecveereenreeeenenne. an 2) 9 *
Recovery for repurchase obligations............cceceererieieeienieieseeeeeee e 7 38 (31) (81.6)
Total originations and sales related income (10SS)........ccceveeeverierieeierieneennenne. “) 36 (40) *
Other MOTtZage INCOME. ......cceeuirtirieeiietiite sttt eae et eas 6 7 (H (14.3)
Total residential mortgage banking revenue included in other revenues.............. 50 87 (37) (42.5)
Total residential mortgage banking related revenue ............cocoeveveviveviverieverenane. $ 183 § 224 § 41)  (18.3)%

*  Not meaningful.

Net interest income was modestly lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as higher amortization of
deferred origination costs in the current year due to slightly higher portfolio prepayments and lower net interest income from a
declining home equity mortgage portfolio was largely offset by higher net interest income driven by growth in residential mortgage
average outstanding balances. Consistent with our strategy, additions to our residential mortgage portfolio are primarily mortgages
to our Premier and Advance customers, while sales of loans consist of newly originated conforming loans sold to PHH Mortgage
as discussed further below.
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Total servicing related income was flat in the three months ended September 30, 2015 and increased in the year-to-date period as
improved net hedged MSRs results were offset in the three month period, and partially offset in the year-to-date period, by lower
servicing fees due to a decline in our average serviced portfolio. As a result of our strategic relationship with PHH Mortgage, we
no longer add new volume to our serviced portfolio as all agency eligible loans are sold to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released
basis. Net hedged MSRs results improved in the three month period as higher valuation losses driven by declining mortgage rates
in the current year period were more than offset by higher returns from instruments used to hedge changes in the fair value of the
MSRs. In the year-to-date period, net hedged MSRs results improved primarily due to lower valuation losses associated with
declining mortgage rates, partially offset by lower returns from instruments used to hedge changes in the fair value of the MSRs.

Originations and sales related income (loss) declined in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 largely due to lower
recoveries for repurchase obligations associated with loans previously sold and, in the year-to-date period, losses associated with
the execution of certain Community Reinvestment Act activities. During the first quarter of 2014, we entered into a settlement
with the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("FHLMC") for $25 million which settled our liability for substantially all
loans sold to the FHLMC from January 1, 2000 through 2013. The settlement and a re-assessment of the residual exposure resulted
in a release of reserves. We continue to maintain repurchase reserves for exposure associated with residual risks not covered by
the settlement agreement.

Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting
to certain commercial loans held for sale, certain securities sold under repurchase agreements, certain own fixed-rate debt issuances
and all of our hybrid instruments issued, inclusive of structured notes and structured deposits. We also use derivatives to
economically hedge the interest rate risk associated with certain financial instruments for which fair value option accounting has
been elected. Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives increased in the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 attributable primarily to the widening of our own credit spreads associated with our own debt, which
was partially offset in the year-to-date period by a net loss recorded during the second quarter of 2015 related to changes in estimates
associated with the valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of certain structured notes and deposits. See Note 10, "Fair
Value Option," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information including a breakout of these
amounts by individual component.

Other income Other income increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to gains associated
with credit default swap protection which largely reflects the hedging of a single client exposure, partially offset by losses from
valuation write-downs on a commercial loan held for sale, the non-recurrence of a gain of $16 million from the sale of certain
commercial MSRs in the third quarter of 2014, losses associated with fair value hedge ineffectiveness and, in the year-to-date
period, lower income related to bank owned life insurance.

Operating Expenses Compliance costs, which remained a significant component of our cost base, totaled $33 million and $159
million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with $54 million and $199 million in the
prior year periods. While we continue to focus attention on cost mitigation efforts in order to continue realization of optimal cost
efficiencies, compliance related costs remain elevated due to the remediation required by regulatory consent agreements and the
implementation of globally consistent and rigorous financial crime controls ("Global Standards").
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The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee DEnefits ........cocceverireririnienienienieieeceeeenceceese e $ 254 $ 226 § 28 12.4 %
OCCUPANCY EXPEINSE, NET..ueuiiniieuiiieeieriietenitetenitentesitenteseresteeeresbeearesbeestesaeeeesaee 57 59 2) (3.4)
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS")...cccooviviniinininininenene 66 56 10 17.9
Fees paid to HSBC Technology and Services (USA) ("HTSU").....ccccveueene.e. 250 274 (24) (8.8)
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates........c.coccoveeneenieineinieinecnccnccnecenenenne 45 58 (13) (22.4)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccceceevevvereniencnincncnenennenn 361 388 27) (7.0)
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOFIWAare............cccooioiiiiiiiiieccceece e 12 12 — —
IMATKELINE ...ttt s 16 7 77.8
OULSIAE SEIVICES...ceveveruiriirtiriertintintententetetent ettt entere et et sbe et sbe bbb e e aenee 23 18 *
Professional fEes........coeviriiiiiiiiesee e 32 35 3) (8.6)
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") assessment fee................... 29 22 7 31.8
MISCEIIANEOUS ... .veveiieeieieiceieietet ettt sttt ettt ens 2 178 (176) (98.9)
Total Other EXPENSES.....co.evtirirtirtirterertcteetetet ettt 114 261 (147) (56.3)
Total OPETAtING EXPEINISES......ceueeuierirtiriirtirtertertetete st etentet ettt et ettt st seesee st sbeseennen $ 78 $§ 934 § (149) (15.8)%
Personnel - average NMUMDET .........ccccoiviierininicneniciccteeeeece e 6,097 6063
EffICIENCY TALIO ...ttt 68.5% 100.5%
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salary and employee Denefits .........ccecirirerinininenieeieeeeeeeee e $ 767 $ 664 $ 103 15.5 %
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NEL...eeurieiiiriiieriierieeriteeteentte et estte st esttesateesbeesseesbeesseenseens 172 168 4 24
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Fees paid to HMUS ......coiiiiiieee ettt 199 167 32 19.2
Fees paid t0 HTSU ..ottt 754 798 (44) (5.5)
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates..........ccccoevieieieiriniinininencncsccnccenne 145 162 17) (10.5)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates.........ccccoeceneeneccnecinenncnnennnn 1,098 1,127 (29) (2.6)
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWATe...........coirerereiieieneeeeeeeeceeee e 37 39 ) (5.1)
IMATKEHIIE ..ottt et 48 39 9 23.1
OULSIAL SEIVICES.....envvirieviieiirieiinteieetetetest ettt sttt st ae st sa et sbe e ne 66 31 35 *
Professional fEEs........cocuviriririninenercceceec e 84 86 (2) (2.3)
FDIC a88€SSMENE FE ......cveuirieuiriiiriiiiieiriceeiceeeeeesee e 88 79 9 114
MISCEILANEOUS ......cveiiiiriietirterttetetere sttt ettt st 53 327 (274) (83.8)
Total Other EXPENSES.....ccueetiitiriiriirieriertetee ettt e 376 601 (225) (37.4)
Total OPETating EXPEINSES.......oueeveriiriiriirtirierterteteteteetetetentete et ettt sae e b e seennen $ 2,413 $ 2,560 § (147) (5.7%
Personnel - average NUMDET ..........ccooiiiieririenieieeeeece e " 6074 6,141
EfICIENCY TI0 ...ttt ettt s 74.3% 88.8%

* Not meaningful.

Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits expense increased during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 due primarily to the addition of higher cost personnel associated with growth initiatives in certain businesses,
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strengthening controls and the implementation of Global Standards, partially offset by the impact of continued cost management
efforts including a reduction in Retail Banking and Wealth Management personnel driven by a reduction in staff performing
residential mortgage servicing activities on behalf of HSBC Finance and the impact of branch optimization.

Occupancy expense, net Occupancy expense was relatively flat in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015.

Support services from HSBC affiliates Support services from HSBC affiliates decreased in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 primarily due to changing the billing process for certain third-party loan servicing costs from support service
fees paid to HTSU in 2014 to a direct expense in 2015 and lower compliance costs, partially offset by increased costs associated
with our investment in process enhancements and infrastructure to improve and modernize our legacy business systems, increased
staffing associated with stress testing and reporting activities and higher shared service fees paid to HMUS. Compliance costs
reflected in support services from affiliates totaled $29 million and $148 million during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2015, respectively, compared with $52 million and $191 million in the year-ago periods. A summary of the activities charged
to us from various HSBC affiliates is included in Note 13, "Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Other expenses Other expenses during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014 reflects $108 million and $178
million, respectively, of litigation expense related to the settlement of the FHFA matter. Excluding the impact of this item, other
expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven largely by lower expense associated with our
expectation of compensatory fees payable to government sponsored entities ("GSEs") as the current year periods reflect a settlement
of certain exposures which resulted in a benefit of $18 million and $14 million during the three and nine months ended September
30, 2015, respectively, compared with expense of $15 million and $21 million in the prior year periods. Also contributing to the
decrease was lower litigation expense, higher levels of expense capitalization related to internally developed software and lower
provisions associated with off-balance sheet credit exposures. These decreases were partially offset by higher outside services
expense due to changing the billing process for certain third-party loan servicing costs as discussed above, higher marketing
expenses and higher deposit insurance assessment fees.

Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio was 68.5 percent and 74.3 percent during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2015, respectively, compared with 100.5 percent and 88.8 percent during the year-ago periods. Our efficiency ratio was impacted
in each period by the change in the fair value of our own debt attributable to credit spread for which we have elected fair value
option accounting. Excluding the impact of this item, our efficiency ratio was 74.7 percent and 79.6 percent during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with 101.3 percent and 88.2 percent in the year-ago periods due
to lower operating expenses driven by lower litigation expense, higher net interest income and higher other revenues.
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Income taxes The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the total income tax
provision attributable to pretax income and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate.................... $ 110 35.0% $ (10)  (35.00%

State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit ..........cccoeeevevvincincinecnnne, 9 2.9 ?2) (7.1)
Other non-deductible / non-taxable Items .........cccccevvereeieirrcrenenenenennenne ?2) (0.6) 1 3.6
Ttems affecting prior Periods™® ............cooovvooveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeseeeeeseeeeeseseees €)) 0.3) (11)  (39.3)

Impact of foreign OPerations .........c.coceeevererereriineneneereeeeeeee e — — 2 7.1

Low income housing tax credit investments, Net ..........ccccoeeveeerecreennnes 6) (1.9) (7) (25.0)

Change in valuation allowances reSETVES ..........couevverieeeieeeereneneneniennene — — 3) 10.7
OBRET ..ottt sttt sttt 1 0.3 1 3.6
Total income tax expense (DENEfit).........ccoeriririerriririeieeireieeeee s 111 35.2% $ (29) (103.6)%
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate.................... $ 259 35.0% $ 69 35.0 %
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:..........cceeveeviieieciieienieeeee e,
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit ............cccocoeeivieiiiiiiiiniennenne, 20 2.7 11 5.6
Adjustment of tax rate used to value deferred taxes'.............cc..cocoovvvrnnnr. 49 6.6 60 30.3
Other non-deductible / non-taxable {temS ...........cccoeereireireircincenenns @) 0.5) 3) (1.5)
Ttems affecting prior periods™ ............ccoooorvereeeeeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e ) (1.1) (35 (@(17.7)
Uncertain tax positions'™ ............c.c.ccooeveeuereerereeeeeeeeesseseeeeeses e 1 0.1 (181) (914
Impact of foreign OPerations ..........ccceeceeveeriereerieiienieneeeseeeee e — — 3 1.5
Low income housing tax credit investments, NEt ..........ccecvevveerererenennenn a7 2.3) 21  (10.6)
Change in valuation allowances reserves™ .............c..ccooorrvrrviereerierr, (6) (0.8) 10 5.1
OFRET ..ttt ettt ) (1.2) 1 0.5
Total income tax expense (DeNEfit)..........cooeririririnenerieeeee e $ 285 385% $ 86) (43.4)%

]

()

A3)

)

For 2015, the amount mainly relates to the effects of revaluing our deferred tax assets for New York City Tax Reform that was enacted on April 13, 2015 as
discussed further below. For 2014, the amount mainly relates to the effects of revaluing our deferred tax assets for New York State Tax Reform that was
enacted on March 31, 2014 which resulted in a decrease to our net deferred tax asset of approximately $75 million in the first quarter of 2014.

For 2014, the amounts relate to changes in estimates of the amount of state income taxes deductible on the federal income tax return and changes in state
tax expense as a result of filing amended state tax returns upon the closing of the 2006 - 2009 federal audits.

For 2014, the amount mainly reflects the resolution and settlement with taxation authorities of certain significant state and local tax audits during the second
quarter of 2014 which is discussed further below.

For 2014, the amount relates to the establishment of a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets due to New York State Tax Reform that was enacted
on March 31, 2014.

The financial performance of HSBC North America and its subsidiary entities continues to improve and therefore, at September
30, 2015, reliance has been placed solely on projected future taxable income from continuing operations in our evaluation of the
recognition of deferred tax assets. The change to reliance on future taxable income from continuing operations within our evaluation
of the recognition of deferred tax assets did not have a significant impact on our tax provision.

On April 13, 2015, New York Governor Cuomo signed legislation related to the 2015-2016 budget containing amendments to
reform New York City’s corporate tax rules. These reforms align New York City’s corporate tax rules with New York State following
the changes previously enacted to the latter in 2014. The legislation is retroactively effective as of January 1, 2015, which is the
same general effective date for the New York State corporate tax reform. These changes will have a significant and positive long-
term impact on HSBC entities with activity taxed in New York, including us. Notwithstanding the positive long-term impact, the
changes to the New York City tax rules resulted in a decrease to our net deferred tax asset of approximately $48 million in the
second quarter of 2015, the period in which the rules were enacted.
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During the second quarter of 2014, we concluded certain state and local tax audits resulting in the settlement of significant uncertain
tax positions covering a number of years. As a result, we released tax reserves previously maintained in relation to the periods and
issues under review which resulted in an income tax benefit of $183 million. In addition, we released our accrued interest associated
with the tax reserves released which resulted in a $120 million benefit to interest expense.

Segment Results — Group Reporting Basis

We have four distinct business segments that are utilized for management reporting and analysis purposes which are aligned with
HSBC's global businesses and business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercial Banking
("CMB"), Global Banking and Markets ("GB&M") and Private Banking ("PB"). The segments, which are generally based upon
customer groupings and global businesses, are described under Item 1, "Business," in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no
changes in the basis of our segmentation or measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2014 Form
10-K.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which
apply IFRS and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the Group
Reporting Basis (a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure) as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and
decisions about allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. However, we continue to monitor capital
adequacy, establish dividend policy and report to regulatory agencies on a U.S. GAAP basis. The significant differences between
U.S. GAAP and Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in Note 14, "Business Segments," in our 2014
Form 10-K.

We are currently in the process of re-evaluating the financial information used to manage our businesses, including the scope and
content of the U.S. GAAP financial data being reported to our Management and our Board. To the extent we make changes to this
reporting in 2015, we will evaluate any impact such changes may have on our segment reporting.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management Our RBWM segment provides a full range of banking and wealth products and services
through our branches and direct channels to individuals. These services include asset-driven services such as credit and lending,
liability-driven services such as deposit taking and account services and fee-driven services such as advisory and wealth
management. During the first nine months of 2015, we continued to direct resources towards the development and delivery of
premium service. Particular focus has been placed on HSBC Premier, HSBC's global banking service that was re-launched in 2014
and offers customers a seamless international service, and HSBC Advance, a proposition directed towards the emerging affluent
client in the initial stages of wealth accumulation.

Consistent with our strategy, the growth of our residential mortgage portfolio is driven primarily by lending to our Premier and
Advance customers. Following the conversion of our mortgage processing and servicing operations to PHH Mortgage in 2013,
we sell our agency eligible originations directly to PHH Mortgage on a servicing released basis, resulting in no new mortgage
servicing rights being recognized.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount Y%
(dollars are in millions)
Net INtETESt INCOME ....ouvueeuiriiriiriiriertier ettt ettt et er e s nes $ 192 § 196 § @) (2.0)%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..eveirieieieirie sttt ettt 85 98 (13) (13.3)
Total Operating INCOME ......c..ccveieiririreririeerereete ettt 277 294 17) (5.8)
Loan impairment Charges.........c.ecveerireririineneneeeeeeeeeee e 14 11 3 273
Net OPerating IMCOME.......cc.eeeruerireriirtinierientetet ettt ettt st saenes 263 283 (20) (7.1)
OPETAtING EXPEIISES ...evvevrrvererenierereereseetensesessesersestesesessesessensesensesensesesesessenes 267 343 (76) (22.2)
L0SS DEIOTE TaAX ...ttt s $ @ $ (60) $ 56 933 %

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INLETESt INCOME ....ueniiieiieiieieeteeteete sttt ettt ettt see st sre e $ 584 § 606 $ (22) (3.6)%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..cueieiririrerertieenteneeteteeeeeeee e e 258 315 (57) (18.1)
Total Operating INCOME ......ccveveiiieiriieieie et 842 921 (79) (8.6)
Loan impairment Charges...........cccueveeerereriinenenienienieieeeeeeeeeeee s 51 34 17 50.0
Net OPErating INCOMIE .....c..c.veueeuieieetietirieeteetente st stesie e stest ettt ebesreseesbesbeseens 791 887 (96) (10.8)
OPEIAING EXPEIISES .vvenveuremrenreureiteiteteniestesteeresseseesensesteneeneeseeneeseesesaessensenee 848 920 (72) (7.8)
L0SS DEIOTE TaX ....ititeteieieie ettt $ 57 $ (33) $ (24) (72.7)%

Our RBWM segment reported a lower loss before tax during the three months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to lower
operating expenses driven by adjustments to certain accruals as discussed below, partially offset by lower net interest income,
lower other operating income and higher loan impairment charges. In the year-to-date period, loss before tax increased as lower
operating expenses was more than offset by lower net interest income, lower other operating income and higher loan impairment
charges.

Net interest income in the prior year-to-date period reflects an $11 million release of accrued interest related to uncertain tax
positions which were settled with the taxing authorities in the second quarter of 2014. Excluding the impact of this item, net interest
income was lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to higher amortization of deferred origination
costs due to higher prepayments as well as lower net interest income from a declining home equity mortgage portfolio, partially
offset by higher net interest income driven by growth in residential mortgage average outstanding balances.

Other operating income decreased in the three months ended September 30, 2015 driven by lower net hedged MSR results and
lower servicing fees due to a decline in our average serviced portfolio. In the year-to-date period, other operating income decreased
due primarily to a lower recovery for mortgage loan repurchase obligations associated with previously sold loans, as the prior year
period reflects a release of reserves due primarily to a settlement with FHLMC which settled our liability for substantially all loans
sold to FHLMC, as well as losses associated with the execution of certain Community Reinvestment Act activities and lower
servicing fees.

Loan impairment charges increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as the positive impacts from
lower severity estimates due to improvements in home prices and continued improvements in economic and credit conditions
including lower dollars of delinquency on accounts less than 180 days contractually delinquent were more pronounced in the prior
year. In addition, the prior year periods reflect a revision to our loss severity calculation which reduced our residential mortgage
allowance for credit losses by $10 million in the third quarter of 2014. These increases were partially offset in the year-to-date
period by lower loss estimates associated with the remediation of certain mortgage servicing activities and lower losses associated
with advances made on behalf of borrowers.

Other operating expenses decreased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven largely by lower expense
associated with our expectation of compensatory fees payable to GSEs as the current year periods reflect a settlement of certain
exposures which resulted in a benefit of $18 million and $14 million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, compared with expense of $15 million and $21 million in the prior year periods. Also contributing to the decrease
was lower litigation expense as well as the impact of several cost reduction initiatives relating to our retail branch network, primarily
optimizing staffing and administrative areas.
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Commercial Banking CMB's goal is to be the banking partner of choice for international businesses building on our rich heritage,
international capabilities and customer relationships to enable global connectivity. CMB strives to execute this vision and strategy
by focusing on key markets with high concentrations of international connectivity. Our CMB segment serves the markets through
three client groups, notably Large Corporate, Middle Market and Business Banking. We also have a specialized Commercial Real
Estate group which focuses on selective business opportunities in markets where we have strong portfolio expertise. This structure
allows us to align our resources in order to efficiently deliver suitable products and services based on our clients' needs and abilities.
Payments and Cash Management, Global Trade and Receivables Finance, Credit and Lending, and Capital Financing are key
product groups which enable CMB to deliver the global connections required by customers. Whether it is through commercial
centers, the retail branch network, or via HSBCret, CMB provides customers with products and services needed to grow their
businesses internationally and delivers those products and services through its relationship managers who operate within a robust,
customer focused compliance and risk culture and collaborate across HSBC to capture a larger percentage of a relationship. An
increase in the number of relationship managers and product partners is enabling us to gain a larger presence in key growth markets,
including the West Coast, Southeast, Midwest and Texas.

New loan originations have resulted in increases in quarter-to-date average loans outstanding of 23 percent to Large Corporate
customers and 26 percent to Commercial Real Estate customers as compared with the third quarter of 2014. Total quarter-to-date
average loans outstanding increased 19 percent across all CMB client groups as compared with the third quarter of 2014. In addition,
total quarter-to-date average deposits outstanding increased 6 percent across all CMB client groups as compared with the third
quarter of 2014 which reflects executing a key strategy to grow the Payments and Cash Management business through our
international network.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
INEt INTETEST INCOIMIE oot e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e s e eeeeneeeeeee $ 214 $ 204 $ 10 4.9 %
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..eveieieieiieiirie ettt 82 90 ®) (8.9)
Total Operating INCOME ......c..ccveieiririnenirtieeneneeteeteeeeee et 296 294 2 7
Loan impairment Charges...........cevvuevveveneenieinieinieineineeneeeeeeeeneeevennenes 24 29 (5) (17.2)
Net OPerating IMCOME.......cceeererererinrinenenteteteteteeretereee et st ere e saenes 272 265 7 2.6
OPEIAtING EXPEIISES .vuvenvenreneeneenieiieuieteetestesteatestessensesesteneeneeneeneeseasesaessessenes 184 169 15 8.9
Profit Defore taX .....oc.eeieeeieieeeee e $ 88 §$ % $ (8) (8.3)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INEETESt IMCOINIC ...ttt ettt re e ne $ 626 $ 593§ 33 5.6 %
Other Operating INCOME. .........ceruriruieerieeiereeieeeee e 230 222 8 3.6
Total OPerating INCOME ......cceeveuieiieieiieieit ettt e 856 815 41 5.0
Loan impairment Charges.........c.cccceveeerererinenenenienieeeeeeeeeeeese e 38 119 (81) (68.1)
Net OPErating INCOMIE .......ceeueeuieuertietirierteeteetestesteste e stet et eseebesreseeereseeseens 818 696 122 17.5
OPETatiNg EXPEIISES .....covervuiieuiriiietieeteeeieeeetesee e seeee et seee e enenes 538 501 37 7.4
Profit DEfOIE taX ...cveiieieiiirieieieiirietcc ettt $ 280 § 195 $ 85 43.6 %

Our CMB segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three months ended September 30, 2015 driven by lower other
operating income and higher operating expenses, partially offset by higher net interest income and lower loan impairment charges.
Our CMB segment reported a higher profit before tax during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher net
interest income, higher other operating income and lower loan impairment charges, partially offset by higher operating expenses.

Net interest income increased in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to the favorable impact of higher loan
balances, primarily in key growth markets, partially offset by lower yields on newly originated loans and refinanced loans and the
prior year-to-date period reflects a release of accrued interest related to uncertain tax positions which were settled with the taxing
authorities in the second quarter of 2014.

Other operating income in the prior year periods reflect a gain of $16 million from sale of certain commercial MSRs in the third
quarter of 2014. Excluding the impact of this item, other operating income was higher during the three and nine months ended
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September 30,2015 driven primarily by higher fees generated from an increase in credit commitments, gains on sales in Commercial
Real Estate and higher GB&M collaboration income due to an increase in corporate derivatives and capital financing.

Loan impairment charges in the prior year reflects arevision to certain estimates used in our commercial loan impairment calculation
which resulted in a loan impairment charge of approximately $22 million and $94 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014, respectively. Excluding the impact of this item, loan impairment charges were higher during the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven largely by higher provisions for oil and gas industry exposures.

Operating expenses increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher salaries expense related
to additional staff hired to support continued growth, higher litigation costs and higher technology and corporate function support
service costs.

Global Banking and Markets Our GB&M business segment supports HSBC’s global strategy by leveraging the HSBC Group's
advantages and scale, strength in developed and emerging markets and product expertise in order to focus on delivering international
products to U.S. clients and local products to international clients, with New York as the hub for the Americas business, including
Canada and Latin America. GB&M provides tailored financial solutions to major government, corporate and institutional clients
as well as private investors worldwide. GB&M clients are served by sector-focused teams that bring together relationship managers
and product specialists to develop financial solutions that meet individual client needs. With a focus on providing client connectivity
between the emerging markets and developed markets, GB&M aims to develop a comprehensive understanding of each client’s
financial requirements with a long-term relationship management approach. In addition to GB&M clients, GB&M works with
RBWM, CMB and PB to meet their domestic and international banking needs.

Within client-focused business lines, GB&M offers a full range of capabilities, including:

+  Banking and financing advice and solutions for corporate and institutional clients, including loans, working capital, trade
services, payments and cash management, leveraged and acquisition finance, as well as capital raising in the debt and
equity markets; and

* A markets business with 24-hour coverage and knowledge of world-wide local markets which provides services in credit
and rates, foreign exchange, precious metals trading, equities and securities services.

Also included in our GB&M segment is Balance Sheet Management, which is responsible for managing liquidity and funding
under the supervision of our Asset and Liability Management Committee. Balance Sheet Management also manages our structural
interest rate position within a limit structure.

We continue to target U.S. companies with international banking requirements and foreign companies with banking needs in the
Americas. Consistent with our global strategy, we are also focused on identifying opportunities to cross-sell our products to CMB
and RBWM customers.
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The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount Y%
(dollars are in millions)
Net INTETESt TNCOME .....evveeieeieiieie ettt e ettt eseeeeeseeeneesnean 142 $ 74 S 68 91.9%
Other Operating INCOMEC. .......ccvervieeerrieierieeeesteeteseesesreesesseesseeseeseeseesseenes 287 191 96 50.3
Total operating iNCOME™ ...........oooovoivieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 429 265 164 61.9
Loan impairment Charges..............cceeuiuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiccceecceeeeeeeenes 5 11 (6) (54.5)
Net Operating iNCOME.........eevuireereerierieeeesieeieseeteeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeseeeeesaeensesnees 424 254 170 66.9
OPErating EXPEINSES ........cveveveriviieriieiereieieieretesetesesesesese ettt 247 553 (306) (55.3)
Profit (108S) Defore taX ........cccveeieeeiieiieeieeee et 177 $ (299) $ 476 *
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INLETESt INCOME ....eveeeieeieeieiieiieieeie ettt ettt eee e eseeseesessesseneas 392§ 280 $ 112 40.0%
Other Operating INCOMC. .......ecvervieierreeeerreetesteeeesreetesreensesseeseeseeseeseenseenns 772 636 136 21.4
Total operating iNCOME™ .............oou v 1,164 916 248 27.1
Loan impairment Charges. .........ccoocvereeierieieneee e 17 66 (49) (74.2)
Net OPErating INCOMIC........cevvereerierietiererteeiesseeeesseesesaessessnessesssessessenseens 1,147 850 297 349
OPETAtING EXPEISES .veuvvenvienretieniirteenieeiterteetenteete st estesbeentesbeentesseenaeeseenseeaes 770 1,031 (261) (25.3)
Profit (1058) DEfOre taX ......cc.eeveeivieeieeiieeieeie ettt 377 §$ (181) $ 558 *

*  Not meaningful.

106



HSBC USA Inc.

(O]

Three Months Ended September 30,

The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of the GB&M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

2015 2014 Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

CIEAID ... (32 $ 48) $ 16 33.3%
RALES ...ttt ettt et 12 14 2) (14.3)
Foreign Exchange and Metals. 50 73 (23) (31.5)
EQUILIES ...ttt 53 16 37 *
Total Global Markets ............cccciiiiiiiiiiiiiiciiccec e 83 55 28 50.9
Capital FINANCINZ ......c.ciiiiiiiiiiiiciiiiecccee e 166 66 100 *
Payments and Cash Management .............c.ccceueueerrieerinieneenieneenneeeeeneneeseneeseene 100 89 11 12.4
SECUIIHIES SEIVICES ..o 3 3 — —
Global Trade and Receivables FInance..........cccocvveeernieiioinncinniccnncccneccnenes 13 11 2 18.2
Balance Sheet Management' ..............cco..coovvvervvervoesrvoessse s 58 50 16.0
Debit Valuation Adjustment... 11 €)) 12 *
OHNEI™ ..o 5) ) 3 37.5
Total OPErating IMCOME ........c.ceueueuirieieuiirieieieteieien ettt 429 3 265 $ 164 61.9%
Increase (Decrease)
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
CIEAI ... a3 s (22) $ 9 40.9%
RALES. ...ttt eaenn 10 106 (96) (90.6)
Foreign Exchange and Metals. 178 216 (38) (17.6)
EQUITIES ..ot s 127 6 121 *
Total Global MArKets ...........cccueuiiiiiiiiiiiciciiec et 302 306 4) (1.3)
Capital FINANCINZ ......c.civiiieiiiieicirieiecretceeeee ettt 293 183 110 60.1
Payments and Cash Management .............cccoeueueennieeriniereoinieneinneeceeeeneenseneeseene 291 261 30 11.5
SECUIIHIES SEIVICES ...t 10 9 1 11.1
Global Trade and Receivables Finance............cccoccceucieieiciicicieiiceieeeeceeeneeens 40 34 6 17.6
Balance Sheet Management .............cco..oovvvuervveervoneereesseeeesesssesesseseeessssesesssenens 228 147 81 55.1
Debit Valuation Adjustment... 27 (14 41 *
OHEI™ ..o @7 (10) a7 *
Total OPErating INCOME ........ccvueueuiriereiiirieteieteie ettt ettt ea s seaeseenes 1,164 $ 916 $ 248 27.1%

*  Not meaningful.
)

and mortgage loans held for sale which we no longer offer.

®  Includes gains on the sale of securities of $11 million and $69 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared

Credit includes losses of $11 million and $9 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with losses of $43
million and $17 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively, of operating income related to structured credit products

with gains of $26 million and $42 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

“)

pricing differences.

Our GB&M segment reported a higher profit before tax during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by

Other includes corporate funding charges, net interest income on capital held in the business and not assigned to products, and interest rate transfer

higher net interest income, higher other operating income, lower loan impairment charges and lower operating expenses.

Credit revenue improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 from the performance of legacy credit
products, which was partially offset in the three month period by lower revenue from emerging markets related products. Changes
in the fair value of legacy structured credit products resulted in losses of $11 million and $9 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with losses of $43 million and $19 million during the prior year periods
which reflect losses on the transfer of risk associated with portions of our credit derivatives portfolio in the third quarter of 2014.
Included in the changes in fair value from structured credit products were increases in fair value of $12 million and $7 million
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, related to exposures to monoline insurance companies,

compared with increases of $1 million and $14 million during the prior year periods.
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Revenue from Rates decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to weaker revenue from emerging
markets related products which were impacted by less stable economic conditions in Latin America. In addition, the year-to-date
period reflects fair value adjustments on certain rate linked structured notes, including a loss recorded during the second quarter
of 2015 related to changes in estimates associated with the valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of these liabilities
and the impact of movements in our own credit spreads.

Foreign Exchange and Metals revenue decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to lower custody
fee income from Metals following the sale of our GB&M London Branch precious metals custody and clearing business to an
HSBC affiliate during the fourth quarter of 2014 as well as lower metals related client trading volumes driven by reduced investor
demand.

The increase in Equities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was driven by the impact of fair value
adjustments on certain equity linked structured liabilities, including the impact of movements in our own credit spreads and, in
the year-to-date period, a gain recorded during the second quarter of 2015 related to changes in estimates associated with the
valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of these liabilities.

Capital Financing revenue increased significantly during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to
gains associated with credit default swap protection which largely reflects the hedging of a single client exposure and, to a lesser
extent, higher fees and net interest income from project financing and corporate lending activities.

Payments and Cash Management revenue increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 driven by higher
fees related to supporting growth initiatives in the global payments and cash management business.

Balance Sheet Management revenue increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 from increased interest
income driven by higher yielding investments, partially offset by lower revenue related to the performance of economic hedge
positions used to manage interest rate risk. In addition, while higher gains from asset sales contributed to the increase in the year-
to-date period, gains from asset sales were lower in the three month period.

Debit valuation adjustments resulted in gains during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 compared with losses
in the prior year periods driven by movements of both our own credit spreads and our derivative liability balances.

Other revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended September 30, 2015. In the year-to-date period, other revenue
decreased reflecting lower net interest on unassigned capital and lower revenue related to transfer pricing differences.

Loan impairment charges in the prior year reflect a revision to certain estimates used in our commercial loan impairment calculation
which resulted in a loan impairment charge of approximately $3 million and $23 million during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2014, respectively. Excluding the impact of this item, loan impairment charges remained lower during the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to higher expected loss on a single name exposure in the prior year
periods and lower provisions for risk factors associated with emerging market loan exposures, partially offset by higher provisions
for oil and gas industry exposures.

Operating expenses in the prior year reflects $297 million of litigation expense that was recorded during the third quarter of 2014
related to the settlement of the FHFA matter. Excluding the impact of this item, operating expenses decreased during the three
months ended September 30, 2015 and increased during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The decrease in the three
month period, driven by lower litigation costs, was more than offset in the year-to-date period by higher staff costs related to
growth initiatives and higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Private Banking PB serves high net worth and ultra-high net worth individuals and their families with a focus on multi-generational
families, business owners and entrepreneurs who require sophisticated solutions to help meet their most complex needs domestically
and abroad. Accessing the most suitable products from the marketplace, PB works with its clients to offer tailored, coordinated
and innovative ways to manage and preserve wealth while optimizing returns. PB offers a wide range of products and services,
including banking, liquidity management, investment services, custody, tailored lending, trust and fiduciary services, insurance,
family wealth and philanthropy advisory services. PB also works to ensure that its clients have access to other products and services
available throughout the HSBC Group, such as credit cards and investment banking, to deliver total solutions for their financial
and wealth needs. PB strategy is concentrated on three main areas: growth, streamlining and Global Standards.

Client deposit levels increased $1,915 million or 17 percent as compared with September 30, 2014. Total loans increased $709
million or 12 percent as compared with September 30, 2014 from the commercial and industrial, and residential mortgage portfolios.
Overall period end client assets were $2,021 million lower than September 30, 2014 primarily due to lower institutional custody
customer balances as well as lower discretionary and fiduciary portfolios which were negatively impacted by market movements.
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The following table provides additional information regarding client assets during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and
2014:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014
(in millions)

Client assets at beginning of the PEriod..........ccevcveriieiiiieiieieie ettt b e ees $ 44,102 § 44,661
INEE NEW IMIONECY ....cuvvieutiieireetie et etee bt esteeeeae e teesaseesbeesabeesseassseassaessssassaassseessaessseasseessseensaessseenseessseenses 917 (164)
VAlUC CHANGE ......veiiieiieiicece ettt ettt ettt e e e s teesbesbeesbeeseesbeessesseessesseensesseessesaeessensnas (2,055) 488

Client assets at €nd Of PETIOQ .........c.eiviiiuieiiiiieiece ettt ettt ettt et et reeaeeeneeas $ 42964 $ 44,985

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the PB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
NEt INETESt INCOIIIE .....eeuveerinrevireteieteereieeteee ettt ne $ 49 3 47 $ 2 43 %
Other Operating iNCOME. .....c..cuevriririrerirtieenene ettt 26 28 2) (7.1)
Total Operating INCOME ......cceveuiiiiiriirirereeeee ettt 75 75 — —
Loan impairment FECOVETIES .......cccevriririrrinrenenienierenteeereeeeereeesaesnesnenne 0)) @) 3 75.0
Net OPErating INCOIMIE .......c.veuieuieeriietertententertestestest et ettt et ese et ebesbe b st sbeseens 76 79 3) (3.8)
OPEIaAtiNG EXPEIISES ...vvenveurenrenreureiieiteteeiestesteeresseseesensenseneeneeaeeseeresresaessessenee 62 58 4 6.9
Profit DEfOre taX .....eoververeeieieieiee e $ 14 3 21 § (7 (33.3)%

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Net INtEreSt INCOME «...c.vvereiireeieiiieieiete ettt es $ 148 $ 152§ 4) (2.6)%
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..eveiriririirerie ettt 77 78 (1) (1.3)
Total Operating INCOME ..........cerveiruiiriinieierieiereeree ettt 225 230 (5) (2.2)
Loan impairment TECOVETIES .........ceererereriirieriertenieienteneenteeenessessesaessessenee ?2) 9) 7 77.8
Net OPErating IMCOME ......coveuerieerierieieietereetertete ettt sttt be e ene 227 239 (12) (5.0)
OPEIAtING EXPEIISES ..nvenvnrenienienieiteieetentestesteetestestetesentestenteseeseebesaesaesaesbe e 178 174 4 23
PrOfit DEFOIE TaX ...veveieeeeiiiieieieeeeeet et $ 49 3 65 § (16) (24.6)%

Our PB segment profit before tax decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to lower
other operating income, lower loan impairment recoveries and higher operating expenses and, in the year-to-date period, lower
net interest income.

Net interest income increased during the three months ended September 30, 2015 driven primarily by loan growth. This increase
was more than offset in the year-to-date period by a one-time gain in the prior year period related to the recognition of deferred
revenue on a prepaid troubled debt restructuring loan.

Other operating income decreased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due to lower fees and commissions
reflecting a decline in managed and investment product balances.

Loan impairment recoveries were lower during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 as the prior year periods
reflect recoveries related to the payoff of a troubled debt restructuring loan and releases of reserves due to paydowns.

Operating expenses increased during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 reflecting higher litigation costs and
higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Other The other segment primarily includes changes in the fair value of certain debt issued for which fair value option accounting
was elected and related derivatives, income and expense associated with certain affiliate transactions, adjustments to the fair value
on HSBC shares held for stock plans, interest expense associated with certain tax exposures and income associated with other tax
related investments.

109



HSBC USA Inc.

The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for the Other segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount Y%
(dollars are in millions)
Net interest iNCOME (EXPEINSE)......erveruirrerrerrerterterreneerereeereeeeessesresresseseenses $ B $ 2) $ 3) *
Gain (loss) on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread....... 96 7 89 *
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..ccueveiririrerertierentene ettt 13 16 3) (18.8)
Total Operating INCOME ......ccveveuieiieieiieieie ettt 104 21 &3 *
Loan impairment Charges. ..........coocverveierieieneee e — — — —
Net OPErating INCOMIE .....c..c.eeueeuieuieiietiriesteeterteseestesteseestese et et eseebesbeseeebesbeseens 104 21 &3 *
OPEIAING EXPEIISES .nvnvuremreneeuieiteitetentertesteeresteseesensesteneeneeseeneeseeresaessensenee 37 30 7 23.3
Profit (1088) DEOre taX ......ccevveuiriiiriiiiiiiciirecereercerce e $ 67 $ 9 $ 76 *

Increase (Decrease)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Net interest iNCOME (EXPEINSE).....erverrerrerrerrerrerterrenierereeereeenessesresresseseennes $ (16) $ 63 $ (79) *
Gain (loss) on own fair value option debt attributable to credit spread....... 214 (20) 234 *
Other Operating INCOME. .....c..cueieiririrerertieenteneeteteeeeeeee e e 52 30 22 73.3
Total Operating INCOME ......ccveveiiieiriieieie et 250 73 177 *
Loan impairment Charges. .........ccoocvereeierieieneee e — — — —
Net OPErating INCOMIE .....c..c.veueeuieieetietirieeteetente st stesie e stest ettt ebesreseesbesbeseens 250 73 177 *
OPEIAING EXPEIISES .vvenveuremrenreureiteiteteniestesteeresseseesensesteneeneeseeneeseesesaessensenee 114 83 31 37.3
Profit (1088) DEOTe taX ...ecveviveeeieiieiiietieeee e $ 136 $ (10) $ 146 *

* Not meaningful.

Net interest income in the prior year-to-date period reflects an $87 million release of accrued interest related to uncertain tax
positions which were settled with the taxing authorities in the second quarter of 2014. Excluding the impact of this item, profit
(loss) before tax improved during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 due primarily to higher operating income
from changes in the fair value of our own debt and related derivatives for which fair value option accounting was elected and, in
the year-to-date period, higher rental income from affiliates. These improvements were partially offset by higher operating expenses
driven largely by higher staff costs and higher technology and corporate function support service costs.

Reconciliation of Segment Results As previously discussed, segment results are reported on a Group Reporting Basis. For segment
reporting purposes, inter-segment transactions have not been eliminated, and we generally account for transactions between
segments as if they were with third parties. Also see Note 14, "Business Segments," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for a reconciliation of our Group Reporting Basis segment results to U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.
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Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on a limited basis, internationally.

Allowance for Credit Losses Commercial loans are monitored on a continuous basis with a formal assessment completed, at a
minimum, annually. As part of this process, a credit grade and loss given default are assigned and an allowance is established for
these loans based on a probability of default estimate associated with each credit grade under the allowance for credit losses
methodology. Credit Review, an independent function, provides an ongoing assessment of lending activities that includes
independently assessing credit grades and loss given default estimates for sampled credits across various portfolios. When it is
deemed probable based upon known facts and circumstances that full interest and principal on an individual loan will not be
collected in accordance with its contractual terms, the loan is considered impaired. An impairment reserve is then established based
on the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, or as a practical expedient,
the loan's observable market price or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. Updated appraisals for
collateral dependent loans are generally obtained only when such loans are considered troubled and the frequency of such updates
are generally based on management judgment under the specific circumstances on a case-by-case basis. In addition, loss reserves
on commercial loans are maintained to reflect our judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the reserve
calculations.

Our credit grades for commercial loans align with U.S. regulatory risk ratings and are mapped to our probability of default master
scale. These probability of default estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and
benchmarking of the internal ratings with external rating agency data like Standard and Poor's ("S&P") ratings and default rates.
Substantially all appraisals in connection with commercial real estate loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal
review unit at HSBC. The appraisal must be reviewed and accepted by this unit. For loans greater than $250,000, an appraisal is
generally ordered when the loan is classified as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (the
"OCC"). On average, it takes approximately four weeks from the time the appraisal is ordered until it is completed and the values
accepted by HSBC's independent appraisal review unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter,
generally within the quarter in which the appraisal is received.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such as rent rolls and operating statements of the subject property are reviewed and presented in a standardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market data is gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Data is also collected
from similar properties within the portfolio. Actual sales levels of properties, operating income and expense figures and rental data
on a square foot basis are derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparables for the subject property. Property
specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a 10-year
cash flow model to be discounted at appropriate rates to present value. These valuations are then used to determine if any impairment
on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loans identified as troubled debt restructurings ("TDR Loans"), an allowance for credit losses is maintained based on the
present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loans' original effective interest rate or in the case of certain loans
which are solely dependent on the collateral for repayment, the estimated fair value of the collateral less costs to sell. The
circumstances in which we perform a loan modification involving a TDR Loan at a then current market interest rate for a borrower
with similar credit risk would include other changes to the terms of the original loan made as part of the restructure (e.g. principal
reductions, collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified as a TDR Loan.

For pools of homogeneous consumer receivables and certain small business loans which do not qualify as TDR Loans, probable
losses are estimated using a roll rate migration analysis that estimates the likelihood that a loan will progress through the various
stages of delinquency, or buckets, and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loans
in our portfolio. This migration analysis incorporates estimates of the period of time between a loss occurring and the confirming
event of its charge-off. This analysis considers delinquency status, loss experience and severity and takes into account whether
loans are in bankruptcy or have been subject to account management actions, such as the re-age of accounts or modification
arrangements. The allowance for credit losses on consumer receivables also takes into consideration the loss severity expected
based on the underlying collateral, if any, for the loan in the event of default based on historical and recent trends which are updated
monthly based on a rolling average of several months' data using the most recently available information and is typically in the
range of 20-35 percent for residential mortgages and 70-100 percent for home equity mortgages. At September 30, 2015,
approximately 1 percent of our second lien home equity mortgages where the first lien residential mortgage is held or serviced by
us and has a delinquency status of 90 days or more delinquent, were less than 90 days delinquent and were not considered to be
a TDR Loan or already recorded at fair value less costs to sell.
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The roll rate methodology is a migration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical loss experience
which captures the increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off as the past due status of such account increases. The
roll rate models used were developed by tracking the movement of delinquencies by age of delinquency by "bucket" over a specified
time period. Each bucket represents a period of delinquency in 30-day increments. The roll from the last delinquency bucket results
in charge-off. Contractual delinquency is a method for determining aging of past due accounts based on the status of payments
under the loan. Average roll rates are developed to avoid temporary aberrations caused by seasonal trends in delinquency experienced
by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to avoid temporary aberrations,
while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. The roll rate calculations are performed monthly and are done consistently
from period to period. We regularly monitor our portfolio to evaluate the period of time utilized in our roll rate migration analysis
and perform a formal review on an annual basis. In addition, loss reserves on consumer receivables are maintained to reflect our
judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation.

Our allowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
in further detail under the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2014 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
summarized under the caption "Risk Management" in our 2014 Form 10-K. There have been no significant revisions to our policies
or methodologies during the first nine months of 2015.

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

September 30, June 30, December 31,

2015 2015 2014
(dollars are in millions)

Allowance for credit L0SSes.............c.oovviiiiiiiiiiiieiie e e $ 678 $ 648 § 680
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to: -
Loans:"
COMIMETCIAL ..vvieiieetie ettt et et e e s v e et e et e e beestbeesbeesabeenseessseensaessseensaessseensens

NONEATTTHALES ...ttt et b et e b e ss e beessesseessesseeneas 90% .84% .92%

ATTIHALES ..ottt ettt e et e e tae et e e s aaeebeesebeebaessbeenbaenaaeeareas — — —

Total COMMETCIAL......ccuveiiieeiiiieieeiiete ettt ettt et e e s e etee b e eseessessaesseesaesaeessens .82 78 .85
Consumer:

Residential MOTZAZES .......eoverveieieieieieiieteeet ettt eae s 45 48 .64

HoOme equity MOTEZAZES ... .ccvevereieiieieiieiieteiceieee sttt ettt 1.53 1.60 1.79

CIEAIt CATAS....eeuveeeieiieiietiet ettt ettt st et sttt e e sa e be e b e s beesseeseesbesseessessaesseessesseessens 4.84 477 5.42

OtNET COMSUITIET ....ivviiiiieiieiiieeceeeite et e eteeteesreebeesebeebeessbeebaessseesseesssansseessseeseessseans 1.96 1.95 2.04

TOtAl CONSUIMET ....eouvieieiiieeieiieie e ete et et et ebe st e sbeessesbeessesseesseeseessesseessesseessesssesseessans 72 75 .96
TOMAL .ottt ettt ettt ettt et ettt e et e te et e te et e te et e eateete et e eaeerteareenaens .80% T7% .87%
Net charge-offs:?

COMMETCIAL®) .ot e e e e e s seese e enaees 888% 663% 1,538%
COMSUIMICT ...ttt etieeiteetee sttt et e sttt ebeestteeateessbeesseessbeenseenseeensaenssesnseesasesnseessseeseensneans 213 178 229
TOMAL ..ttt ettt ettt et ettt e et e te et e te et e eteebeeateeteeabeeaeerteareenaens 530% 405% 596%

Nonperforming loans: ¥
COMIMETCIAL ....vieiiieiiecie ettt et e te e e te et e e st e ebe e taeebeesaaeesseessseesseesssaeseensseans 368% 444%, 351%
17 17 20

66% 65% 63%

(M Ratios exclude loans held for sale as these loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.

@ Ratios at September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 reflect year-to-date net charge-offs, annualized. Ratio at December 31, 2014 reflects full year net charge-
offs.

@ Our commercial net charge-off coverage ratio for the year-to-date periods ended September 30, 2015 and June 30, 2015 and the year ended December 31,
2014 was 107 months, 81 months and 185 months, respectively. The net charge-off coverage ratio represents the allowance for credit losses at period end
divided by average monthly net charge-offs during the period.

@)

Represents our commercial and consumer allowance for credit losses, as appropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balance of total nonperforming
loans held for investment. Nonperforming loans include accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more.
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See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit
losses by general loan categories for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

The allowance for credit losses at September 30, 2015 increased $30 million or 5 percent as compared with June 30, 2015 and
decreased $2 million or less than 1 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 as higher loss estimates in our commercial loan
portfolio were partially offset in the three month period and more than offset in the nine month period by lower loss estimates in
our consumer loan portfolio.

Our commercial allowance for credit losses increased $36 million or 7 percent as compared with June 30, 2015 and increased $41
million or 8 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting higher reserves associated with oil and gas industry loan
exposures, loan growth and downgrades reflecting weaknesses in the financial circumstances of certain customer relationships.
These increases were partially offset by lower provisions for risk factors associated with emerging market loan exposures and, in
the year-to-date period, lower specific customer provisions driven largely by charge-offs related to a single customer relationship
and releases of reserves associated with maturities of lower quality loans and managed reductions in certain exposures.

Our consumer allowance for credit losses decreased $6 million or 4 percent as compared with June 30, 2015 and decreased $43
million or 23 percent as compared with December 31, 2014 reflecting lower loss estimates in our residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage loan portfolios driven by lower severity estimates, continued improvements in economic and credit conditions
including lower delinquency levels and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages which are an increasingly
larger portion of the portfolio as well as, in the year-to-date period, lower loss estimates associated with the remediation of certain
mortgage servicing activities and a lower allowance for credit losses in our credit card portfolio reflecting lower receivable levels
and improved delinquency roll rates.

Our residential mortgage loan allowance for credit losses in all periods reflects consideration of certain risk factors relating to
trends such as recent portfolio performance as compared with average roll rates and economic uncertainty, including housing
market trends as well as second lien exposure.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of total loans at September 30, 2015 was flat as compared with June 30, 2015 and
decreased as compared with December 31, 2014. The decrease in the year-to-date period was due to a decrease in the consumer
loan percentage for the reasons discussed above.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs increased as compared with June 30, 2015 and decreased as
compared with December 31, 2014. The increase in the quarter-to-date period, driven by lower dollars of net charge-offs in both
our commercial and consumer loan portfolios as well as an increase in our overall allowance for credit losses for the reasons
discussed above, was more than offset in the year-to-date period by higher dollars of net charge-offs in our commercial loan
portfolio.

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale:

% of % of % of
Loans to Loans to Loans to
Total Total Total
Amount Loans Amount Loans® Amount Loans
September 30, 2015 June 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
(dollars are in millions)
Commercial) ...........cooooieeeeeeeee s $ 533 762% $ 497 76.1% $ 492 74.7%
Consumer:
Residential MOTtZages .......coveueeruieierieieiiee e 79 20.6 83 20.6 107 214
Home equity MOrtGages .......cccvevveevereerieiieieseeieseesieeerenseeeenseenns 25 1.9 27 2.0 32 23
CIEATE CATAS et eeeeeee e 33 8 33 8 39 9
Other CONSUIMET ......ccuviiiiieiieciieeteeeiee e eeeereeeteeeeteeeneeereesaseeree e 8 5 8 5 10 7
Total CONSUMET.......ccouviiiieieeeiee ettt 145 23.8 151 23.9 188 25.3

TOtALL et $ 678 100.0% $ 648 100.0% $ 680 100.0%

M See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for components of the commercial allowance for credit

losses.

While our allowance for credit loss is available to absorb losses in the entire portfolio, we specifically consider the credit quality
and other risk factors for each of our products in establishing the allowance for credit loss.
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Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk 'We also maintain a separate reserve for credit risk associated with certain commercial
off-balance sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. The
following table summarizes this reserve, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The related
provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses.

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2014

(in millions)

............................................................................. $ 69 $ 70 S 68

Off-balance sheet credit risk reserve

Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized under the caption "Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other
Contractual Obligations" in this MD&A.

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over
contractual delinquency as a percent of total loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio"):

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Delinquent loans:

COMMETCIAL ....oeiviiieiiee e et e et e e et e e et e e et e e eeaaeeeeaaeeeereeeenns $ 40 $ 49 3 41
Consumer:
Residential mortgages " ............co.oovirooreoeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 868 903 1,013
Home equity mortgages' ™ .........coo.oooiivoioeeeeeeeeeeee e 54 56 62
CrEdit CATAS .....oueeuieiieiiiieiieereet ettt ettt 13 13 14
Other CONSUMET .......eiuiiiiitiitiitisteetest ettt ettt sttt ettt et ebe bbb 13 11 14
TOtAl CONSUMET......c.uiieiieiieiiiecie ettt e ete et e e te et eebeestaeebeessbeesaeessseessaessseenseesssannseeses 948 983 1,103
1 1 SRRSO PTPRIPRRR $ 988 $ 1,032 $ 1,144
Delinquency ratio: -
COMIMETCIAL ...ttt ettt et eb et et sb e b .06% .08% .07%
Consumer:
Residential mortgages'" ™ ..............cooovimivceeeeeeeeeeeee e, 4.97 5.23 6.07
Home equity mortgages" ™ ............ccooorvivoeeoeeeeeeeeeeee e 3.29 3.32 3.48
Credit CATdS....c.eviiiieiicicee et 1.91 1.88 1.94
Other CONSUMET .......couiiiiiiiiiiriertitetetetet ettt sttt et 2.64 2.21 2.52
TOtAl COMSUIMET.....cuiiiiieiirtiitietetert ettt ettt 4.67 4.88 5.59
TOTAL .ttt bbbttt b et 1.16% 1.23% 1.46%
M At September 30, 2015, June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $794 million, $873 million and $936 million,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less costs to sell, including $3 million, $4 million and $5
million, respectively, relating to loans held for sale.
@

The following table reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and adjustable rate mortgage loans:

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEEIESt-ONLY LOANS. .....uiuitiiiiiiiiiiiiet ittt ettt b ettt s bbbt et bebe b e s bt enetenas $ 67 $ 66 $ 63
ARM OGNS ...t 249 260 280
Delinquency ratio:

INEEIESt-ONLY LOANS. ......cuiuiieiiiiieieiieetet ettt bttt ettt bt 1.84% 1.81% 1.78%
ARM OGNS ...t 2.06 2.18 243

Compared with June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 7 basis
points and 30 basis points, respectively, driven by lower dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency in both our
consumer and commercial loan portfolios and higher outstanding loan balances, primarily in our commercial loan portfolio. Our
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consumer loan two-month-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 21 basis points and 92 basis points from June 30,
2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, due primarily to lower levels of residential mortgage loan delinquency, driven by
continued improvements in economic and credit conditions and the continued origination of higher quality Premier mortgages
which are an increasingly larger portion of the portfolio. Residential mortgage loan delinquency levels however continue to be
impacted by an elongated foreclosure process which has resulted in loans which would otherwise have been foreclosed and
transferred to Real Estate Owned remaining in loan account and, consequently, in delinquency. Compared with June 30, 2015 and
December 31, 2014, our commercial two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 2 basis points and 1 basis
point, respectively, due to higher outstanding loan balances and lower levels of commercial loan delinquency. Commercial loan
delinquency was lower in the three month period due to the transfer of a delinquent loan to the held for sale portfolio.

Residential mortgage delinquency is higher than home equity mortgage delinquency in all periods largely due to the inventory of
loans which are held at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell and are in the foreclosure process.
Given the extended foreclosure time lines, particularly in those states where HUSI has a large footprint, the residential mortgage
portfolio has a substantial inventory of loans which are greater than 180 days past due and have been written down to the fair value
of the collateral less cost to sell. There is a substantially lower volume of home equity mortgage loans where we pursue foreclosure
less frequently given the generally subordinate position of the lien. In addition, our legacy business originated through broker
channels and loan transfers from HSBC Finance is of a lower credit quality and, therefore, contributes to an overall higher weighted
average delinquency rate for our residential mortgages. Both of these factors are expected to continue to diminish in future periods
as the foreclosure backlog resulting from extended foreclosure time lines is managed down and the portfolio mix continues to shift
to higher quality loans as the legacy broker originated business and prior loan transfers run off.

Net Charge-offs of Loans The following table summarizes net charge-off (recovery) dollars as well as the net charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, ("net charge-off ratio"):

September 30, June 30, September 30,
2015 2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Construction and Other 1AL ESTALE.............cueuiiriiuiiiiriciiiriec et $ (0] $ 2 S ()]
Business and corporate banking 9 33 3
GLODAL DANKING. ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt s s e st et et e b e st ene et enbeneesessenseseesesenseneesenseneaneas — — —
Other COMIMETCIAL ...ttt sttt ettt ettt s bt seebens — — 3)
TOtAl COMMETCIAL ...ttt ettt st b ettt ettt b sttt b et se b st ebenis 8 31 (€))
Consumer:
Residential MOTTZAZES ........oveuiiriiuiiiieicieietee ettt s 1 6 6
Home equity MOTItZAZES ......ocueviiicieiicicte et — 2 1
CIEAIE CATAS ... 7 6 8
OthET COMSUIMET ...ttt canaean 1 4 2
TOtAl COMSUIMET. ...ttt 9 18 17
TOTAL ..t $ 17 $ 49 $ 16
Net Charge-off Ratio: -
Commercial:
Construction and other real EStAte............c.ccciiiuiiiiiiii e (.03)% (.07)% (.04)%
Business and corporate banking...............cccccciiiiiiiiiiii e 18 .67 .07
GLODAL DANKINEG ...ttt bbbttt bbbttt et s bttt bens — — —
Other COMMETICIAL ...c..uitiiieiiitirte ettt b ettt ettt eb e et b st eb et et ebeeae e — — (.41)
TOtal COMMETCIAL ...ttt st .05 20 o1
Consumer:
ResIdential MOTTZAZES .....cvoveueririeiiirieicitieiei ettt ettt ettt sttt bbbt s bt saebenis .02 14 15
HOMmE eqUIty MOTTZAZES .......cuuiuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiciiciiic e — A7 21
CIEAIE CANAS ...ttt 4.11 3.51 4.71
OFhET COMSUIMET ...ttt s 73 3.78 1.74
TOTAL COMSUITIET ...ttt ettt s ne s 18 36 35
TOMAL ... .08 % 24 % .09 %

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans for the quarter ended September 30, 2015 decreased 16 basis points
compared with the quarter ended June 30, 2015 due to lower levels of net charge-offs in both our commercial and consumer loan
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portfolios and higher outstanding average loan balances. The decrease in commercial net charge-offs reflects lower charge-offs in
business and corporate banking driven by charge-offs related to a single customer relationship during the second quarter of 2015.
The decrease in consumer net charge-offs was driven by lower charge-offs in residential mortgages and home equity mortgages
due to continued improvement in economic and credit conditions including the impact of lower levels of delinquency on accounts
less than 180 days delinquent and continued improvements in housing market conditions.

Compared with the year-ago quarter, our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans decreased 1 basis point due to a
lower level of net charge-offs in our consumer loan portfolio for the reasons discussed above and higher outstanding average loan
balances which were largely offset by a higher level of net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio largely driven by higher
charge-offs in business and corporate banking.

Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

September 30, June 30, December 31,
2015 2015 2014

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Construction and other 1€al ESTALE .............ocvvevieeeriiceeeeeeetee et $ 49 $ 64 $ 65
Business and corporate Danking...........ccoccveeereeierieneiiee e 74 47 74
GlODAl DANKING ......vevieiiieiieiieiieicetee ettt ee e st bestaesbestae s e esa e seesaensesssenseenns 21 — —
Commercial nonaccrual loans held for sale ... 58 30 43
Total COMMETCIAL.........ccviiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt eve e 202 141 182
Consumer:
Residential mortgages @) . oo 790 798 847
Home equity mort@ages'™ @ ............co.oiiioeoeeeeeeeee e 67 70 68
Consumer nonaccrual loans held for sale.... 3 3 4
TOtAl COMSUIMET .....vvieuriiiieeii et ettt ettt ettt e e e te e et e eeteeeveeteesaaeeraeeaseereeeaneennes 860 871 919
Total NONACCrUING LOANS...........cccviiiiiiiiiiiece e 1,062 1,012 1,101
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate banking 1 1 1
Total COMMETICIAL.........cceieiiiiiiiicieeee ettt eve e e 1 1 1
Consumer:
CIEdIt CATAS ...ttt e e et e e e e et e e e etee e eeaaeeeeaaeaaas 9 9 10
Other CONMSUMET .......oieieiie ettt e et e e et e e e e e e e teeeeaee e eeaaeeeeaeeeean 10 9 10
Total consumer 19 18 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more 20 19 21
Total nonperforming IoAnS..............c.oocveviiriiiiiiieie e 1,082 1,031 1,122
Other real eState OWNEA™ ...t ee e ee e ereeeeen 30 29 31
Total NoNPerforming assets................ccoccviviiiiiiieiiiiieie e $ 1,112 $ 1,060 $ 1,153

M At September 30, 2015, June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include $740 million, $755 million and $817 million,
respectively, of loans that are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans include all receivables which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged under Chapter
7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association

("GNMA"). Repayment of these loans are predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk
characteristics from the rest of our customer loan portfolio.

@ Includes less than $1 million, less than $1 million and $1 million of commercial other real estate owned at September 30,2015, June 30,2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively.

Nonaccrual loans at September 30, 2015 increased as compared with both June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014 due to higher
levels of commercial nonaccrual loans, partially offset by lower levels of consumer nonaccrual loans. The increase in commercial
nonaccrual loans was largely driven by the downgrade of a single oil and gas industry customer relationship in global banking as
well as other downgrades reflecting weaknesses in the financial circumstances of certain business and corporate banking customer
relationships. Our consumer nonaccrual loans decreased compared with both June 30,2015 and December 31,2014 driven primarily
by lower residential mortgage nonaccrual loans due to continued improvements in economic and credit conditions. Residential
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mortgage nonaccrual loan levels however continue to be impacted by an elongated foreclosure process as previously discussed.
Accruing loans past due 90 days or more remained relatively flat compared with June 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrual status are summarized in Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements," in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Impaired Commercial Loans See Note 4, "Loans," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regarding impaired loans, including TDR Loans, as well as certain other commercial credit quality indicators.

Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined as a significant credit exposure with an individual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We participate in lending activity throughout the United States
and internationally. In general, we manage the varying degrees of credit risk involved in on and off-balance sheet transactions
through specific credit policies. These policies and procedures provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It
is our policy to require collateral when it is deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending
upon management’s credit evaluation. As with any nonconforming and non-prime loan products, we utilize high underwriting
standards and price these loans in a manner that is appropriate to compensate for higher risk. We do not offer teaser rate mortgage
loans.

Our loan portfolio includes the following types of loans:

* Interest-only loans — A loan which allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which results in lower payments during the initial loan period.

* Adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans — A loan which allows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.

The following table summarizes the balances of interest-only and ARM loans in our loan portfolios, including certain loans held
for sale, at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may appear in more
than one category below.

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
(in millions)
Interest-only residential mortgage loans $ 3,640 $ 3,531
ARM loans"” 12,114 11,532

M During the remainder of 2015 and during 2016, approximately $36 million and $361 million, respectively, of the ARM loans will experience their first interest

rate reset.

The following table summarizes the concentrations of first and second liens within the outstanding residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage portfolios. Amounts in the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $16 million and $18 million
at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Closed end:
FAESE LOM. ..ttt ettt a et ettt et et et e e bt e te et e beene e beennens $ 17460 $ 16,661
SECONA LIEM ...ttt ettt et e e e e et e e b e e st e seestesseesaesseesbesseessesseensenseensenseenns 93 111
REVOIVIIE! ...ttt e s et e e e e e et ees e e e ee e 1,546 1,673
TOAL oo e $ 19,099 $ 18,445

M A majority of revolving are second lien mortgages.
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Geographic Concentrations The following table reflects regional exposure at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively, for certain loan portfolios:

Commercial Residential
Construction and Mortgages and
Other Real Home Equity
Estate Loans Mortgages

September 30, 2015:

New York State................. 30.3% 33.1%
California ........cccceevveevueennnn. 22.6 36.1
North Central United States..... 33 4.4
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State 9.6 9.0
Southern United StAteS........cceccveririerieierieieet ettt sseeseseeeseenes 28.2 13.1
Western United States, excluding California............ccocevereeniiienininiiineiesceeeee 6.0 4.3
1] 1 PRSP 100.0% 100.0%
December 31, 2014:

NEW YOIK StALE ..c.uiiiiiiiiiiciieciie ettt ettt ettt et e te s taeebeesaaeeabeesebeenseessseeabeessnesnnas 34.7% 33.5%
CAlITOINIA ....vviiieieciieieeeete ettt ettt steeae st e b e s taesbaeseesbeessesbeesaesseessensesssenseenes 21.8 34.0
North Central United States .......ceeciieciieiiieiieiiieieeeie ettt re e ebeesaeeeenes 3.8 5.1
North Eastern United States, excluding New York State..........cccooeoeiinnininininicnenns 7.9 9.3
Southern United StateS.......c..ccvuieiiiiiiieiieeiieesie ettt et steeereesteeeveesaeeeveessneenseenes 26.7 13.8
Western United States, excluding California..........ocooevereieieneieieieccncnceesesene 5.1 43
TOMAL ettt ettt ettt e ettt et e te et e e re e b e ta et e erb e reeat e reeateereens 100.0 % 100.0 %

Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Credit risk associated with derivatives is measured as the net replacement cost
of derivative contracts in a receivable position in the event the counterparties of such contracts fail to perform under the terms of
those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the
measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered.
Counterparties to our derivative activities include financial institutions, central clearing parties, foreign and domestic government
agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients as well as other HSBC
entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit
risk, we enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of
transactions with the same counterparty upon occurrence of certain events. In addition, we reduce credit risk by obtaining collateral
from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will differ based on an assessment of the credit
risk of the counterparty.

The total risk in a derivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

+  volatility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract

payments;

e current market events or trends;

*  country risk;

*  maturity and liquidity of contracts;

+ credit worthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

» the existence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

+  existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
The table below presents total credit risk exposure measured using regulatory capital rules published by U.S. banking regulatory
agencies which includes the net positive mark-to-market of the derivative contracts plus any adjusted potential future exposure as
measured in reference to the notional amount. The regulatory capital rules recognize that bilateral netting agreements reduce credit

risk and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk-weighted assets when netting requirements have been met. As aresult, risk-weighted
amounts for regulatory capital purposes are a portion of the original gross exposures.

The total credit risk exposure presented in the table below potentially overstates actual credit exposure because it ignores collateral
that may have been received from counterparties to secure exposures; and the regulatory capital rules compute exposures over the
life of derivative contracts. However, many contracts contain provisions that allow us to close out the transaction if the counterparty

118



HSBC USA Inc.

fails to post required collateral. In addition, many contracts give us the right to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity
date. As a result, these contracts have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived
from the regulatory capital rules.

September 30, December 31,
5 2014

(in millions)

Risk associated with derivative contracts:

Total credit risk EXPOSUIE! .........o.ivieeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 37800 $ 41,449
Less: collateral held against EXPOSULE.......c..coueiereieirieieieiinere ettt sttt ettt ere e sae e 7,199 8,204
INEt CIredit TISK EXPOSULE ...eevieeieiieierieeiesteetesieetesteteeteesteeseesseessesseessesseessessaessesssessesssensesssenseessenseenes $ 30,601 $§ 33,245

M At September 30, 2015, total credit risk exposure is calculated under the Basel III Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015,

replacing the Basel I risk-based approach used in 2014.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effective liquidity management is defined as ensuring we can meet customer loan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawals
and other cash commitments efficiently under both normal operating conditions and under unpredictable circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achieve this objective, we have guidelines that require sufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensure that it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, as well as to address the
more limited sources of liquidity available to it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for the balance sheet of HSBC
Bank USA to ensure that it can meet its liquidity needs in various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stress testing
scenarios, forms the basis for liquidity management and contingency funding plans.

During the first nine months 0f 2015, marketplace liquidity continued to remain available for most sources of funding. The prolonged
period of low interest rates continues to put pressure on spreads earned on our deposit base.

In June 2014, HSBC and HSBC Bank USA submitted its annual resolution plan jointly to the FRB and the FDIC as required under
Dodd-Frank and a rule issued by bank regulators relating to the resolution of bank holding companies with assets of $50 billion
or more and an FDIC rule relating to the resolution of insured depository institutions with assets of $50 billion or more. In March
2015, the FRB and FDIC completed their reviews of the resolution plan submitted in 2014. The FDIC Board of Directors determined
pursuant to section 165(d) of the Dodd-Frank Act that HSBC's 2014 plan is not credible and does not facilitate an orderly resolution
under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. The FRB determined that HSBC must take immediate action to improve its resolvability and
reflect those improvements in its 2015 plan. Although the agencies noted some improvements from the original plan submitted in
2013, they jointly identified specific shortcomings with the 2014 resolution plan that will need to be addressed with the 2015
annual submission, which is due by December 31, 2015. The agencies agreed that in the event that HSBC has not, on or before
December 31, 2015, submitted a plan responsive to the identified shortcomings, the agencies expect to use their authority under
section 165(d) to determine that the resolution plan does not meet the requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act.

As previously reported, as a result of the adoption of the final rules by the U.S. banking regulators implementing the Basel III
regulatory capital and liquidity reforms from the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("Basel Committee"), together with
the impact of similar implementation by United Kingdom banking regulators, we continue to review the composition of our capital
structure. As discussed below, during the second quarter of 2015, we replaced certain long-term debt and preferred equity instruments
that receive less favorable treatment under the rules with new Basel III compliant instruments.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $22,300 million and $30,807 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31,
2014, respectively, of which $21,209 million and $29,445 million, respectively, were held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balances
may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity.
Surplus interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to
resell depending on market conditions and the opportunity to maximize returns.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $20,423 million and $1,413 million at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Surplus interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve
Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to resell depending on market conditions and the opportunity
to maximize returns.
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Trading Assets includes securities totaling $9,624 million and $13,498 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on trends.

Securities includes securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity totaling $50,416 million and $43,609 million at
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and
discussion on trends.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $8,948 million and $12,795 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.

Deposits totaled $131,450 million and $116,118 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively, which
included $94,338 million and $84,486 million, respectively, of core deposits as calculated in accordance with FFIEC guidelines.
See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt increased to $33,018 million at September 30, 2015 from $27,524 million at December 31, 2014. The following
table presents the maturities of long-term debt at September 30, 2015:

(in millions)

2015 ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt etteteeteeteete et et et et et eatenteaterteatereetseteeteeteeteete et et ent et entersereeasereere e $ 296
2016 ootiteteieiet ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e b et e st e st e st st et e et e Re ke ek e b e b e b enbestentesbes s es s et s eRe e Rt ek e eReeRe s ebebe b enbesbentestesseseeneeseesens 3,967
2017 ettt ettt ettt ettt teeteeteete et e et et et et et ertenteateaseateteeteeteeteeteeteete et et et et entersereeaseaeere e 5,507
2018 ittt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e b e b et e st es b estestes s et e et e eRe ke eh e b e b e b en b e st en b es b es s es s et s eRe e R e ek e eReehe s ebebe b enbenbentestesseseeseeseesens 7,637
2019 ettt ettt ettt eteeteeteeteete et et et et et eateateaterseatereeteetseteeteeteete et et en s et entersereeasereere e 2,783
TREIEATIET ...ttt ettt et e e e e e et e e e e st e e e e e saaaaaeeesesaaaeeeeesaaaaaeeeeesaanaaeeeesanasaeeesesnnarteeeesanraaeas 12,828
TOTAL ... ettt et ettt ettt et ettt e et e et et te et e e et e et e et e et e et e e et eeaee st e eseesaean $ 33,018

The following table summarizes issuances and retirements of long-term debt during the nine months ended September 30, 2015
and 2014:

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

(in millions)
LoNg-term debt ISSUEM......cveiviviiieeiiieeietieieteeeet ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ete s ete s ese et essesessesesseseasesnasenn $ 15,798 $ 4,997
Long-term debt T@PaId. .......coouiiuiei ettt ettt ettt bttt et et ene et ene (9,383) (2,921)
Net 1ong-term deDt ISSUEA ......c.eoviviirieieriieiiicteeete ettt ettt ettt ettt st te s ese s ssebeseebeseeseseene $ 6415 $§ 2,076

See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and discussion on long-term debt trends, including additional
information on debt issued and repaid during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. During the second quarter of 2015,
HSBC USA exercised the option to call its remaining junior subordinated debentures previously issued by HSBC USA to three
separate capital trusts, totaling $560 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements," for additional
details.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, we may issue certain securities including debt securities and preferred
stock. The shelf has no dollar limit, but the amount of debt outstanding is limited by the authority granted by the Board of Directors.
At September 30, 2015, we were authorized to issue up to $30,000 million, of which $7,582 million was available. HSBC Bank
USA has a $40,000 million Global Bank Note Program of which $15,756 million was available at September 30, 2015.

Asamember of the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, we have secured borrowing facilities which are collateralized
by loans and investment securities. At September 30, 2015, long-term debt included $5,600 million of borrowings from the FHLB
facility. Based upon the amounts pledged as collateral under these facilities, we were allowed access to further borrowings of up
to $11,980 million.

Preferred Equity During the second quarter of 2015, HSBC USA redeemed all of its Adjustable Rate Cumulative Preferred Stock,
Series D and its $2.8575 Cumulative Preferred Stock, totaling $300 million. See Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory
Capital Requirements," for additional details and see Note 18, "Preferred Stock," in our 2014 Form 10-K for information regarding
all remaining outstanding preferred share issues.

Common Equity During the first quarter of 2015, HSBC USA repaid $4,000 million of senior long-term debt previously issued
to HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA repaid $900 million of subordinated long-term debt previously issued to HSBC
USA. In conjunction with these repayments, HSBC USA received a capital contribution of $4,000 million from its immediate
parent, HNAI in exchange for one share of common stock and HSBC USA made capital contributions to its subsidiary, HSBC
Bank USA, of $2,400 million in exchange for two shares of common stock and $2,500 million in exchange for 250 shares of non-

120



HSBC USA Inc.

cumulative preferred stock. These capital actions were taken to support our growth strategy and to strengthen the Basel I1I regulatory
capital positions of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA.

Selected Capital Ratios Capital amounts and ratios are calculated in accordance with banking regulations in effect as of
September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014. In managing capital, we develop targets for total capital to risk weighted assets,
Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets, common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets and Tier 1 capital to average consolidated
assets (this latter ratio, also known as the "Tier 1 leverage ratio"). Our targets may change from time to time to accommodate
changes in the operating environment, regulatory requirements or other considerations such as those listed above. The following
table summarizes selected capital ratios for HSBC USA with detailed explanation below. The improvement in the capital ratios
since December 31, 2014 reflects the capital actions discussed above.

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014
Total capital to risk weighted P A — 16.33% 15.78%
Tier 1 capital to risk Weighted aSSEts'!) ..........oo.oiviiiieeeeeeeeeeee e 12.71 11.41
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets').............o.coueveiierieeeeeeeeeeeee oo 12.05 10.33
Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (Tier 1 leverage ratio) .......cocceveeeeeeriereneenienienieenne 9.52 8.54
Total SQUILY 10 tOtAl ASSELS...cuvieuieiireiertieiesteeie st e te st et et et e et et e et eseeseesseesaesseensesseensesseensensaensensnenes 10.19 9.14

M Risk weighted assets are calculated under the Basel 111 Standardized Approach which came into effect on January 1, 2015, replacing the Basel I risk-based
approach used in 2014.

HSBC USA manages capital in accordance with HSBC Group policy. The HSBC North America Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process ("ICAAP") works in conjunction with the HSBC Group's [ICAAP. The HSBC North America ICAAP applies
to HSBC Bank USA and evaluates regulatory capital adequacy, economic capital adequacy and capital adequacy under various
stress scenarios. Our initial approach is to meet our capital needs for these stress scenarios locally through activities which reduce
risk. To the extent that local alternatives are insufficient or unavailable, we will rely on capital support from our parent in accordance
with HSBC's capital management policy. HSBC has indicated that they are fully committed and have the capacity to provide capital
as needed to run operations and maintain sufficient regulatory capital ratios.

Regulatory capital requirements are based on the amount of capital required to be held, as defined by regulations, and the amount
of risk weighted assets, also calculated based on regulatory definitions. Economic Capital is a proprietary measure to estimate
unexpected loss at the 99.95 percent confidence level over a 1-year time horizon. Economic Capital is compared to a calculation
of available capital resources to assess capital adequacy as part of the ICAAP.

In 2013, U.S. banking regulators issued a final rule implementing the Basel III capital framework in the U.S. ("the Basel I1I final
rule") which, for banking organizations such as HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA, became effective January 1, 2014
with certain provisions being phased in over time through the beginning of 2019. The Basel I1I final rule established an integrated
regulatory capital framework to improve the quality and quantity of regulatory capital. In addition to phasing in a complete
replacement to the Basel I general risk-based capital rules, the Basel III final rule builds on the Advanced Approach of Basel II,
incorporates certain changes to Basel 2.5, and implements certain other requirements of the Dodd-Frank Act. As a result, the capital
ratios in the table above are reported in accordance with the Basel III transition rules within the final rule. In addition, the Basel
111 final rule introduced the Standardized Approach for risk weighted assets, which replaced the Basel I risk-based guidance for
determining risk weighted assets for banking organizations and came into effect on January 1, 2015. For additional discussion of
the Basel 11 final rule requirements, including fully phased in required minimum risk-based capital ratios and the countercyclical
capital buffer (to be phased in, if applicable, beginning January 1, 2016), see Part I, "Regulation and Competition - Regulatory
Capital and Liquidity Requirements, in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Additionally, HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA are subject to the supplementary leverage ratio ("SLR"), with reporting
to U.S. banking regulators commencing January 1,2015 and full implementation and compliance by January 1,2018. The minimum
SLR is currently set at 3 percent (calculated as the ratio of Tier 1 capital to total leverage exposure, which includes balance sheet
exposures plus certain off-balance sheet items). The SLR is generally consistent with the Basel leverage framework, but also
contains certain modifications, including to the methodology for averaging total leverage exposure.

In 2014, the FRB adopted a final rule requiring enhanced supervision of the U.S. operations of non-U.S. banks such as HSBC.
The rule requires certain large non-U.S. banks with significant operations in the United States, such as HSBC, to establish a single
intermediate holding company ("IHC") to hold all of their U.S. bank and non-bank subsidiaries. The HSBC Group currently
operates in the United States through such an IHC structure (i.e., HSBC North America), therefore, the implementation of this
requirement will not have a significant impact on our U.S. operations. HSBC North America submitted its IHC implementation
plan to the FRB on December 31, 2014. Under the final rule, an IHC may calculate its risk-based and leverage capital requirements
solely under the Standardized Approach, even if the IHC meets the asset thresholds that would require a bank holding company
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to use the Advanced Approach ($250 billion or more in total consolidated assets or $10 billion or more of foreign exposures). IHCs
will be subject to all other risk-based capital requirements, including the SLR, stress testing requirements, enhanced risk
management standards, and enhanced governance and stress testing requirements for liquidity management, as well as other
prudential standards. Under the final rule, most of these requirements will become effective on July 1, 2016. The implementation
of these requirements of the final rule is not expected to have a significant impact on our processes and operations since we already
meet several of the requirements. In accordance with the final rule, HSBC North America received approval from the FRB to opt
out of the Advanced Approach in December 2014 and HSBC Bank USA received approval from the OCC to opt out of the Advanced
Approach in June 2015. HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA will, however, remain subject to the other capital requirements
applicable to advanced approach banking organizations, including the SLR and the countercyclical capital buffer discussed above.

With regard to the elements of capital, the application of the Basel III final rule requires any nonconforming Tier 2 subordinated
debt issued prior to May 19, 2010 to be phased out by January 1, 2016. As a result, approximately $200 million of our currently
outstanding Tier 2 subordinated debt will be phased out of capital under the final rule.

In 2014, the Financial Stability Board ("FSB"), an international financial institutions regulatory body, issued a proposal for a total
loss-absorbing capacity requirement ("TLAC") for global systemically important banks ("G-SIBs"). The proposed requirements
would be a significant extension of the current regulatory capital framework, which is aimed at ensuring that a banking organization
can absorb losses without falling into resolution. In addition to significantly expanding the amount of such going-concern loss
absorbency, the TLAC proposal introduces a requirement to issue specified amounts of debt obligations that can absorb losses in
a resolution proceeding if the banking organization reaches the so-called point of non-viability. The TLAC requirement is to be
applied in accordance with the banking organization's resolution strategy for each entity that would enter resolution as determined
by the G-SIB Crisis Management Group. The FSB received comments on the proposal and is conducting a quantitative impact
study, before adopting a final rule in November 2015. Once finalized, each FSB jurisdiction must implement the requirements
under local law. Although the FSB does not anticipate global implementation until January 2019, certain jurisdictions, including
the United States, are expected to implement the TLAC requirements sooner.

Capital Planning and Stress Testing. U.S. bank holding companies with $50 billion or more in total consolidated assets, including
HSBC North America, are required to comply with the FRB's capital plan rule and Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review
("CCAR") program, as well as the annual supervisory stress tests conducted by the FRB, and the semi-annual company-run stress
tests as required under the Dodd-Frank Act (collectively, "DFAST"). Under the rules, the FRB will evaluate bank holding companies
annually on their capital adequacy, internal capital adequacy assessment process and plans for capital distributions, and will approve
capital distributions only for companies that are able to demonstrate sufficient capital strength after making the capital distributions.
HSBC North America participates in the CCAR and DFAST programs of the FRB and submitted its latest CCAR capital plan and
annual company-run DFAST results in January 2015. In July 2015, HSBC North America submitted its latest mid-cycle company-
run DFAST results. HSBC Bank USA is subject to the OCC's DFAST requirements, which require certain banks to conduct annual
bank-run DFAST, and submitted its latest DFAST results in January 2015. The company-run stress tests are forward looking
exercises to assess the impact of hypothetical macroeconomic baseline, adverse and severely adverse scenarios provided by the
FRB and the OCC for the annual exercise, and internally developed scenarios for both the annual and mid-cycle exercises, on the
financial condition and capital adequacy of a bank-holding company or bank over a nine quarter planning horizon.

HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA are required to disclose the results of their annual DFAST under the FRB and OCC’s
severely adverse stress scenario and HSBC North America is required to disclose the results of its mid-cycle DFAST under its
internally developed severely adverse stress scenario. In March 2015, HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA publicly
disclosed their most recent DFAST results and the FRB also publicly disclosed its own DFAST and CCAR results. HSBC North
America publicly disclosed its most recent mid-cycle DFAST results in July 2015.

In March 2015, the FRB informed HSBC North America, our indirect parent company, that it did not object to HSBC North
America's capital plan or the planned capital distributions included in its 2015 CCAR submission, including payment of dividends
on outstanding preferred stock and trust preferred securities of HSBC North America and its subsidiaries. Stress testing results are
based solely on hypothetical adverse scenarios and should not be viewed or interpreted as forecasts of expected outcomes or capital
adequacy or of the actual financial condition of HSBC North America. Capital planning and stress testing for HSBC North America
may impact our future capital and liquidity.

In October 2014, U.S. regulators issued a final rule that amends the CCAR capital planning and DFAST supervisory stress testing
rules to shift the start date of the annual capital plan and supervisory and company-run stress test cycles back by one calendar
quarter. The 2015 cycle began October 1, 2014 with a capital plan submission date of January 5, 2015. However, the next annual
cycle will begin January 1, 2016 with a capital plan submission date of April 5,2016. The final rule made certain other substantive
changes to the capital plan and stress test regulations, including limiting a bank holding company's ability to make capital
distributions (subject to certain exceptions) if its actual capital issuances in that quarter were less than the amount indicated in the
capital plan. In July 2015, the FRB issued a proposed rule to further amend the CCAR capital planning and DFAST stress testing
rules. We are reviewing the potential impact of the final rule and the proposal on our capital planning and stress testing processes.
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HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are required to meet minimum capital requirements by our principal regulators. Risk-based
capital amounts and ratios are presented in Note 15, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements," in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

2015 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2015 are summarized in the following table:

Actual Estimated
January 1 October 1
through through Estimated
September 30, December 31, Full Year
2015 2015 2015

(in billions)

Funding needs:

NEt 10AN GrOWEN....cviiitiiciiiceicicece ettt b e eaens $ 7 3 1 $ 8
Net change in short term investments and SECUTItIES ............ccoveiririiiniiiiiieces 17 5) 12
Trading and Other @SSELS.........coiririririrenieietee e (5) 3 2)
Total funding NEEdS .....c..covevveriiriiiiieiee s $ 19 $ 1 $ 18
Funding sources:
Net change i dePOSILS ....covevveriirierieniiieieietetetee ettt $ 15 $ @ $ 11
Trading and other short term Habilities........c.cceevveirerinerinerineinceee e (6) 2 4)
Net change in long-term debt..........cccooiiiiiiiiiiee e 6 1 7
Sharcholders' EQUILY .....c.ccveeieiieiecieteceeie sttt eeesre st sbeeaesaeesaesaeennens 4 — 4
Total funding SOUICES ........ccverieiiiiieieieietrer ettt $ 19 $ (1 $ 18

The above table reflects a long-term funding strategy. Daily balances fluctuate as we accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. Our prospects for
growth continue to be dependent upon our ability to attract and retain deposits and, to a lesser extent, access to the global capital
markets. We remain confident in our ability to access the market for long-term debt funding needs in the current market environment.
We continue to seek well-priced and stable customer deposits. We will continue to sell a portion of new mortgage loan originations
to PHH Mortgage.

HSBC Finance relies on its affiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy its funding needs outside of cash generated from its loan
sales and operations.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictions imposed by federal law on extensions of credit to, and certain other "covered
transactions" with HSBC USA and other affiliates. Covered transactions include loans and other extensions of credit, investments
and asset purchases, and certain other transactions involving the transfer of value from a subsidiary bank to an affiliate or for the
benefit of an affiliate. A bank's credit exposure to an affiliate as a result of a derivative, securities lending/borrowing or repurchase
transaction is also subject to these restrictions. A bank's transactions with its non-bank affiliates are also required to be on arm's
length terms. Certain Edge Act subsidiaries of HSBC Bank USA are limited in the amount of funds they can provide to other
affiliates including their parent. Amounts above their level of invested capital have to be secured with U.S. government securities.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption "Risk Management" in
this MD&A.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

As a financial services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at September 30, 2015

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or Less Five Years Years Total 2014
(in millions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations'”..............cc........ $ 6541 § 2421 § 70 $ 9,032 § 8,441
Commercial letters of credit .......ccooveeveriererieecieeeieeeeee 355 168 — 523 659
Credit derivatives™.........coooo.oorrierriierreieeeie s 24,754 72,760 4,889 102,403 117,768
Other commitments to extend credit:

Commercial® ..........coocooviooeeeeeeee e, 18,265 62,081 4,443 84,789 80,226

CONSUIMET ..ottt ettt ettt ene e enenaees 7,481 — — 7,481 6,821
TOAL oo $ 57,396 $137,430 $ 9402 $204228 $ 213915

M Includes $897 million and $937 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
@ Includes $42,902 million and $32,688 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
©®  Includes $5,137 million and $3,606 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit in the form of loans, participations in loans, lease financing receivables, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines, where we have the right to change terms or
conditions upon notification to the customer, and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties, where we have
the right to change terms or conditions, for cause, upon notification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily
those related to secured and unsecured loans and lines of credit and certain asset purchase commitments. In connection with our
commercial lending activities, we provide liquidity support to Regency, a multi-seller asset backed commercial paper ("ABCP")
conduit consolidated by an HSBC affiliate. See Note 16, "Variable Interest Entities," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for additional information regarding ABCP conduits and our variable interests in them.

We provide liquidity support to Regency in the form of lines of credit or asset purchase agreements. Under the terms of these
liquidity agreements, Regency may call upon us to lend money or to purchase certain assets in the event the conduit is unable or
unwilling to issue or rollover maturing commercial paper. The maximum amount that we could be required to advance is generally
limited to the lesser of the amount of outstanding commercial paper related to the supported transaction and the balance of the
assets underlying that transaction adjusted by a funding formula that excludes defaulted and impaired assets. As a result, the
maximum amount that we would be required to fund may be significantly less than the maximum contractual amount specified
by the liquidity agreement.
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The following tables present information on our liquidity facilities with Regency at September 30, 2015. The maximum exposure
to loss presented in the first table represents the maximum contractual amount of loans and asset purchases we could be required
to make under the liquidity agreements. This amount does not reflect the funding limits discussed above and also assumes that we
suffer a total loss on all amounts advanced and all assets purchased from Regency. As such, we believe that this measure significantly
overstates our expected loss exposure.

Conduit Assets™” Conduit Funding®
Maximum Weighted Weighted
Exposure Total Average Life =~ Commercial Average Life
Conduit Type to Loss Assets (Months) Paper (Days)

(dollars are in millions)

HSBC affiliate sponsored (multi-seller)..........ccocceveerireinnnne $ 3,097 $ 1,955 12 $ 1,873 12

M The amounts presented represent only the specific assets and related funding supported by our liquidity facilities.

1)

Average Average Credit Quality
Asset Class Asset Mix AAA AA+AA A A- BB/BB-
Multi-seller conduit
Debt securities backed by:
Auto loans and 1€ases ..........cceeevevuiererreeieereeieennn, 48% 74% 15% —% —% —%
Trade receivables.........ccoevervieieniieienieiee e 37 — 85 100 — —
Equipment 10ans..........ccccvevieeieniieieneeieneeeeeeennn 15 26 — — —
100% 100% 100% 100% —% —%

" Credit quality is based on Standard and Poor’s ratings at September 30, 2015.

We receive fees for providing these liquidity facilities. Credit risk on these obligations is managed by subjecting them to our normal
underwriting and risk management processes.

The preceding tables do not include information on credit facilities that we previously provided to certain Canadian multi-seller
ABCP conduits that have been subject to restructuring agreements as part of the Montreal Accord. As part of the enhanced collateral
pool established for the restructuring, we provided a Margin Funding Facility to a Master Asset Vehicle which is undrawn and
expires in July 2017. At September 30, 2015, the undrawn facility has been reduced to CAD $77 million from CAD $112 million
at December 31, 2014.

We have established and manage a number of constant net asset value ("CNAV") money market funds that invest in shorter-dated
highly-rated money market securities to provide investors with a highly liquid and secure investment. These funds price the assets
in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a constant price. The funds,
however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than 50 basis points from the
portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to price its portfolio at market value and consequently would no
longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds because we do not absorb
the majority of the expected future risk associated with the fund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity, credit and other relevant
risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.

Fair Value

Fair value measurement accounting principles require a reporting entity to take into consideration its own credit risk in determining
the fair value of financial liabilities. The incorporation of our own credit risk accounted for a decrease of $157 million and a
decrease of $232 million in the fair value of financial liabilities during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015,
respectively, compared with a decrease of $22 million and a decrease of $28 million during the prior year periods.

Net income volatility arising from changes in either interest rate or credit components of the mark-to-market on debt designated
at fair value and related derivatives affects the comparability of reported results between periods. Accordingly, the gain (loss) on
debt designated at fair value and related derivatives during the nine months ended September 30, 2015 should not be considered
indicative of the results for any future period.
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Control Over Valuation Process and Procedures We have established a control framework which is designed to ensure that fair
values are either determined or validated by a function independent of the risk-taker. See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements" in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further details on our valuation control framework.

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish a fair value hierarchy structure that prioritizes the
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework"). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants' assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodologies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The majority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniques that feature one or more significant unobservable inputs (Level 3). The determination of the level of fair value hierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or a liability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

. whether the asset or liability is transacted in an active market with a quoted market price;
. the level of bid-ask spreads;

. a lack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;

. whether only a few transactions are observed over a significant period of time;

. whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services;

. whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

. whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determine the fair
value.

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liabilities. A financial instrument is classified as a Level 1 measurement if it is listed on an exchange or is an instrument actively
traded in the over-the-counter ("OTC") market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. We regard financial
instruments such as equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be actively traded.
Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury or by other foreign
governments, to-be-announced ("TBA") securities and non-callable securities issued by U.S. government sponsored entities.

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify as Level 1 inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, corporate debt, foreign government-backed debt, preferred securities, precious metals and certain commercial
loans held for sale as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, at least two quotations from independent sources are obtained based
on transactions involving comparable assets and liabilities to validate the fair value of these instruments. We have established a
process to understand the methodologies and inputs used by the third party pricing services to ensure that pricing information met
the fair value objective. Where significant differences arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally determined
fair value, we investigate and reconcile the differences. If the investigation results in a significant adjustment to the fair value, the
instrument will be classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. In general, we have observed that there is a correlation
between the credit standing and the market liquidity of a non-derivative instrument.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. The fair value of certain structured derivative products is determined using valuation
techniques based on inputs derived from observable benchmark index tranches traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control
processes and procedures have been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instruments that share
similar risks to the relevant benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors. In addition, a
validation process has been established, which includes participation in peer group consensus pricing surveys, to ensure that
valuation inputs incorporate market participants' risk expectations and risk premium.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputs incorporate market participants' assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. As of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our Level 3 instruments included the following: collateralized
debt obligations ("CDOs") for which there is a lack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured deposits
and structured notes as well as certain structured credit and structured equity derivatives where significant inputs (e.g., volatility
or default correlations) are not observable, credit default swaps with certain monoline insurers where the deterioration in the
creditworthiness of the counterparty, which is unobservable, has resulted in significant adjustments to fair value, subprime mortgage
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loans held for sale, certain corporate debt securities, impaired commercial loans, mortgage servicing rights, and derivatives
referenced to illiquid assets of less desirable credit quality.

See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements" in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information on
Level 3 inputs as well as a discussion of transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 measurements during the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014.

Level 3 Measurements The following table provides information about Level 3 assets/liabilities in relation to total assets/liabilities
measured at fair value as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, December 31,

2015 2014

(dollars are in millions)
LeVel 3 aSSetS!®) ..o $ 3572 $ 3810
Total assets measured at fair VAIIE™)..............cooorriieirriiieni s 129,661 122,473
Level 3 HADIIITIES ...c..eveieiieiieieicreet ettt sttt 2,727 2,863
Total liabilities measured at fair ValUE™ ...........ooo..ooirrrioeeririiiereeii s 97,128 90,892
Level 3 assets as a percent of total assets measured at fair value 2.8% 3.1%
Level 3 liabilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value...........ccooceveverercieniecienennnns 2.8% 3.1%

M Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $3,529 million of recurring Level 3 assets and $43 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at September 30, 2015. Includes $3,752 million of

recurring Level 3 assets and $58 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2014.

®  Includes $129,406 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $255 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at September 30, 2015.

Includes $122,155 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $318 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2014.

Significant Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities We have entered into credit default swaps with monoline
insurers to hedge our credit exposure in certain asset-backed securities and synthetic CDOs. We made $12 million and $7 million
positive credit risk adjustments to the fair value of our credit default swap contracts during the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015, respectively, compared with positive adjustments of $1 million and $14 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. These adjustments to fair value are recorded in trading revenue in the consolidated
statement of income. We have recorded a cumulative credit adjustment reserve of $46 million and $53 million against our monoline
exposure at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The fair value of our monoline exposure net of cumulative
credit adjustment reserves equaled $174 million and $204 million at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.

See Note 18, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014 as well
as for further details including the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs The fair value of certain financial instruments is measured using valuation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservable input parameters which can be selected from a range of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assets or liabilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform a test of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $59 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $110 million as of September 30, 2015. The effect of changes in significant unobservable input parameters are
primarily driven by mortgage servicing rights, certain asset-backed securities including CDOs, and the uncertainty in determining
the fair value of credit derivatives executed against monoline insurers.
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Assets Underlying Asset-backed Securities The following tables summarize the types of assets underlying our asset-backed
securities as well as certain collateralized debt obligations held as of September 30, 2015:

Total
(in millions)
Rating of securities:'" Collateral type:
AAA Commercial MOTTZAZES.......c.cvveveveiririeriiririeieetrteeie sttt eaebeae e $ 22
Residential mortgages - ALt A......ooueeiiiieiieee e 65
Residential mortgages - SUDPIIme.........ccevvevierieniieieiieieeeeeee e 1
TOAL AAA....oooooveoeeeeeeeeee e essesesssssssssssssssssssssssseseeeeeeese s TS
AA oo OTBET .o a1
A Residential mortgages - ALt A......oouieiioieiiiee e T 6
Residential mortgages - SUDPIImMe.........ccevvevievieniieieiieieieeeesee e 47
Home equity = At A...ooeiiee et 79
StUAENE LOANS ...ttt e 88
L0711 < USRS 52
TOMAL A oo T 2
BBB ... Residential mortgages - ALt A......oouooiiieiieeeee e 2
Collateralized debt ODlIZAtIONS ........ccevvveeerieeiieriieieeieie e 233
TOAl BBB......oovvvvovveeeeeeeessesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssenseeeeeeesss s T 235
CCC it Residential mortgages - SUDPIImMe.........ccevvevievieniieieieeieeeere e T 6
$ 642
m

We utilize S&P as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S&P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and Fitch are used, in that
order. Ratings for collateralized debt obligations represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral.
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Risk Management

Overview Some degree of risk is inherent in virtually all of our activities. The HSBC U.S. risk appetite framework describes
through its risk appetite statement and its risk appetite limits and thresholds the quantum and types of risk that it is prepared to
take in executing its strategy. It develops and maintains the linkages between strategy, capital, risk management processes and
HSBC Group Strategy and directs HSBC North America’s businesses to be targeted along strategic and risk priorities and in line
with the forward view of available capital under stress. Accordingly, we have comprehensive risk management policies and practices
in place to address potential risks, which include the following:

*  Credit risk is the potential that a borrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, as well as the impact on the
value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default; Credit risk includes risk associated with
cross-border exposures.

»  Liquidity risk is the potential that an institution will be unable to meet its obligations as they become due or fund its
customers because of inadequate cash flow or the inability to liquidate assets or obtain funding itself;

»  Interestraterisk is the potential impairment of net interest income due to mismatched pricing between assets and liabilities
as well as losses in value due to interest rate movements;

*  Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, including foreign exchange rates and commodity prices, interest
rates, credit spreads and equity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios;

»  Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, or systems, or from
external events (including legal risk);

*  Compliance risk is the risk that we fail to observe the letter and spirit of all relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations and
standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;

*  Fiduciary risk is the risk of breaching fiduciary duties where we act in a fiduciary capacity as trustee, investment manager
or as mandated by law or regulation;

*  Reputational risk is the risk arising from failure to meet stakeholder expectations as a result of any event, behavior, action
or inaction, either by us, our employees, the HSBC Group or those with whom it is associated, that may cause stakeholders
to form a negative view of us. This might also result in financial or non-financial impacts, loss of confidence or other
consequences.

»  Strategic risk is the risk that the business will fail to identify, execute, and react appropriately to opportunities and/or
threats arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years such as changing economic
and political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory developments or competitor action;

»  Security and Fraud risk is the risk to the business from terrorism, crime, fraud, information security, incidents/disasters,
cyber-attacks and groups hostile to HSBC interests;

*  Model risk is the potential for adverse consequences from decisions based on incorrect or misused model outputs and
reports. This occurs primarily for two reasons: 1) the model may produce inaccurate outputs when compared with the
intended business use and design objective; and 2) the model could be used incorrectly; and

*  Pension risk is the risk that the cash flows associated with pension assets will not be enough to cover the pension benefit
obligations required to be paid and includes the risk that assumptions used by our actuaries may differ from actual
experience.

See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of the objectives of our risk management
system as well as our risk management policies and practices. Our risk management process involves the use of various simulation
models. We believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what
is assumed in the models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonable estimates, with the understanding that actual
results may differ significantly from model projections.

Credit Risk Management Credit risk is the potential that a borrower or counterparty will default on a credit obligation, as well as
the impact on the value of credit instruments due to changes in the probability of borrower default. Credit risk includes risk
associated with cross-border exposures. There have been no material changes to our approach towards credit risk management
since December 31, 2014. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our
approach to credit risk.
Credit risk is inherent in various on- and off-balance sheet instruments and arrangements, such as:

* loan portfolios;

* investment portfolios;

» unfunded commitments such as letters of credit, lines of credit, and unutilized credit card lines that customers can draw

upon; and
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*  derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps which, if more valuable today than when originally contracted,
may represent an exposure to the counterparty to the contract.

While credit risk exists widely in our operations, diversification among various commercial and consumer portfolios helps to
lessen risk exposure. Day-to-day management of credit and market risk is performed by the Chief Credit Officer/Head of Wholesale
Credit and Market Risk North America and the HSBC North America Chief Retail Credit Officer, who report directly to the HSBC
North America Chief Risk Officer and maintain independent risk functions. The credit risk associated with commercial portfolios
is managed by the Chief Credit Officer, while credit risk associated with retail consumer loan portfolios, such as credit cards,
installment loans and residential mortgages, is managed by the HSBC North America Chief Retail Credit Officer. Further discussion
of credit risk can be found under the "Credit Quality" caption in this MD&A.

Liquidity Risk Management During the third quarter of 2015, we established an independent risk management function for
liquidity as required by the enhanced prudential standards of the FRB. In addition to the oversight provided by ALCO, Liquidity
Risk Management ("LRM") is an oversight function for liquidity which independently reports into the Chief Risk Officer. LRM’s
primary mandate is to strengthen our liquidity risk management framework through challenge and review of existing processes
and recommending areas that need improvement to the Risk Management Committee. LRM serves as an advisory function to
senior management to ensure front line units with direct responsibility for managing liquidity risk are operating within their
operating guidelines and defined risk appetite parameters. The LRM oversight mandate will be carried out through assessing
processes related to liquidity risk identification, informed monitoring and designing a control framework as a second line of defense.
There have been no other material changes to our approach towards liquidity risk management since December 31, 2014. See
“Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to liquidity risk. Although
our overall approach to liquidity management has not changed, we continuously monitor the impact of market events on our
liquidity positions and continue to adapt our liquidity framework to reflect market events and the evolving regulatory landscape
and view as to best practices. Current regulatory initiatives encourage banks to retain a portfolio of extremely high quality liquid
assets. As such, we are maintaining a large portfolio of high quality sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

Our liquidity management approach includes increased deposits, supplemented by wholesale borrowing to fund our business
growth, and using security sales or secured borrowings for liquidity stress situations in our liquidity contingency plans. As previously
discussed, HSBC Finance relies on its affiliates, including HSBC USA, to satisfy its funding needs outside of cash generated from
its loan sales and operations.

As part of our liquidity management framework, stressed coverage ratios are derived from stressed cash flow scenario analyses
and express the stressed cash inflows as a percentage of stressed cash outflows over one-month and three-month time horizons.
At September 30, 2015, our one-month and three-month stressed coverage ratios were 121 percent and 110 percent, respectively.
At December 31, 2014, our one-month and three-month stressed coverage ratios were 111 percent and 104 percent, respectively.
Asstressed coverage ratio of 100 percent or higher reflects a positive cumulative cash flow under the stress scenario being monitored.
HSBC operating entities are required to maintain a ratio of 100 percent or greater out to three months under the combined market-
wide and HSBC-specific stress scenario defined by the inherent liquidity risk categorization of the operating entity concerned.

In addition, the Asset and Liability Management Committee monitors the ratio of Advances to Core Funding ("ACF"). The ACF
ratio measures what percentage of our stable sources of long-term funding (generally customer deposits deemed to be "core" in
accordance with HSBC policy and debt with at least 12 months until maturity) are utilized in providing loans to customers. We
are required to maintain an ACF ratio below 120 percent. At September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, our ACF ratio was 90
percent and 101 percent, respectively.

In 2009, the Basel Committee proposed two minimum liquidity metrics for limiting risk: the liquidity coverage ratio ("LCR"),
designed to be a short-term measure to ensure banks have sufficient high-quality liquid assets to cover net stressed cash outflows
over the next 30 days, and the net stable funding ratio ("NSFR"), which is a longer term measure with a 12-month time horizon
to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assets and liabilities. The Basel Committee finalized the LCR in January 2013 with
phase-in beginning in 2015. The Basel Committee finalized the NSFR in October 2014.

In September 2014, the FRB, the OCC and the FDIC issued final regulations to implement the LCR in the U.S., applicable to
certain large banking institutions, including HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA. The LCR final rule is generally consistent
with the Basel Committee guidelines, but is more stringent in several areas including the range of assets that will qualify as high-
quality liquid assets and the assumed rate of outflows of certain kinds of funding. Under the final rule, U.S. institutions began the
LCR transition period on January 1, 2015 and are required to maintain a minimum LCR of 100 percent by January 1, 2017, two
years ahead of the Basel Committee's timeframe for compliance by January 1, 2019. At September 30, 2015, HSBC Bank USA's
LCR ratio under the final U.S. LCR rule was 122 percent. HSBC Bank USA's LCR is calculated based on our current interpretation
and understanding of the U.S. LCR rule and may differ in future periods depending on further implementation guidance from our
regulators. The LCR final rule does not address the NSFR requirement, which is currently in an international observation period.
Based on the results of the observation period, the Basel Committee and U.S. banking regulators may make further changes to the
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NSFR. The U.S. regulators have not yet proposed rules to implement the NSFR for U.S. banks and bank holding companies but
are expected to do so well in advance of the NSFR's scheduled global implementation by January 1, 2018.

In the first quarter of 2014, the FRB issued rules pursuant to Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act, which established enhanced
prudential standards for U.S. bank holding companies and foreign banking organizations with total global consolidated assets of
$50 billion or more. The rules complement the LCR, capital planning, resolution planning, and stress testing requirements that
have been finalized. The rules require bank holding companies, such as HSBC North America, to comply with various liquidity
risk management standards and to maintain a liquidity buffer of unencumbered highly liquid assets based on the results of internal
liquidity stress testing. Beginning January 1, 2015, bank holding companies are also required to meet heightened liquidity
requirements, which include qualitative liquidity standards, cash flow projections, internal liquidity stress tests, and liquidity buffer
requirements. HSBC North America has implemented the standard and it does not have a significant impact to our business model.
Starting on July 1,2016, HSBC North America will be treated as an IHC owned by a foreign banking organization. This transition
is not expected to have a significant impact on our U.S. operations or change our liquidity management policies.

HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA have adjusted their liquidity profiles to support compliance with these rules. HSBC
North America and HSBC Bank USA may need to make further changes to their liquidity profiles to support compliance with any
future final rules.

Our ability to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. The following table reflects the short and long-term credit ratings of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA at September
30, 2015:

Moody’s S&P Fitch pBRs”
HSBC USA:
Short-term DOTTOWINGS ....ccvevveeeereieieiieieeieeie st P-1 A-1 F1+ R-1 (low)
Long-term/senior debt...........coecveiereeiiineninineneneeneseeenee A2 A AA- A (high)
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term DOITOWINGS .....c.evvveeereieieeiieieseeie st P-1 A-1+ F1+ R-1 (middle)
Long-term/senior debt.............cccorueveruerereeiereieieereeeresee e Aa3® AA- AA- A (high)

M Dominion Bond Rating Service.

@ Moody's long-term deposit rating for HSBC Bank USA was Aa2 at September 30, 2015.

In February 2015, S&P took various rating agency actions on certain European banks, including HSBC, following a review of
government support. As a result of this review, the long-term debt rating of HSBC USA was downgraded to A and the long-term
debt rating of HSBC Bank USA was put on negative watch. As part of this review, the short-term ratings of both HSBC USA and
HSBC Bank USA were re-affirmed.

In May 2015, Moody's took various rating agency actions on certain U.S. banks, including HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA,
following a review associated with the publication of its revised bank rating methodology. As a result of this review, the senior
debt rating of HSBC Bank USA was upgraded to Aa3, the long-term deposit rating of HSBC Bank USA was upgraded to Aa2 and
the senior debt rating of HSBC USA was re-affirmed. As part of this review, Moody's issued new counterparty risk ratings which
are distinct from debt, deposit or issuer ratings in that they measure default probability rather than expected loss, and apply to
counterparty obligations and contractual commitments rather than debt or deposit instruments. The new ratings provide an opinion
on a bank's counterparty risk related to its covered bonds, contractual performance obligations (e.g. servicing), derivatives (e.g.
swaps), letters of credit, certain guarantees and liquidity facilities. The short-term and long-term counterparty risk ratings issued
for HSBC Bank USA were P-1 and A1, respectively.

In September 2015, DBRS downgraded a number of banking groups in Europe, including HSBC, following a review of
developments in European regulation and legislation which provide less certainty about the likelihood of timely systemic support.
As a result of this review, the senior debt ratings of both HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, the subordinated debt ratings of both
HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA and the short-term instrument rating of HSBC USA were all downgraded by one notch to A
(high), A and R-1 (low), respectively. As part of this review, the short-term instrument rating of HSBC Bank USA was re-affirmed.

Rating agencies continue to evaluate economic and geopolitical trends, regulatory developments, future profitability, risk
management practices and litigation matters, all of which could lead to adverse ratings actions. Although we closely monitor and
strive to manage factors influencing our credit ratings, there is no assurance that our credit ratings will not be changed in the future.
As of September 30, 2015, there were no pending actions in terms of changes to ratings on the debt of HSBC USA or HSBC Bank
USA from any of the rating agencies.
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Interest Rate Risk Management Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing
characteristics of our assets, liabilities and derivative contracts. Our approach to managing interest rate risk is summarized in
MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K under the caption “Risk Management”. There have been no material changes to our approach
towards interest rate risk management since December 31, 2014.

Present value of a basis point ("PVBP") is the change in value of the balance sheet for a one basis point upward movement in all
interest rates. The following table reflects the PVBP position at September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014:

September 30, December 31,
5

2014
(in millions)
Institutional PVBP movement limit S 8.0 § 8.0
PVBP position at Period €Nd..........cceevuieieriiiieriiiierieeeerie ettt eeteste e s e sreesesreeaesseessessseseesaesseesaens 2.1 4.8

Net interest income simulation modeling techniques are utilized to monitor a number of interest rate scenarios for their impact on
projected net interest income. These techniques simulate the impact on projected net interest income under various scenarios, such
as rate shock scenarios, which assume immediate market rate movements by as much as 200 basis points, as well as scenarios in
which rates rise or fall by as much as 200 basis points over a twelve month period. The following table reflects the impact on
projected net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques:

September 30,2015  December 31, 2014

Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Estimated increase (decrease) in projected net interest income (reflects projected rate
movements on October 1 and January 1):

Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point increase in the yield curve...........coccoveeeneneee $ 259 10% § 162 7%
Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve...........ccccceeveueneee. 217) ®) (234) ©)]
Resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increase in the yield curve...........coccoceeeneneee 472 18 283 11
Resulting from a gradual 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve...........cccecevveueneee. 444) (@17) (442)  (18)

Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on October 1
and January 1):

Resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve'™ .................... (193) 3 (216) )
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve..........c..c..c..... 386 15 247 10
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve..................... (346) (13) (381)  (15)
Resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve..........c..c........ 701 27 432 18
Resulting from an immediate 200 basis point decrease in the yield curve............c........ (544) (21 (627) (25

M With the continued period of low interest rates, some of the above decrease scenarios have become less meaningful. We are adding a new scenario for an

immediate 50 basis point decrease in rates to reflect the impact of a potential sharp decline in interest rates to future income.

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonable estimate of interest rate
sensitivity, actual results will differ from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

132



HSBC USA Inc.

Capital Risk/Sensitivity of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some
reported capital balances and ratios. The mark-to-market valuation of available-for-sale securities is recorded on a tax effected
basis to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). This valuation mark is included in two important accounting based capital
ratios: total shareholders' equity to total assets and common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets. Under the final rule
adopting the Basel III regulatory capital reforms, the valuation mark is being phased into common equity Tier 1 capital over five
years beginning in 2014. As of September 30, 2015, we had an available-for-sale securities portfolio of approximately $35,937
million with a positive mark-to-market adjustment of $81 million. An increase of 25 basis points in interest rates of all maturities
would lower the mark-to-market by approximately $272 million to a net loss of $191 million with the following results on our
capital ratios:

September 30, 2015 December 31, 2014
Actual Proforma® Actual Proforma'”
Total shareholders' equity to total aSSets........ccceeeveeveirierieneneninenenne 10.19% 10.12% 9.14% 9.10%
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk weighted assets............cccceeceenne 12.05 11.98 10.33 10.27

M Proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.

Market Risk Management Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, including foreign exchange rates and
commodity prices, interest rates, credit spreads and equity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios. Exposure
to market risk is separated into two portfolios:

*  Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market-making and warehousing of customer-derived positions.

*  Non-trading portfolios comprise positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of our retail and
commercial banking assets and liabilities and financial investments classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity.

There have been no material changes to our approach towards market risk management since December 31, 2014. See “Risk
Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to market risk.

Value at Risk VaR is a technique that estimates the potential losses on risk positions as a result of movements in market rates and
prices over a specified time horizon and to a given level of confidence. VaR is calculated for all trading positions and non-trading
positions which are equally sensitive to market moves regardless of how we capitalize those exposures. VAR is calculated at a
99 percent confidence level for a one-day holding period.
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Trading Portfolios Trading VaR generates from the Global Markets unit of the GB&M business segment. Portfolios are mainly
comprised of foreign exchange products, interest rate swaps, credit derivatives, precious metals (i.e. gold, silver, platinum) in both
North America and emerging markets.

Daily VaR (trading portfolios), 99% 1 day (in millions):

12

10 A

6
Trading VaR

4

2

0

Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15

The following table summarizes our trading VaR for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:
Foreign
exchange and Portfolio
commodity Interest rate Credit Spread diversification Total®
(in millions)

At September 30, 2015..............coooiiiinininene $ 4 3 5 8 7 3 o 3 7
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
AVETAZE ... 5 4 8 (10) 7
MaXimUM......ooeviniireiineeeeeeeeeeeee s 6 10 15 10
MINIMUM oo 3 2 4 3
At December 31,2014 ..o $ 59 393 6 $ ® $ 6

M Portfolio diversification is the market risk dispersion effect of holding a portfolio containing different risk types. It represents the reduction in unsystematic

market risk that occurs when combining a number of different risk types, for example, foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread, together in one
portfolio. It is measured as the difference between the sum of the VaR by individual risk type and the combined total VaR. A negative number represents the
benefit of portfolio diversification. As the maximum and minimum occur on different days for different risk types, it is not meaningful to calculate a portfolio
diversification benefit for these measures.

@ The total VaR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects. For presentation purposes, portfolio diversification of the VaR for trading

portfolios includes VaR-based risk-not-in-VaR.

Backtesting In the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we experienced two backtesting exceptions. The first loss exception
occurred in January when the Swiss Central Bank surprised the markets and lifted the Swiss Franc currency peg to the Euro. This
move of the currency pair was more extreme than any dates used in the historical VaR calculation. The second loss exception
occurred in August when losses were incurred due to extreme market volatility stemming out of Asia.

We daily validate the accuracy of our VaR models by back-testing them against hypothetical profit and loss that excludes non-
modeled items such as fees, commissions and revenues of intra-day transactions from the actual reported profit and loss. We would
expect on average to see two to three profits, and two to three losses, in excess of VaR at the 99 percent confident level over a one-
year period. The actual number of profits or losses in excess of VaR over this period can therefore be used to gauge how well the
models are performing. To ensure a conservative approach to calculating our risk exposures, it is important to note that profits in
excess of VaR are only considered when backtesting the accuracy of models and are not used to calculate the VaR numbers used
for risk management or capital purposes.
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Backtesting of trading VaR against our hypothetical profit and loss (in millions):

15/

10 A

0

7 W
-15 -

Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15

Hypothetical profit and loss VaR (99%) 49 Backtesting exception

Non-trading Portfolios Non-trading VaR predominantly relates to Balance Sheet Management ("BSM") and represents the
potential negative changes in the investment portfolio market value (which includes available for sale and held to maturity assets)
and associated hedges. Our investment portfolio holdings are mainly comprised of U.S. Treasuries and U.S. agency mortgage
backed securities. Our non-trading VaR exposure is driven by interest rates, mortgage spreads, and asset swap spreads.

The following table summarizes our non-trading VaR for the nine months ended September 30, 2015:

Portfolio
Interest rate Credit Spread diversification” Total®

(in millions)

At September 30, 2015 ..o $ 40 S 31 $ 20) $ 52
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

AVETAZE ...ttt ettt sttt 45 29 22) 53
MAXIMUIN ..ot 65 37 65
IMINIIMUIN ...ttt e e e saeeesaaeesneeeennes 30 24 38
At December 31,2014 ..........ccoevviiiiieieiiieeeeeeee e $ 47 3 26 $ 28) $ 45

M Refer to the Trading VaR table above for additional information.

Non-trading VaR also includes the interest rate risk of non-trading financial assets and liabilities held by the global businesses and
transferred priced into BSM which has the mandate to centrally manage and hedge it. For a broader discussion on how interest
rate risk is managed, please refer to the “Risk Management - Interest Rate Risk Management” in MD&A in our 2014 Form 10-K.

Trading Portfolio MSRs Trading occurs in mortgage banking operations as a result of an economic hedging program intended to
offset changes in the value of mortgage servicing rights. Economic hedging may include, for example, forward contracts to sell
residential mortgages and derivative instruments used to protect the value of MSRs.

MSRs are assets that represent the present value of net servicing income (servicing fees, ancillary income, escrow and deposit
float, net of servicing costs). MSRs are separately recognized upon the sale of the underlying loans or at the time that servicing
rights are purchased. MSRs are subject to interest rate risk, in that their value will decline as a result of actual and expected
acceleration of prepayment of the underlying loans in a falling interest rate environment.

Interest rate risk is mitigated through an active hedging program that uses trading securities and derivative instruments to offset
changes in value of MSRs. Since the hedging program involves trading activity, risk is quantified and managed using a number
of risk assessment techniques.

The following table reflects the modeling techniques, primarily rate shock analyses, used to monitor certain interest rate scenarios
for their impact on the economic value of net hedged MSRs:
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September 30, December 31,
2015 2014

(in millions)

Projected change in net market value of hedged MSRs portfolio (reflects projected rate
movements on October 1 and January 1):

Value of hedged MSRS POTTIOLi0 ....c..covirtiriiriiieiiicieicte ettt e $ 130 § 159
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve:
Change [imit (N0 WOISE than).........ccceiriiiriniriiriiteetetetete ettt (10) (10)

Calculated change in net market Valtue ...........coooiiiiiiiiiiii e — —
Change resulting from an immediate 50 basis point increase in the yield curve:

Change limit (n0 Worse than)............ccoiiiiii ©) 4)

Calculated change in net market VAU ...........ccooeeieriieieniieiceeeeeee e — —
Change resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve:

Change limit (10 Worse than)...........cccoviiiiiiiiii (6) (6)

Calculated change in net market Valtie ............ooooiiiiiiiiiii e 1 3

The economic value of the net hedged MSRs portfolio is monitored on a daily basis for interest rate sensitivity. If the economic
value declines by more than established limits for one day or one month, various levels of management review, intervention and/
or corrective actions are required.

The following table summarizes the frequency distribution of the weekly economic value of the MSR asset during the nine months
ended September 30, 2015. This includes the change in the market value of the MSR asset net of changes in the market value of
the underlying hedging positions used to hedge the asset. The changes in economic value are adjusted for changes in MSR valuation
assumptions that were made during the course of the year.

Below $(Q2) $0 $2 Over
Ranges of mortgage economic value from market risk-related activities $Q2) to $0 to $2 to $4 $4

(dollars are in millions)

Number of trading weeks market risk-related revenue was within
the Stated raNge........ccevieiieieeeee e e — 9 30 - -

Fiduciary Risk To better position the Fiduciary Risk Officer/Specialist to oversee fiduciary compliance across the fiduciary
businesses in a more consistent manner, the Fiduciary Risk Officer/Specialist transitioned from reporting to the U.S. Head of
Operational Risk to reporting to the U.S. Head of Regulatory Compliance beginning in 2015. Further, the Fiduciary Risk
Management Committee is now chaired by the U.S. Head of Regulatory Compliance. There have been no other material changes
to our approach toward fiduciary risk since December 31, 2014.

Operational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward operational risk since December 31, 2014.
Compliance Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward compliance risk since December 31, 2014.
Reputational Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward reputational risk since December 31, 2014.
Strategic Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward strategic risk since December 31, 2014.

Security and Fraud Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward security and fraud risk since December
31,2014.

Model Risk There have been no material changes to our approach to model risk since December 31, 2014.

Pension Risk There have been no material changes to our approach toward pension risk since December 31, 2014.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

The following table summarizes the quarter-to-date and year-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets,
liabilities and shareholders' equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid, presented on a taxable
equivalent basis, which resulted in increases to interest income on securities of $3 million and $9 million during the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2015, respectively, and increases to interest income on securities of $3 million and $12 million during
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively. Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net interest income
by the average interest earning assets from which interest income is earned. Loan interest for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2015 included fees of $18 million and $51 million, respectively, compared with fees of $14 million and $48 million
during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2014, respectively.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

Average Average
Balance Interest Rate® Balance Interest Rate®

(dollars are in millions)

Assets
Interest bearing deposits With Banks ............cccceveveverereieieieieieieieeieeieeeeeeinan $ 35035 $ 23 26% $ 27435 $ 19 27%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements.............. 5,781 7 45 1,488 3 73
TTAING SECUTTEICS ..uvvetertenieiieteieiieee ettt sttt eees 10,340 75 2.87 9,810 63 2.57
SECUTTEIES -evveueieteseieeeteie ettt ettt et se et se et aese e sesenesaese et eseseseesenenesenn 48,743 237 1.94 43,474 185 1.69
Loans:
COMIMETCIAL ...ttt ettt s e eseseneneas 64,318 356 2.20 53,982 304 2.23
Consumer:
Residential MOTtZAZES ......ccveeeverieieiriiieieereee e 17,382 143 3.28 16,320 138 3.37
HOme equity MOTTZAZES. ...c.veueevirenieiiriiieiieiesierieeeteteeee st eeeee 1,660 14 3.22 1,875 16 3.37
Credit CardS.....c.ceeiieiiireeicireeeeec ettt 681 18 10.73 679 18 10.44
Other CONSUIMET .......ceeuiiiiiiiiieieieteieiee ettt ettt esese e eennene 496 8 5.83 526 7 5.16
TOtal CONSUIMET .......vvieevieeeie ettt e e e e e eereeenae e 20,219 183 3.59 19,400 179 3.66
B e 721 B (71 R 84,537 539 2.53 73,382 483 2.61
(013115 2,563 15 2.33 3,118 9 1.26
Total INterest Carning ASSELS.........eevevruererrerrerreerereeetereeeteteeeteseeesesesesesesesesesesesenas 186,999 $ 896 1.90% 158,707 $ 762 1.91%
Allowance for Credit LOSSES .......coveieirerieiririeieiereeeees et eeeee (644) (621)
Cash and due from Danks ..........cccoeeerrreeriniecninnieii e 843 938
(01113 G TSI 1 SRS 13,719 19,932
TOtAL ASSCLS..............eoeeeiieeieieee ettt $ 200,917 $ 178,956
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
SAVINGS AEPOSIES ..vevvevierirenienieiirieieteeie ettt ettt saeaeneenens $ 49,079 $ 31 25% $ 42355 $ 13 12%
TIME AEPOSIES....veveneeiieririenietietetec ettt st et et seneeneenan 28,619 43 .61 18,233 21 45
Other interest bearing dePOSItS .........coveveirerierieirieieeeeeeee e 4,263 — — 4,170 1 A1
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks dePOSItS ........cveverieiririeieirierieieteeee et 7,056 2 .09 6,270 — .02
Other interest bearing dePOSItS .........ooveveirierierieireieeeeeeee e 3,218 1 14 6,432 2 .10
Total interest bearing dePOSILS........ccvrerveeeirerierieeieiee et 92,235 77 33 77,460 37 .19
ShOTt-term DOITOWINGS ....euveveeeireinieiieierieieieetertee sttt saens 10,750 13 43 16,037 11 28
LONG-terM AEDL ....veieeieeiiiieeteee e 32,332 184 2.26 25,000 165 2.63
Total interest bearing deposits and debt...........ccveeveriririnieenereeeeeeen 135,317 274 .80 118,497 213 71
Tax liabilities and other..... 631 2 2.06 627 3 1.63
Total interest bearing Habilities ..........ccoveveirerieieeieec e 135,948 276 .81 119,124 216 72
Net interest income/Interest rate spread $ 620 1.09% $ 546 1.19%
Noninterest bearing dePOSILS ........cveerverieiririeieerereeeeeseeee et seeeeeene 33485 30653
Other HADIIIHES ...ttt 10,709 12,223
Total Shareholders” EQUILY........coerveiririeieirieieeetee e 20,775 16,956
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity........................ccccoeevcuneeecesenneannnn $ 200,917 $ 178,956
Net interest margin on average earning assets ...........c.coveveerreuerereerereereerenennns - 131% 1.37%
Net interest income to average total aSSES.........evvereeieererieirierieieereeeeienne 1.22% 1.21%
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Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015 2014

Average Average
Balance Interest Rate” Balance Interest Rate®

(dollars are in millions)

Assets
Interest bearing deposits With banks .............cccccveieiiiiiiiiinciicccceee $ 33,68 §$ 65 26% $ 25454 $ 51 .26%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements.............. 3,626 13 46 1,421 7 .68
Trading SECULTHES ......euervveiiirieieirietei ettt ettt eeene 12,390 261 2.81 11,473 176 2.05
SECUITEIES ..vvieieie ettt ettt e et eaa e et e e e e et e eaeeeteesaaesaeeeseesrneesaneenns 48,318 666 1.84 49,209 595 1.62
Loans:
COMIMETCIAL .....evvivivieieciecteet ettt ettt et veeae et et e b e ereeaseseeveens 62,507 1,010 2.16 51,885 886 2.28
Consumer:
Residential MOItZAZES ....c.c.covvueueririeiiinirieiiirieiet et 17,137 426 3.33 16,100 410 3.41
Home equity mortgages 1,703 42 3.29 1,924 49 3.39
Credit CardS......coovvivieiiiirre s 678 55 10.88 684 52 10.21
Other CONSUMET .....c..euiiuiriiieiiniinieiee ettt 512 22 5.69 542 21 5.20
Total consumer. 20,030 545 3.64 19,250 532 3.70
TOtAl 10ANS ... 82,537 1,555 2.52 71,135 1,418 2.67
OBRET ..ttt 2,840 44 2.05 3,329 31 1.24
Total INterest CarniNg ASSETS.......cveueverirreuereririeteirteteseereeteeeeeese e teseseseeteseeesens 183,400 $ 2,604 1.90% 162,021 $ 2,278 1.88%
Allowance for Credit IOSSES ........cvevieriririeieririeieteiiere ettt eaenne (674) (590)
Cash and due from DanKS .........cccceeeiririeinnieeineeree e 864 945
OFNET ASSEES....uiiiiiieitii ettt ettt ettt ettt e et e e e te e etaeeaeesaeeeteeseaeereesaneenreeas 15,290 20,778
TOUAL ASSELS ...ttt ettt ae et eve et eaeeaean W m
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
SAVINES AEPOSILS .....veveviiiiiieieieieieieteie ettt ettt ettt $ 45567 $ 66 19% § 42,800 $ 38 12%
Time deposits..........cceveeerenee 27,506 101 49 17,217 60 46
Other interest bearing dePOSIts .........cevveveueririereriririeireee e 4,421 3 .10 4,097 4 12
Foreign deposits:
Foreign banks deposits ........ccovrueueririeueiririeiirieieteeie et 6,894 3 .05 7,138 1 .03
Other interest bearing dePOSItS .........coeveveueririereiririeinreeeeee e 3,890 4 13 5,826 5 A1
Total interest bearing depOSIts..........coerveueueririeieiririeieireie et eeeees 88,278 177 27 77,078 108 .19
ShOTt-term DOITOWINES ....c.vviuiieieiiieteiiiriete ettt ettt 14,861 35 .30 22,214 27 17
Long-term debt 31,036 524 2.26 23,422 487 2.78
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ..........cccovueirrreiinncennecreece 134,175 736 73 122,714 622 .68
Tax liabilities and Other.............ccociiiiiiiiiiic e 718 10 1.88 952 on (12.87)
Total interest bearing liabilities ........ccovrueueririeieriririeiree e 134,893 746 74 123,666 531 .57
Net interest income/Interest rate spread $ 1,858 1.16% $ 1,747 1.31%
Noninterest bearing dePOSItS ........cceeueueeerirueeririeieirieieerrete et 3907 — 30,188 —
Other HabIlIIES ........veveiiiiieieiciecee e 12,371 12,466
Total Shareholders” EqUILY........cereeueueririeieieirieieerteie e 19,709 16,834
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity.......................c.ccccocoeveeeecveceieeeenannnnn W m
Net interest margin on average €arning asSets ...........cccoveeveerreuerererrererereereenens - 1.35% 1.44%
Net interest income to average total aSSets........cceoevurveerrieererrieerinieecreeeeas T 1.25% T 128%

(M Rates are calculated on amounts that have not been rounded to the nearest million.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item is included within Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in the Risk Management section under the captions "Interest Rate Risk" and "Market Risk".

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain a system of internal and disclosure controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis. Our
Board of Directors, operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent non-executive directors,
provides oversight to our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by this report so as to alert them in a timely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2015 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 19, “Litigation and Regulatory Matters,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements beginning on page 75
for our legal proceedings disclosure, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosures pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each
issuer registered with the SEC to disclose in its annual or quarterly reports whether it or any of its affiliates have knowingly engaged
in specified activities or transactions with persons or entities targeted by U.S. sanctions programs relating to Iran, terrorism, or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the
U.S. by non-U.S. affiliates in compliance with local laws and regulations.

To comply with this requirement, HSBC has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered
by this Form 10-Q, HSBC USA Inc. did not engage in any activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r)
other than those activities related to frozen accounts and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs described
under “Frozen Accounts and Transactions” below. The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response
to Section 13(r):

Loans in repayment Between 2001 and 2005, the Project and Export Finance division of the HSBC Group arranged or participated
in a portfolio of loans to Iranian energy companies and banks. All of these loans were guaranteed by European and Asian export
credit agencies and have varied maturity dates with final maturity in 2018. For those loans that remain outstanding, the HSBC
Group continues to seek repayment in accordance with its obligations to the supporting export credit agencies and, in all cases,
with appropriate regulatory approvals. Details of these loans follow.

At September 30,2015, the HSBC Group had 10 loans outstanding to an Iranian petrochemical company. These loans are supported
by the following countries' official export credit agencies: the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain, The Netherlands, South
Korea, and Japan. The HSBC Group continues to seek repayments from the Iranian company under the outstanding loans in
accordance with their original maturity profiles. All repayments made by the company have been received under a license or an
authorization from the relevant authorities.

Bank Melli acted as a sub-participant in two of the aforementioned loans to the Iranian petrochemical company. No payments
have been made to Bank Melli in the third quarter of 2015. One of the loans to the Iranian petrochemical company, supported by
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the Spanish Export Credit Agency, was fully repaid in the third quarter of 2015. Bank Saderat acted as a sub-participant on the
loan and the final repayment due to the bank was paid into a frozen account. The repayment was made under a license or authorization
from the relevant competent authority.

Estimated gross revenue to the HSBC Group generated by the loans in repayment for the third quarter of 2015, which includes
interest and fees, was approximately $82,000, and net estimated profit was approximately $70,000. While the HSBC Group intends
to continue to seek repayment under the existing loans, all of which were entered into before the petrochemical sector of Iran was
a target of U.S. sanctions, it does not intend to extend any new loans.

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guarantees to a number
of its non-Iranian customers in Europe and the Middle East for various business activities in Iran. In a number of cases, the HSBC
Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees
required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities
included Bank Tejarat, Bank Melli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

The HSBC Group has worked with relevant regulatory authorities to obtain licenses where required and ensure compliance with
laws and regulations.

The HSBC Group received no measurable gross revenue for the third quarter of 2015 under those guarantees and counter indemnities.
The HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit
measure. The HSBC Group is seeking to cancel all relevant guarantees and counter indemnities and does not intend to provide
any new guarantees or counter indemnities involving Iran. One was canceled during the third quarter of 2015 and approximately
20 remain outstanding.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S. -sanctioned Iranian banks not covered elsewhere in this disclosure
includes the following:

*  The HSBC Group maintains several frozen accounts in the United Kingdom for an Iranian-owned, U.K.-regulated financial
institution. In April 2007, the U.K. government issued a license authorizing the HSBC Group to handle certain transactions
(operational payments and settlement of pre-sanction transactions) for this institution. In December 2013, the U.K.
government issued a new license allowing the HSBC Group to deposit certain check payments. There was some licensed
activity in the third quarter of 2015. Estimated counter revenue to the HSBC Group in the third quarter of 2015 for this
financial institution, which includes fees and/or commissions, was approximately $(40,300). This customer relationship
has generated negative revenue to the HSBC Group, given the European Central Bank's negative interest rate. The HSBC
Group is currently paying the negative interest rate on behalf of this institution. In the second quarter of 2015, the U.K.
government issued a license to the HSBC Group to collect the negative interest rate from this institution and will commence
collecting the negative interest rate in the fourth quarter of 2015.

*  The HSBC Group acts as the trustee and administrator for a pension scheme involving two employees of a U.S.-sanctioned
Iranian bank in Hong Kong. Under the rules of this scheme, the HSBC Group accepts contributions from the Iranian bank
each month and allocates the funds into the pension accounts of the Iranian bank's employees. The HSBC Group runs
and operates this pension scheme in accordance with Hong Kong laws and regulations. Estimated gross revenue to the
HSBC Group in the third quarter of 2015 generated by this pension scheme, which includes fees and/or commissions,
was approximately $710.

For the Iranian bank related-activity discussed in this section, the HSBC Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions
and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The HSBC Group intends to continue to wind down this activity,
to the extent legally permissible, and not enter into any new such activity.

Activity related to U.S. Executive Order 13224 The HSBC Group maintains a frozen personal account for an individual sanctioned
under Executive Order 13224, and by the United Kingdom and the U.N. Security Council. Activity on this account in the third
quarter of 2015 was permitted by a license issued by the U.K. government. There was no measurable gross revenue or net profit
generated in the third quarter of 2015.

Other activity The HSBC Group holds a lease of branch premises in London which it entered into in 2005 and is due to expire in
2020. The landlord of the premises is owned by the Iranian government and is a specially designated national under U.S. sanctions
programs. The HSBC Group has exercised a break clause in the lease and is in the process of exiting the property. The HSBC
Group closed the branch in the third quarter of 2014 and will terminate the relationship with the lessor in 2015. There was no gross
revenue or net profit to HSBC in the third quarter of 2015.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA maintain several accounts that are frozen under
relevant sanctions programs and on which no activity, except as licensed or otherwise authorized, took place during the third
quarter of 2015. In the third quarter of 2015, the HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA also froze payments where required under
relevant sanctions programs. There was no gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group or HSBC Bank USA.
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Item 6. Exhibits

3(i)

3(ii)

12

31

32

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3
(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3 to
HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits 3.2
and 3.3 to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA
Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006).

Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 29, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2015).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred
Stock Dividends.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Document'”

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document”

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document'"”
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document")
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document")

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document”

(O]

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2015, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iv) the Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Index

Assets:
by business segment 45
consolidated average balances 137
fair value measurements 57
nonperforming 19, 24, 26, 116
trading 10, 87
Asset-backed commercial paper conduits 50
Asset-backed securities 11, 61, 73, 128
Balance sheet:
consolidated 5
consolidated average balances 137
review 84
Basel I 121
Basel II 121
Basel 111 48, 121
Basis of reporting 83
Business:
consolidated performance review 80
Capital:
2015 funding strategy 123
common equity movements 120
consolidated statement of changes 7
regulatory capital 47
selected capital ratios 48, 81, 121, 133
Cash flow (consolidated) 8

Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements 78

Collateral — pledged assets 55
Collateralized debt obligations 68, 73, 128

Commercial banking segment results (IFRSs) 46, 104

Compliance risk 129, 136
Controls and procedures 139
Credit card fees 93
Credit quality 111
Credit risk:
adjustment 57
component of fair value option 38
concentration 26, 117
exposure 129
management 129
related contingent features 35
related arrangements 51
Current environment 80
Deferred tax assets 101
Deposits 88, 120
Derivatives:
cash flow hedges 33
fair value hedges 32
notional value 36
trading and other 34
Equity:
consolidated statement of changes 7
ratios 48, 81, 121, 133

Equity securities available-for-sale 11

Estimates and assumptions 9

Executive overview 80

Fair value measurements:

assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a recurring basis 61

assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis 70

control over valuation process 126
financial instruments 59

hierarchy 57, 126

transfers into/out of level one and two 63
transfers into/out of level two and three 63

valuation techniques 71

Fiduciary risk 129, 136

Financial assets:

designated at fair value 36
reclassification under IFRSs 46, 83

Financial highlights metrics 80

Financial liabilities:

designated at fair value 36

fair value of financial liabilities 59

Forward looking statements 78
Funding 123

Gain on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives 38

Gains (losses) from securities 15, 93

Global Banking and Markets 46, 105
Geographic concentration of receivables 118
Goodwill 30

Guarantee arrangements 51

Impairment:

available-for-sale securities 14
credit losses 27,91

nonperforming loans 19, 24, 26, 116
impaired loans 20, 23

Income (loss) from financial instruments designated at fair value, net 38

Income tax expenses 3, 101

Intangible assets 29
Interest rate risk 129, 132

Internal control 139

Key performance indicators 80

Legal proceedings 139
Liabilities:

commitments, lines of credit 124

deposits 88, 120

financial liabilities designated at fair value 36
trading 10, 87

long-term debt 37, 42, 88, 120

short-term borrowings 42, 88, 120

Liquidity and capital resources 119

Liquidity risk 129, 130
Litigation and regulatory matters 75
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Loans:
by category 17, 85
by charge-off (net) 27, 115
by delinquency 25, 114
criticized assets 24
geographic concentration 118
held for sale 28
impaired 20
nonperforming 19, 24, 26, 116
overall review 84
risk concentration 26, 117
troubled debt restructures 20

Loan impairment charges — see Provision for credit losses

Loan-to-deposits ratio 81
Loan to value (LTV) 85
Market risk 129, 133
Market turmoil:
exposures 133
impact on liquidity risk 119
Monoline insurers 15, 127
Mortgage lending products 17, 85
Mortgage servicing rights 29
Net interest income 89
New accounting pronouncements 77
Off balance sheet arrangements 124
Operating expenses 98
Operational risk 129, 136
Other revenue 93
Other segment results (IFRSs) 46, 109
Pension and other postretirement benefits 41
Performance, developments and trends 80
Pledged assets 55
Private banking segment results (IFRSs) 46, 108
Profit (loss) before tax:
by segment — IFRSs 46
consolidated 3
Provision for credit losses 27, 91
Ratios:
capital 48, 81, 121, 133
charge-off (net) 80, 112
credit loss reserve related 112
delinquency 114
earnings to fixed charges — Exhibit 12
efficiency 80, 99
Reconciliation of U.S. GAAP results to IFRSs 83
Refreshed loan-to-value 85
Regulation 47, 121, 139
Related party transactions 42

Reputational risk 129, 136
Results of operations 89
Residential Mortgage Revenue 97

Retail banking and wealth management segment results (IFRSs) 46, 102

Risk elements in the loan portfolio 117
Risk management:
credit 129
compliance 129, 136
fiduciary 129, 136
interest rate 129, 132
liquidity 129, 130
market 129, 133
model 129, 136
operational 129, 136
pension 129, 136
reputational 129, 136
security and fraud risk 129, 136
strategic129, 136
Securities:
amortized cost 11
fair value 11
impairment 14
maturity analysis 16
Segment results - IFRSs basis:
retail banking and wealth management 46, 102
commercial banking 46, 104
global banking and markets 46, 105
private banking 46, 108
other 46, 109
overall summary 46, 102
Selected financial data 80
Sensitivity:
projected net interest income 132
Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity 7
Statement of changes in comprehensive income 4
Statement of income 3
Strategic risk 129, 136
Stress testing 122
Table of contents 2
Tax expense 3, 101
Trading:
assets 10, 87
derivatives 10, 87
liabilities 10, 87
portfolios 10
Trading revenue (net) 95
Troubled debt restructures 20
Value at risk 133
Variable interest entities 49
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC USA Inc. has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: November 2, 2015

HSBC USA INC.

By: /sl MARK ZAESKE
Mark Zaeske
Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit Index
3(31) Articles of Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3(a) to HSBC USA Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999, Exhibit 3
to HSBC USA Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Exhibits
3.2 and 3.3 to HSBC USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005; Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC
USA Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 22, 2006).
3(ii) Bylaws of HSBC USA Inc., as Amended and Restated effective April 29, 2015 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 1, 2015).
12 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Earnings to Combined Fixed Charges and
Preferred Stock Dividends.
31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document'"
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document'"
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document'”
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document"
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document'”
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document'"

M Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

September 30, 2015, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive data files: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2015 and December 31, 2014, (iv) the Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the nine
months ended September 30, 2015 and 2014, and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND
EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

EXHIBIT 12

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2015

2014

(dollars are in millions)

Ratios excluding interest on deposits:

Income from CONtINUING OPEIALIONS......cuververreerrertrerierteteeetesteesesteessesseessesseessesssessesssessesssessesssessesssessenns $ 455 § 284
Income tax eXPense (DENETIL).......covuiiiiriiiiiiee ettt ettt st eee b e 285 (86)
Fixed charges:
Interest on:
ShOTt-tEIM DOTTOWINES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt be bbb et naeseens 35 27
LONG-teIT AEDL......cueiiiiiiiiiiiiiicie ettt s b 524 487
OHNETS™ ..o 10 1)
One third of rents, net of income from SublEases ............occviieiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 22 22
Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0n dePOSItS........coceeereriiriiririniirienieieteteteeet e 591 445
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges............ccoceeveiiiniiieninenienene $ 1,331 § 643
Ratio of earnings to fIXed CharZES ........coerieriiiiieieiiie ettt T 225 144
Preferred stock dividends™............coo.oivioooceceeeeee e $ 81 § 90
Fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends ..........ccccocevireninininininiiiicencesese e $ 672 § 535
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends..........cccceceeveeirvinininicncnennnn. T 198 120
Ratios including interest on deposits:
Total fixed charges, excluding interest 0n depoSItS.........cceeereriiriirerenenienieceeieeeeeee e $ 591 § 445
Add: TNLErest 0N AEPOSILS ...euveuveuiiieiieieiieieeiteeet ettt ettt ettt ettt b st sbe st b sbesaenen 177 108
Total fixed charges, including interest 0n dePOSILS.........ceeeireriririererierierieeeeiee et $ 768 $ 553
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges..........c.ccceeevrveninininincncnenenn m § 643
Add: INteTeSt ON AEPOSILS .....euieutieiiitieiierteete ettt ettt ettt ettt et sbe et sbeebesbe e beseeenbeeseeneeens 177 108
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes and fixed charges, including interest on deposits... § 1,508 $ 751
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including interest on deposits .........cceeuevveveieieeninienininenesenenne T 196 136
Fixed charges, including preferred stock dividends ..........ccccocevirerinininicniniiiiiienececsee e §$ 672 $ 535
Add: INteTeSt ON AEPOSILS .....euieutieiiiiieiierte ettt ettt ettt ettt et sbe e sbeebesbe e beseeenbeeseeneeens 177 108
Fixed charges, including interest on deposits and the preferred stock dividend factor..........c..cocceueeeee. $ 849 § 643
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges, including interest on deposits and preferred stock dividends......... 1718 117
0

Preferred stock dividends are grossed up to their pretax equivalents.
2

During the second quarter of 2014, we concluded certain state and local tax audits resulting in the settlement of significant uncertain tax positions covering

a number of years. As a result, we released tax reserves previously maintained in relation to the periods and issues under review. In addition, we released

our accrued interest associated with the tax reserves released which resulted in a $120 million benefit to interest expense in 2014.



EXHIBIT 31

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 2, 2015

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Mark Zaeske, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this report on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 2, 2015

/sl MARK ZAESKE

Mark Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company’) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report™) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: November 2, 2015

/s/ PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Mark Zaeske, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: November 2, 2015

/s/ MARK ZAESKE

Mark Zaeske

Senior Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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